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Haynes'Group Limited

| ‘StrategicA Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

'The directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Principal activities )

The principal activity of the company was acting as a holding company. On the 30 December 2022, the
company acquired the trade, assets and liabilities of its three UK subsidiaries. As such, from the start of
the next trading period the principal activity of the company is acting as a holding company and a suppher
of content, data and workflow solutions to the automotive industry and consumers. _

~ Fair review of the business
" The results for the year are set out on page 12. During the period the company operated as-a holding
company and provided management services to other group companies.

The results of the company for the year show turnover of £3,931,068 (2021: £2,841,238), operating -
. loss after exceptional items of £5,105,007 (2021: operating profit of £2, 349 ,742) and profit before tax
of £3,199,202 (2021: £4,857 806)

The operating loss after exceptional items is being driven by the waiver of a loan wrth J.H. Haynes &
Co. Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, totaling £7,328,135. This is more than offset by an increase in
distributions received from subsidiary compames partly Irnked to the Business Transfers (note 25),
which is benefi ttmg Profit before tax. . . '

- During the prior period, management released-a provision held against ‘an inter-company balance
. relating to historical payments of pension contributions. The release of the provision improved the prror
penod s operating profit by £2,363, 123.

The company’s net asset posrtlon has decreased by £6,306,142 to £11,907,998 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: £18,214,140) as a result of a Flexible Apportionment Arrangement, by which the company
assumed the entire liabilities of the Haynes Group Retirement Benefits Scheme (previously onIy :
accounted for 11.24% of the habllrtles) .

‘Given the strarght forward nature of the company's busmess the directors are of the opinion that
_ analysis using KPI's is not necessary for an understanding of the development, performance or position
of the business. '

Prmcrpal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the executlon of the company's strategy are subject to a number
of risks. Risk taking is inherent for the company in pursuing growth opportunities, whether these are
found in new sectors or markets, through developing new products or through delivering cost savings
and restructuring programmes. There is a chance this could lead to unsuccessful investments or
inadequate changes which could give rise to negative results or loss of key staff. Therefore, the
‘company encourages responsible risk-taking which balances risk and reward within the company’s
strategy. Risk is monitored by senior management within the company, with all hlgher risk projects
periodically reviewed by the board :

The key business risks affecting the company are set out below:
* Financial instruments

Objectives and policies

The company operates as a holding company and the principal risks and uncertainties of the company
are considered to relate to the risks of its main subsidiaries. Frnancral risk management objectives and
policies are momtored at the UK trading group level.
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Haynes Group Limited

Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

Financial instruments (continued)
Price risk, oredit risk, liquidity risk and cash flowfisk

Financial risks

The principal financial risks faced by the company are currency, liquidity and cred|t risks. The company
maintains forelgn currency bank accounts to limit recognised losses on currency exchange rate
movements but also actively seeks to minimise its .exposure to significant movements in foreign

currency exchange rates by matching, as far as possible, the costs of the business agalnst the turnover -

of the business in the same currencies.

There is one UK defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme carries an inherent risk that the funding
position deteriorates leading to increased company contributions which. could adversely impact the
company's ability to invest in the development of new delivery platforms, new product initiatives and to
fund both internal and acquisitive growth. The performance of the pension scheme is monitored on a
regular basis by the company, the trustees and the scheme’s professional advisers. The funding to the
scheme reflects the ongoing investment requirements of the group. In 2015, the scheme was closed
to new entrants and then in 2018, it was closed to future accrual. :

Regulation risk

Changes to regulations around the provision of technical data or the cost of Iloensmg the data could
necessitate changes to the production processes of the Haynes Group or-increase competmon in the -
market.

Risk mitigation

The Haynes Group actively monitors planned and actual changes to regulations in all territories in order
to minimise disruption to the business. Key senior personnel are appointed to Associations and Bodies
that regularly feedback on the drafting of future regulations in our key territories. Senior management
closely monitor the cost of licensing the data to ensure it is calculated in line with the spirit of legislation.

Ability to attract and retain key talent

An inability to retain key individuals, inadequate succession planmng or inability to recruit people with
the right experience and skills could adversely impact the company's results. It could lead to the loss of
knowledge decreased efficiency or a demotivated workforce with increased costs. To mitigate these
issues, the company places great value in the culture, its employees, and their involvement in the
business. The company undertakes performance reviews twice a year ensuring its employees focus on
personal development where desired. The Group also runs several incentive schemes linked to
personal, division and company results that are appropriately designed to retain key individuals.

Intellectual property risk
Along with its employees, the company’s main asset is its intellectual property. The company relies on
intellectual property laws, registered trademarks where approprlate and third-party non-disclosure
agreements to protect its rights. To the extent that the company's products are protected by intellectual
property rights, litigation is sometimes necessary to protect such rights. -
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Haynes Group Limited

Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

Section 172(1) statement

Long term strategy and vision

The company is part of the group headed up by Infopro Digital Group B.V.. Consequently, operational
management ("management”) is delegated to implement the headline strategies and long-term vision
of the company and wider Haynes Group (“the group") and ensuring these are communicated and
aligned across the business. In- setting the long-term strategies and vision- for the business,
management also had regard for the key stakeholder groups and matters outlined below.

Employees

Management place considerable value on the partrcrpatlon and involvement of the group’s employees
and with an employee base spread over five different countries, the Group is committed to employment
practices which support equal opportunities and non- discrimination and which comply with relevant
local legislation and codes of practice. : ‘

The Group involves employees by providing them with information which concerns them, consults with
them, and considers their views when making decisions which affect their interests and generally
discloses matters affecting the group’s performance through company briefings. As an equal
opportunities employer, management understands the importance of diversity throughout the business.
The Group encourages the employment of under-represented groups recognised in the Equallty Act
2010 in line with business requirements.

Management has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s health and safety matters. Each of the group’s
operating entities has its own health and safety committee which meets at regular intervals- and any
incidents, and if appropriate, corrective actions, are reported to management. Employee health and
wellbeing is taken very seriously and consequently the company offers a range of benefits and services
to staff to support their mental and physical health.

Other stakeholders ' '

Customers - the Group recognises that engagement through listening, understandmg and respondmg
to customers is critical to long-term success. The group engage with customers: through regular
meetings, engagement at tradeshows, dedicated account management and customer satisfaction
interviews.

Suppliers - engagement with supply chain partners takes many forms across the group including, but
not limited to, conferences, tradeshows and regular meetings with dedicated relationship managers.
The Group seeks to maintain and develop strong, open, collaborative, and positive relationships with
partners across the supply chain. Management recognises the significance of cashflow and fair and
" prompt payment to supply chain partners and sets policies, procedures, and contract terms accordingly.

Other major stakeholder groups include Pension Trustees of the UK's Retirement Benefit Scheme,
company's insurers, bankers, advisors, auditors, and tax authorities in the territories in which the Group
operate. With all these stakeholder groups, the directors maintain regular, open, and collaborative .
dialogue which they believe is essential to fostering strong relationships and ensuring that all parties
are kept informed and listened to.

Pension Trustees, insurers and banks are provided with regular company updates and are invited to
meetings at least annually to receive updates on current performance, forecasts, and objectives.
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- Haynes Group Limited

Strategic Report for the year ended 31 Dec‘erhber 2022

Section 172(1) statement (continued)

Communities and environment ,
Haynes Group Limited and the wider Haynes Group supports its local communities in various ways
“including local charitable donations and the use of local suppliers. The environment is an important -
" consideration in our purchasing decisions and has resuited in our use of sustainably sourced paper,
energy efficient equipment and hybrid vehicles. .

Reputation
.The Haynes Brand has been built over 60 years and the Group is inherently known for providing
practical and trustworthy advice. The strategic plans considered by the board are designed to ensure
that the Group maintains high standards of business conduct which continue to enhance the brands
reputation.

- The approval of changes to strategies and policies considered most significant in maintaining the
highest standards of business conduct are matters reserved for the board. The board is responsible for
maintaining procedures and policies including but not limited to antl-brlbery and corruptlon policies,
whrstleblowrng modern slavery statement and finance standards

Shareholders :
- As part of the wider Infopro Digital Group, management have a keen interest in understanding ultimate
shareholder objectives and, where feasible, reflect these when developing its long-term strategic plans.

‘The directors consider, both individually and collectively, that in the decisions taken during the financial
year they have satisfied the requirements of s172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 in acting in the way
they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the
benefit of its members, as a whole, and in doing so havmg regard to the stakeholders and matters
outlined in s172(1)

Approved by the Board on 20 Séptembe‘r 2023 and signed,on its'behalf by:

~ MrR Barker
~ Director

Page 5



. Haynes Group Limited

Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report and the audlted fi nancnal statements for- Haynes Group Limited for the
year ended 31 December 2022,

Directors of the company
The directors.who held office during the year and up to the date of srgnrng of the financial statements

were as follows:
. Mr C Czajka
'Mr R Barker
Mr J Bunkum
Mr E' Dolan -

. Directors’ ||ab|I|t|es

The ultimate parent company purchases and maintains insurance for the dnrectors and officers of the .
company when undertaking duties in accordance with section 233 of the Companies Act 2006.

Information mcluded in the Strategic Report
Due to its strategi¢ nature, the directors have included mformatlon on the principle risks and
uncertainties of the company wnthrn the strategic report.

Engagement with employees ' : .

During the year, the policy of providing employees with mformatlon about the company and wider group
-has been continued, despite the impacts of Covid-19, through regular online meetings, email circulars,
and face to face meetings where government guidance has permitted. The company also continues to
"operate an open-door policy where staff can approach senior management with suggestions, questions
and concerns as and when they deem necessary. -

Engagement with suppliers, customers, and other relationships . :

The company and wider Haynes group has continued to foster relationships with both customers and
suppliers, using regular meetings and updates to prowde mformatlon on any major decisions that would
impact them.

.Emissions and energy consumption :
- The company qualifies as a low energy user since it does not consume more than 40,000 kWh of energy
in the year and accordingly is exempt from reporting under these regulations. '

Future developments

The acquisition of the Haynes group on 3 April 2020 represents an opportunity for the Infopro Digital

group to become a leading global information services provider in the automotive industry by combining

its ownautomotive division with that of the Haynes group, leveraging both companies’ datasets, -
customer bases and existing international operations. The combination of the two groups has created

a compelling product portfolio in the market for their own respective partners and customers seeking

international software, data, and insight solutions. . 4

Going concern :

The directors have reviewed prOJectlons and budgets for the next twelve months and have reviewed
- supply chains, key customers, and the capital resources available to it including those from its trading

subsidiaries. Accordingly, the directors have prepared the annual report and financial statements ona

going concern basis.
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Haynes ,,G:ro'up Limited .‘ |

Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

Post balance sheet events
On 17 May 2023 the Directors of the company approved the payment of an interim dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023 totaling £1,107,450 based on £221 49 per ‘A’ Ordinary share.

Disclosure of information to the auditors.

Each director has taken steps that they ought to have taken as a director in ‘order to make themselves
- aware of any relevant audit information-and to establish that the company’s auditors-are aware of that
information. The directors confirm that there |s no relevant mformatlon that they know of and of which
they know the auditors are unaware.

Reappomtment of mdependent auditors
The auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are deemed to be reappomted under sectlon 487(2) of the
Companies Act 2006. ,

The financial statements on pages 12 to 36 were approved by the Board of- Dlrectors on 20 September
2023 and signed on its behalf by: ‘

Mr R Barker
' Director.
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Haynes Group Limited

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the financial
statements :

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in.
accordance with applicable law and regulatuon

Company law requires the dnrectors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. ‘Underthat -
law the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United . Kingdom-,
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS

102 “The Financial Reportmg Standard appllcable in the UK and Republlc of Ireland’, and applicable

law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that -
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

o state whether applicable United Kingdom Aceounting‘Stan'dards, combrising FRS 102 have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and :
e prepare the financial statements on the going concern bas:s unless it is mappropnate to presume -
that the company will contlnue in busmess

. The directors are responsible for safeguardlng the assets of the companyl and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other |rregulant|es

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at.any time the
financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with
the Compames Act 2006 : :
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Haynes Group Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Haynes Group lelted S fnancnal statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (Umted
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companles Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual
Report"), which comprise: the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022; the Profit and Loss Account, the Statement of
_ Comprehensive Income and Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the ﬁnancnal
statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

'Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)" ) and applicable law.
Our respons1bllmes under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the aud|t evidence we have obtained is suffi c1ent and appropriate to
prowde a basis for our opinion.

Independence A

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit

of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
" responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. ’

~ Conclusions relating to going concern
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions

that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company'’s ability to continue as a going concern for
a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the
company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are descnbed in the relevant
sections of this report. :

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements’
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opmlon or, except to the extent
otherwise exphcmy stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency
or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement
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of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. -

With respect to the Strateglc report and Directors' Repon we also considered whether the drsclosures required by the
UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain
opinions and matters as described below. ' .

Sirategic report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report
and Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been

-prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report.

Respensibiliti_es for the financial statements and the audit .

Responsrbllmes of the directors for the fmancral statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control
as they determine is’ necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from’ material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to Ilqmdate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
altematrve but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the fmancnal statements

Our objectives are to obtain.reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our -opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not-a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with

ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulatiohs. We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with
laws and regulations related to UK taxation legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might
have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct
impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management's incentives and
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and,
determined that the principal risks were related to fraudulent transactions to overstate the performance or cash posiiion
of the company which are included within the parent company's consolidated financial statements. Audit procedures
perforrhed by the engagement team included:

Holding discussions with management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance -
with laws and regulations or fraud;
Reviewing Board minutes and reports that set out the company's compliance matters;

" Identifying and testing journal entries that are considered to exhibit higher fraud risks.
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There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the
Tirancial statements. Also, the fisk of fot detecting a imaterial risstatement due to faud is higher than the risk of ot
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional

Thisrepresentations, of through collision.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:

wWww.Treorg uk/auditorsiesponsibilities. This description forms-part of our auditors’ repoit.

Use of this report . _

- This“report; ‘finduding"the*-'opini_ons; ‘has been prepared: for ‘and “only: forf‘th'e’r‘-‘_eor'npany'sf':-membie‘rs‘- ‘as ‘a -body in’
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and-for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these.
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown
of ifto whose hands it-may- come save where expressly agreed by our prior eohsent in writing.

- Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are réquired 16 réport to you if-in our op‘inidn:

we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been
‘teceived from branches not visited by us; or

certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have ho exceptions to repott-atising from this responsibility.

Colin Bates (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chaitered Accountants and - Statutory Auditors
Bristol

- - 20 September 2023
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H'aynes Group Limited

Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 December 2022

Turnover

- Cost of sales - -
Gross profit
‘Administrative expenses -
‘Exceptional items ‘
Operating (loss) / profit .

' Income from shares:in group undertakings
Other intérést receivable and sir'nilar‘income-
Interest payable and similar expe.nses'

Profit before tax

Tax on profit

Profit for the financial year

Year ended

- 31 December 2022

. -~ Year ended
31 December 2021

‘Note £ £
3 3,931,068 2,841,238
(363,338) ' (275,326)

3,567,736 . 2,565,912

(1,175,208) (970,815)

4 (7.497,529) 754,645
5 (5,105,007) 2,349,742
. 8,338,622 2‘,_546,751 

6 75,065 . 49,322
7 (109,478), (88,009)
3,199,202 4,857,806

11 (68,783) (65,538)
4,792,268

3,130,419

-, The above resuits were derived from continuing operations.

, | The notes on pages 16 to 36 form

an integral part of th

Page 12
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Haynes Group Limited

| ~ Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 Decemb’er‘202'2.

" Year ended Year ended

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Profitfor the year . =~ . . 3130419 4,792,268
Actuarial gain on retirement benefit obtigation : : 127,012 624,944 :
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligation ‘ o ' - (31,753) (156,236)
Deferred tax arising on change in tax rate ) - 1751119
| _ ‘ 95,259 643,827
Total comprehensive income forfhe'year. o 3,225,678 - - . 5,436,095

The notes on pages 16 to 36 form an integral part of these ﬂnéncial statements.
' ‘ . Page 13 - . :



Haynes Group Limited

(Registration number: 00659701)

: Balahce Sheet aé at 31 December 2022

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets. -
Investments

Current assets

. Stock

Debtors .
Cash at bank and in hand

.Creditors: ‘A_mo'u'nts falling due within one year -

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
Net pension liability

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

Total equity

Note

12

13
14

15.

16
17

18

19

20

21

2022 2021
g £
5,360,881 498,687
52,622 3874
© 6,235.794 8,930,047
| 11,649,207 9432608
890,768 ;
10,949,737 9,101,240 -
9.254,905 . 2.381,233
21,095,410 11,482,473
(5,602,709) (653,370)°
15,492,701 10,829,103
27,141,998 20,261,711
(15,234,000) (2,047,571) -
11,907,998 18.214.140
1,000 13,270,308
~ - 6,816,589
11,906,998 8,127,243
11,907,998 18,214,140

Approved and authorised by the Board on 20 September 202_3 and signed on its behalif by: :

B |

Mr R Barker
Director

The notes on pages 16 to 36 form

an integral part of these financial statements.
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'Haynes Group Limited - |

Statement of Changes ih Equity for the year endéd 31 Decembér 2022

‘At 1 January 2022
. Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
‘Total comprehensive income
Capital reduction '

Dividends

Merger debit attributable to
write down of investments
" hived up

At:31 December 2022

e

Total

1,000

Share Share Profit and
capital - premium loss
. : _ account
£ £ £ £
A 3,270,308 6,816,589 8,127,243 - 18,2_14,140 _
- - 3130419 3,130,419
- - - 95259 95,259
) - - 3,225,678 3,225,678
(3,269,308) (6,816,589) 10,085,897 o -
- - (2,171,112) (2,171,112)
- - (7,360,708) (7.360,708)
- 11,906,998 11,907,998

Statement of Changes in Equity for the‘year ended 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021

Profit for the year

Other comprehensi\)e income
Tdtal combrehensive income
Dividends

At 31 December 2021

The notes on pages 16 to 36 form an integral part of these financia
Page 15

Share

~ Profit and

Share Total
capital premium loss :
account .

£ £ £ >
3,270,308 . " 6,816,589 5,225,637 15,312,534
- - 4,792,268 - 4,792,268

. - 643,827 643,827

- - . 5,436,095 5,436,095

- - (2,534,489) © (2,534,489)
3,270,308 6,816,589 18,214,140

8,127,243
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Haynes Group Litnited

- Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

. 1 General information

The financial statements are reported under Financial Reportmg Standard 102 The key pollcnes are
discussed in note 2..

‘The company is a private company limited by share capltal mcorporated in England and Wales.

The address of its reglstered offlce is:
Sparkford

Yeovil

Somerset

BA22 7JJ

2 Accounting policies -

Statement of compliance . :
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Fmanmal Reporting Standard 102 - 'The
Flnanmal Reporting Standard appllcable in the UK and Republlc of Ireland' and the Companles Act 2006.-

Basus of preparatlon : : :
These financial statements have been prepared using the.historical cost convention except that as
disclosed in the accounting policies certain items are shown at fair value. ‘

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the cornpany and
rounded to the nearest £. .

-Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been cons:stently applied to aII the periods presented unless otherwise
stated. .

Name of parent of group
These financial statements are consolidated in the financial statements of Infopro Digital Group B.V..

The financial statements of Infopro Digital Group B.V.-may be obtained from Schiphol Boulevard 441,
Schiphol, 118BK, Netherlands._ .

Going concern

The directors have reviewed prolectlons and budgets for the next twelve months and have reviewed
supply chains, key customers, and the capital resources available to it including those from its trading
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the directors have prepared the annual report and financial statements on a
going ‘concern basis.

Exemptlon from preparing group flnanclal statements -
_ The financial statements contain information about Haynes Group Limited as an individual company
and do not contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group.

The company is exempt under section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare
consolidated financial statements as it and its subsidiary undertakings are included by full consolidation
in the consolidated financial statements of its parent, Infopro Digital B.V., a company mcorporated in
the Netherlands.
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Haynes Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

2 Accduhting policies (continuéd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Impairment of property, plant, and equipment

Where there is an indication that the carrying value of items of property, plant and equipment may have -
been impaired through events or changes in circumstances during the year, a review will be undertaken
of the recoverable amount of that asset based on value in use calculations which will involve estimates
and assumptions to be made by management. Further details are contained in note 13 of the Financial
Statements. .

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits.

In determining the pension cost and the defined benefit obligation of the entity's defined benefit pension
schemes, a number of assumptions are used. These assumptions include an appropriate discount rate,
the levels of salary escalation, price inflation, mortality rates and an estimate for the .impact of
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) equahsatlon Further details are contained in note 19 to the
Flnanmal Statements.

Deferred tax

The tax charge'is based on the profit for the year and tax rates effective as at the balance sheet date.
The recognition of deferred tax assets is dependent upon an estimation of future taxable profits that will
be available. In the event that actual taxable profits are different, such differences may have an impact
on the carrying value of deferred tax assets in future years. Further details are provided in note 11.

Revenue recognition

"~ Turnover comprises the fair value of the consnderatlon recelved or receivable for the sale of goods and

: provision of services in the ordinary course of the company's activities. Turnover is shown net of
" - sales/value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts. - .

The company recognises revenue when:

- the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and
- specific criteria have been met for each of the company's- activities

Exceptional |tems

Exceptional items are items of income and expense, WhICh due to the nature, size and infrequency of
the events giving rise to them, deserve separate presentation. These specific items are presented on
~ the face of the profit and loss account to provide greater clarity and increased understanding of the
impact these items. have on the companys financial performance. Subsequently, it also facilitates
‘greater comparison of the company s -underlying results with prior periods.

Foreign currency transactions and balances :

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded atthe functional currency rate prevailing at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated into the respective functional currency of the entity at the rates prevailing on the reporting
period date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rate on the date when the fair value is re-measured. .

Non-monetary items measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Haynes Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for th.e year ended 31 December 2022

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Tax )
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except that a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other comprehensive
income is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the. reporting date in the countries where the company operates and
generates taxable income.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of. all timing differences between taxable profuts and proflts
reported in the financial statements. .

Unrelieved tax Iosses and other deferred tax assets are recognlsed when it is probable that they wnII
be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable prof its.

Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
- by the reporting date and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

Goodwill .
Goodwill arrsrng on the acquisition of an entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
company's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the entity recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is held in the currency of the acquired entity and revalued to the closing rate at each-reporting
period date. Goodwill is amortised over its useful life, which shaII not exceed ten years'if a reliable
estimate of the useful life cannot be made. :

: Intanglble assets

Global website assets are recognised separately asan intangible asset Expendrture is only capitalised
if costs can’ be measured reliably, if the product is technically and commercially feasible, if future
economic benefits are probable and if the company has sufficient resources to complete development
and use the asset. Global website assets costs are expensed to the profit and loss account on a straight-
line basis for a maximum period of no more than 3 years.

Amortisation : :
Amortisation commences once the development has been completed and the asset becomes revenue
generating. Development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis so that it is expenses to the
profit and loss account over its useful life as follows:

Asset class ‘ ' . , . Amortisation method and rate
Global website assets ' : Maximum of 3 years

_Product development - Maximum of 5 years

Goodwill o o 10 years straight line

Customer lists - : ' , 10 years straight line
Know-how - I .~ 10 years straight line

Internally generated website costs are not treated as reallsed losses as prescribed by the Companres
Act 2006 s 844 on the grounds that the directors believe they are a resource controlled by the company
that both creates and drives operational value and generates cash flows over the long term. The product
development costs are carried forward over a period of more than one year in accordance with
applicable accounting standards
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Haynes Grou‘p Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Investments
Investments in equity shares which are not publicly traded and where fair value cannot be measured
rehably are measured at cost less impairment. :

Dividends on equity secuntles are recognised when receivable.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. .

The.cost of tangible assets includes directly attributable incremental costs incurred in their acquisition
and installation.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than land and proper’ues under
construction over their estimated useful lives, as follows

Asset class . Depreciation method and rate .
Leasehold improvements 5 years straight line

Plant and equipment - 2-10 years straight line

Furmture fittings and equvpment _— 3-5 years straight line -

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling prlce Iess costs to complete and seII Cost |
is determined using the weighted average cost method. :

The cost of finished goods comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and
" those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. At each reporting date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If stocks are impaired, the -
carrying amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell; the impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an |nS|gn|f|cant
risk of change in value

Trade debtors : 4
Trade debtors are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business.

Trade debtors are recognised -initially at the transaction price. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for the
impairment of trade debtors is established when there is objective evidence that the company will not
be able to oollect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. :

Trade creditors :

Trade creditors are obllgatlons to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if the company -
does not have an unconditional right, at the end of the reporting period, to defer settlement of the creditor
for at least twelve months after the reporting date. If there is an unconditional right to defer settiement
for at least twelve . months after the reporting date, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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Haynes Group Limited

" Notes to the Financial Stateménts fbr the year ended 31 December 2022

2 Accountrng policies (contmued)

Trade creditors are recognised initially at the transactron price and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Leases :
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the -
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. : .

Assets held under finance leases are recognised at the lower of their fair value at inception of the lease
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. These assets.are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obhgatron .

Lease payments are splrt between finance costs in the profit and loss -account and reduction of the
lease obligation to achieve.a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of .the liability.

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. :

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash
or other resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If
payment is deferred .and the time value of money is materlal the initial measurement is on a present
value basis.

Dividends
Dividend distribution to the companys shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial
“statements in the reporting period in which the dividends are declared.

" Defined contribution pension obligation

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which fixed contributions are paid into a pension

. fund and the company has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions even if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefrts relating to employee service in -
the current and prior periods.

 “Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as employee behefit expense when they' are -
due. If contribution payments exceed the contribution due for service, the excess is recognised as a
prepayment. '

Defined benefit pension obligation
Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on
retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date minus the fair value of plan assets. The
defined benefit obligation is measured using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future payments by reference to
market yields at the reporting date on high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the
‘related pension liability.

Actuarial gams and losses are charged or credited to other comprehensrve income in the period in
which they arise.
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Haynes Group Limited

Notes to the Financial S'tate‘ments for the year ended 31 December 2022

. 2 Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Classification

In accordance with sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102, the financial assets and financial habllltles are
recognised on the balance sheet when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. Financial assets, which include trade debtors and cash and cash equwalents are
treated as loans and receivables, and carned at amortised cost. .

Recognition and measurement

Trade debtors

Trade debtors are recorded at original invoice amount less an allowance for estlmated irrecoverable
- amounts. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence
that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. The amount of the provision is recognised in the balance sheet and the cost of
irrecoverable trade receivables is recognised in the profit and loss account immediately.

Bank borrowings : :
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at fair value and carried at amortlsed
cost. : .

Trade credltors :
Trade creditors are not interest bearing and are recogmsed and carned at the original invoice amount.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires the company to make -certain estimates and
assumptions that have an impact on the application of the policies and the amounts reported in the
financial statements. Estimates and judgements are evaluated based ‘on historical experiences and
expected outcomes and are believed to be reasonable at the time such estimates and judgements are .
made, although actual experience may vary from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions which
have the most significant bearing on the carrying value of assets or liabilities are explained below:

i) Pensions and other post-retlrement benefits

In determining the pension cost and the defined benefit obllgatlon of the company’s defined benefit
pension scheme, a number of assumptions are used. These assumptions mclude an appropriate discount
rate, the levels of salary escalation, prlce inflation, and mortality rates.

i) Stock provisions
The company reviews its finished goods-on a regular basus and, where appropriate, makes provision for
. slow moving and obsolete stock based on estimates of future sales activity. The estimates of future sales
* activity will be based on both historical experience and expected outcomes based on knowledge of the
markets in which the company operates. :

iii) Onglnatlon amortisation

The cost of editorially originating a new tltle is expensed to the profit and loss account over a penod which
management are confident the title will remain in publication. In all cases, this period is deemed not to
exceed 5 years. The assessment of future sales activity is based upon estimates from management using
both historical experience and expected outcomes based on knowledge of the markets in which the
company operates.
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Haynes Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 :

2 Accounting policies (continued)

iv) Product development costs

. The capitalisation and subsequent amortisation of development costs requires management to make
_certain judgements regarding the future commercial viability of the development activity and the
businesses ability to devote the appropriate level of resources to complete the development prOJect and

sell or use the asset. .

v) Deferred tax

The recognition of deferred tax assets is dependent upon an estimation of future taxable proflts that will

be available. In the event that actual taxable profits are different, such d|fferences may have an impact

on the carrying value of deferred tax assets in future years.

3 Turnover

The analy5|s of the company's turnover for the year from contmumg operations is as follows:

Rendering of services

£

The analysus of the company s turnover for the year by market is as follows:

UK
Europe
Rest of world

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December - -

2022 2021

£ £ .

3,931,068 12,841,238 °
Year ended . Year ended

31 December 31 December
2022 2021

£ £
819,618 . 1,000

1,912,414 1,818,518 .
1,199,036 1,021,720
3,931,068 2,841,238
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Haynes Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements fo‘r the year ended 3i Decembef 2022

4 Exceptional items

Year ended

Year ended

31 December .31 December -
2022 . 2021
£ £
Restructu ring costs - 74,788
Profit on dxsposal of land and bqumgs - (829,433)
Business transfer — hive up of trade and assets 169,394 ' -
Waiver of mtercompany 7,328,135 -
‘ 7,497,529 (754,645)

During the year as partvdf an internal group obtimisation project, Haynes Group Limited acquired the entire
trade, assets and liabilities of its three UK subsidiaries; OATS Limited, HaynesPro (UK) Ltd and J.H. Haynes
& Co. Limited. The company incurred costs of £169,394 in relation to these business transfers. :

On 30 December 2022, the company signed a deed of waiver, on an inter-company debt, in favour of its
wholly owned subsidiary, J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited. The debt related entirely to past deficit pensnon

contributions that the company had funded on behalf of J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited.

On 3 Apnl 2020, the entire share capital of Haynes Group lelted was acquwed by the Infopro Digital Group.
Leading on from the acquisition, the company undertook an operahonal restructunng programme which

resulted in costs of £74,788 in the year to 31 December 2021.

During the prior year, the company sold its land ‘and bwldmgs with a carrying value of £1,687,612 for
proceeds of £2,517,045. This resulted in a profit on disposal of £829,433.

5 Operating (loss) / profit

Arrived at after charging:

Depreciation expense

Amortisation expense

6 Other interest receivable and similar income

Interest receivable
Other finance income (note 19)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December .

2022 2021

£ £

2164 48,970,
363,339 275,326 .

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

- 2022 2021

£ S

2,005 203

73,060 49,119
75,065 49,322
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Haynes Group Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

" 7 Interest payable and similar expenses

Year ended " Year ended

31 December - 31 December
2022 2021
- £ T
Other finance costs (note 19) N ' S 109,478 - E 88,009

8 Staff costs ‘ _
The aggregate payroll costs (including directors' remuneratibn) were as follows: A
' ' " Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December’

2022 s _ 2021

: £ £

Wages and salaries S . 694,360 477,905
Social security costs - o 92,979 60,764
'Other pension costs T . o . 12,434 A 27,029

799,773 565,698

'The monthly average number of persons employed by the company (mcludlng d|rectors) during the
period, analysed by category, was as follows:

Year e-nded Year ended

31 December - 31 December
2022 : 2021
No. . No.
Administration and support - ' , 4 5
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‘._Ha‘ynes Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

N

9 Directors' remuneration
‘The directors' remuneration for the year was as follows:

Year ended . Year ended

31 December . 31 December

2022 2021

£ £

Remuneration ' . 500,942 - 396,867
Con_tributi’ons‘ paid to money purchase schemes - - - 20,625
' ' 500,942 417,492

During the year, 2 (2021: 2) of the company directors were remunerated by a parent compény,

During the year, the number of directors who were receiving benefits an‘d share incentives was as

follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
- 2022 2021
_No.- "No.
Accruing be‘ne_:fitsAunder money purchase pension scheme _ 1
In respect of the highest' paid diréctor:
‘Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£ £
" Remuneration 275,9:;2 228,825
10 Auditors' remuneration -
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£ £
Audit of the financial statements 66,640 35,715
Other fees to auditors: '

© 21,815

" All other assurance services - ' - 4,000
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‘Haynes Group Limited .

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

11 Tax on profit .
Tax charged/(credlted) in the income statement

Year-ended Year ended

- 31 December .31 December

' - 2022 2021

A £ ' £
Deferred taxation ,

Arising from origination and reversal of timing differences 68,783 507,968

Arising from changes in tax rates and laws ' - (442,430)
Total deferred taxation 68,783

65,538 -

The tax on proﬁt before tax for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (2021
- lower than the standard rate of corporatiqn tax in the UK) of 19% (2021 - 19%).

The differences are reconciled below:

Year endedA Year ended -
31 December 31 December -
© 2022 2021
. £ £
Profit before tax 3,199,202 . 4,857,806
Corporation tax at standard rate - 607,848 922,983
Expense not deductible for tax purposes 1,401,466 -
Income not taxable for tax purposes (1,584,340) (23,758)
UK deferred tax credit relating to changes in tax rates or Iaws 24,849 (351,168)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (48,226) (25,660)
Taxtncrease/(decrease) arising from group relief. (332,814) 27,024
. Tax decrease from effect of dividends from UK companies - (483,883)
Total tax charge 68,783 65,538
| Deferred tax assets :
. ' 2022 2021
£ £
Accelerated capital allowances 3,208 15,704
Short term temporary differences 1,720,560° 1,414,423
Employee benefits -3,808,500 511,870
5,632,268 © 1,941,997

On 30th December 2022, as part of an internal group optimisation project, Haynes Group Limited acquired
the entire trade, assets and liabilities of its three UK subsidiaries; OATS Limited; HaynesPro (UK) Ltd and
J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited. As part of the transfer, deferred tax assets with a net book value of £310,383
were acquired (note 25) . .
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Haynes Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

11 Tax on profit (contlnued)

On 30 December- 2022, the company entered into a flexible apportionment arrangement (FAA) with the
Trustees of the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme and J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited, a participating employer
. inthe scheme. The FAA enabled to J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited to cease to participate in and be dis-charged
from all liabilities under the scheme as a participating employer with Haynes Group Limited, as sponsoring
- employer, undertaking the entire liability of the scheme from the date of the FAA. As part of the FAA,
deferred tax assets with a net book value of £3,380,425 were recognised by Haynes Group Limited.

~ A change to the main UK corporation tax rate was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. The rate
applicable from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023 remains at 19% but the rate from 1 April 2023 will increase
to 25%. Deferred taxes at the reporting date have been measured using these enacted tax rates and
reflected in these financial statements. - :

12 Intangible assets

Global - Product _ Customer " Know-

Website Development Goodwill Lists how o Total
. £ £ : £ . £ R 3 £.
Cost or valuation . ) .
At 1 January 2022 2,230,163 - . - - - 2,230,163
Additions } 537,800 . - - - - 537,800
Business Transfer . - 19,687,991 264,050 1,265,000 3,406,000 24,623,041
At 31 December 2022  2,767,963- 19,687,991 264,050 " 1,265,000 3,406,000 27,391,004

Accumulated Amortisation

At 1 January 2022 1,731,476 - L. - - 1,731,476
Amortisation charge 363,339 oo- - - C . : 363,339
Business Transfer - © 17,344,404 138,626 . 664,128 1,788,150 19,935,308
At 31 December 2022 2,094,815 A 17,344,404 © 138,626 664,128 ‘ 1,788,150 22,030,123

Carrying Amount ) .
At 31 December 2022 673,148 _ 2,343,587 125,424 600,872 1,617,850 - 5,360,881

At 31 December 2021 498,687 ' - T - - 498,687

Internally generated website costs are not treated as realised losses as prescribed by the Companies Act
2006 s 844 on the grounds that the directors believe they are a resource controlled by the company that
both creates and drives operational value and generates cash flows over the long term. The product
development costs are carried forward over a period of more than one year in accordance with applncable
accounting standards. . .

Amortisation is included within administrative expensés.
On 30th December 2022, as part of an internal group optimisation project, Haynes Group Limited acquired
the entire trade, assets and liabilities of its three UK subsidiaries; OATS Limited, HaynesPro (UK) Ltd and

J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited. As part of the transfer intangible assets with a net book value of £4,687,733
were acquired (note 25).
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| Haynes Group Limited

: Notes:'to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 Decérhber 2022
13 Tangible assets

Leasehold " Plant and Fixtures and

improvements equipment : fittingz : Total
L £
Cost or valuation : ‘ :
At 1 January 2022 - ‘ - 17,414 . 17,414
Additions - B - 1,330 - 1,330
Business Transfer 86,899 562,998 - . 649,897 .
At 31 December 2022 - 86,899 © 562,998 18,744 . . 668,641
Accumulated
dgpreciation - ) ,
At 1 January 2022 . - : B _ 13,540 - 13,540
Charge for the year : - .- - . 2,164 2,164
Business Transfer 86,899 .. 513,416 - - 600,315
At 31 December 2022 “ 86,899 513416 - . 15704 616,019
Carrying Amount . o o .
At 31 December 2022 : ‘ - - 149,582 ' 3,040 . 52,622

At 31 December 2021 . - - 3,874 3,874

On 30th December 2022, as part ofan internal group optimisation project, Haynes Group Limited acquired
the entire trade, assets and liabilities of its three UK subsidiaries; OATS Limited, HaynesPro (UK) Ltd and
-J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited. As part of the transfer tanglble assets with a net book value of £49, 582 were

. acquured (note 25).

14 lnvestments '

Jotal
£
Cost § _ , |
At 1 January 2022 : - . © 8,930,047
Reductions due to business transfers {note 25) . (2,694,353)
Additions p ‘ - 100
At 31 December 2022 B ) ‘ C 6,235,794
Carrying amount : :
At 31 December 2022 - | o - R 6,235,794
At 31 December 2021 o ‘ : 8,930,047

3

.On 30th December 2022, as part of an internal group optimisation project, Haynes Group Limited acquired
the entire trade, assets and liabilities of its three UK subsidiaries; OATS Limited, HaynesPro (UK) Ltd and
J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited. As part of the business transfers the investment in OATS Limited was reduced
from £1,845,000 to £1 and the investment in J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited was reduced from £849,454 to
£100. On 15 December 2022, the company acquired the ‘entire share capital of HaynesPro (UK) Ltd from

_its wholly owned subsidiary HaynesPro Holding B. V
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~ Haynes Group Limited

14 Investments (continued)

Details of undertakings

Details of the investments (including principal place of business of unincorporated entities) in which the

.company holds 20% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital are as follows:

"~ Undertaking
J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited

. Haynes North Am'erica Inc.

' Haynes

Australia Pty
Limited .

HaynesPro Holding B.V.

- HaynesPro B.V.
HaynesPro (UK) Ltd
HaynesPro Data srl
OATS Limited

Subsidiary undertakings

" J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited

Registered Ofﬁce

Sparkford, Somerset, BA22 7JJ

UK

~ 859 Lawrerice Drive, Newbury

Park, CA 91320, USA

USA '
Suite 2, 6 The Crescent,
Kingsgrove, NSW, Australia

E Australia

Flankement 6, 3831 SM, Leusden
The Netherlands

Flankement 6, 3831 SM, Leusden
. The Netherlands

Sparkford, Somerset, BA22 7JJ
UK '
str, Ritoride Nr.5, Sector 5, cod

" postal 050204, Bucuresti

Romania
Sparkford, Somerset, BA22 7JJ
UK. '

Holding

Ordinary

Ordinary

, Ordinar'y

Ordinary

. Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Proportion of voting
rights and shares held |

2022
100%

- 100%

100% -

100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

The principal activity of J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited is prowdlng automotlve data.

Haynes North Amenca Inc.

The principal activity of Haynes North America Inc..is providing automotlve data

Haynes Australia Pty L/mlted
The principal activity of Haynes Australia. Pty Limited is providing automotive data

HaynesPro Holding B. V.

The principal activity of HaynesPro Holding B.V. is that of a holdlng company.

HaynesPro B.V.

The principal actnvuty of HaynesPro B.V.is prowdlng automotive data.
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Haynes Grdup Limited

Notes to the Fi‘nancial Statements for the year ended 31 _D'et;ember 2022

14 Investments (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings

-~

HaynesPro (UK) Ltd
" The prmmpal activity of HaynesPro (UK) Ltd is provxdmg automotive data.

" HaynesPro Data sri
The prmmpal activity of HaynesPro Data er |s provvdmg automotlve data.

OA TS Limited . :
The pr|n<:|pal activity of OATS Limited is prowdlng Iubrlcant data.

15 Stocks S
' 2022 2021
Finished goods and gépds for resale ' ' 890,768 -
" 16 Debtors
2022 . 2021
. _— £ . £
, » - _ Note
Trade Debtors ' : ‘ 2,915,265 -
Amounts owed by group undertakmgs . 2,104,369 7,062,907
Other debtors . ' : 231,234 - 43,235
- Deferred tax assets 11 5,532,268 1,941,997
'Prepayments and accrued income ' : : __166,601 53,101
o , , 10949737 9,101,240
Less amounts falling due after more than one year- =~ ‘ (5,632,268) (1,941,997)
: ‘ : o 5,417,469 7,159,243

_ Details of trade and other debtors falling due after more than one year
£5;53_2,268 (2021, - £1,941,997) of deferred tax assets is classified as non-current.

Amounts owed by group undertaklngs relate to tradlng balances and no interest is due and the
amounts are repayable on demand. :

17 Cash at bank and in hand

2022 2021

£ £
Cash at bank , ' : 9,254,905 . 2,381,233
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18 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2022 ' 2021

. , £ R

Trade creditors . o : R 468,125 129,736
Amounts owed to group undertakings © ‘ , 733,522 6,061
‘Taxation and social security ~ . . 691,619 4,015
Other creditors : . 808,541 - -

~ Accruals and deferred income . o 2,900,902 513,558,

5,602,709 653,370

Amounts owed by group undertaklngs relate to tradmg balances and no rnterest is due and the
amounts are repayable on demand

19 Net pension liability

; Defined contribution pension scheme

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. ‘The pension cost charge for the year
represents contributions payable by the company to the scheme and amounted to £75,817 (2021 -
£42,198).

Defined benefit pension scheme '

Haynes Group Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme (the Scheme) -

"The retirement benefit obligation recorded in the balance sheet represents the share of the net liabilities

relating to the current or past employees of the company who are either deferred or retired members of =

the UK Scheme. On 30 June 2015, the UK Scheme was closed to new entrants. On 30 November 2018,

- the UK Scheme was closed to future accrual.

The assets of all the schemes are held independently of the company. The share of the pension costs
relating to the retirement benefit obligation for the company, as shown in the balance sheet at the year
_end date and as charged through the profit and loss account in the year are analysed below A

The date’ of the most recent comprehensive actuarlal valuation was 30 June 2020, which has been
updated by the actuary at the end of the period.

Flexible-apportionment arrangement

‘On 30 December 2022, the comp‘any entered into a fiexible apportionment arrangement (FAA) with the
Trustees of the scheme and J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited, a participating employer in the scheme.

The FAA enabled to J.H. Haynes & Co. Limited to cease to participate in and be dis-charged from all
* liabilities under the scheme as a participating -employer with Haynes Group Limited, as sponsorlng
employer, undertakmg the entrre Inablllty of the scheme from the date of the FAA.

4 ’Plans that share risks between entities under common control

' Dunng the prior year, the. company shared rlsks between |tself and its subsidiary company J.H. Haynes«
& Co. Limited.

"~ The scheme Was split between the company and its subsidiary company based on the liabilities.
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a The scheme was apportioned 11.24% to the company and 88.76% to the subsidiary company.

19 Net pension Iiability (continued)

Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and liabilities recognised

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

Fair value of scheme assets
Present value of defined benefit obligation - ‘

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit

Deflned beneflt obllgatlon

Changes in the defmed benefit obllgatlon are as follows:

Present value at start of year
Liabilities undertaken from FAA .
Interest cost (note 7)

Actuarial gains.

Benefits paid

© Present.value at end of year

Fair value of scheme assets

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

Fair value atstart of year
Assets acquired-from FAA
Interest income (note 6)
Actuarial losses .
Employer contributions
Benefits paid

Fair value at end of year

Page 32

2022
£

18,687,000

2021
£

13,792,172
(5,839,743)

~ (33,921,000)
(15,234,000)

(2,047,571)

2022

5,839,743
30,108,279
109,478
(1,992,514)

" (143,986)
"33,921,000

2022 -

3,792,172

" 16,586,559

73,060
(1,865,502)
244,695

(143,984) -
18,687,000 -
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19 Net pension liability (continued)

Analysis of assets ,
The major categories of scheme assets are as follows: o ,
i 2022 2021

£ £
Cashand cashequivalents - 5304000 353,161
Equity instruments o - - 551,772
Debt instruments ’ . A - - 7,577,000 864,468
Property _ ' g - - 572,116
Derivatives : 4,868,000 1,302,848
Investment funds : S : ' 938,000°. . 147,807
| 18,687,000 . 3,792,172

Return on scheme assets N
2022 2021
' £ £
Return on scheme assets I . 73080 0 . 49,119

The pension scheme has not invested in any of the company's own financial instruments or in
properties or other assets used by the company. N

Principal actuarial assumptions ' ‘
The principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date are as follows:

2022 2021

% %

Discount rate o o 490 190
Future salary increases - ‘ S : ! 2.80 - 265

- Inflation : ~ ' ' 3.20 315
Post retirement mortality assumptions . ‘ _ 2022 2021

: ' Years - Years
Current UK pensioners at retirement age - male - ' o 21.8 218
Current UK pensioners at retirement age - female o 240 - 239
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20 Called up share capital

»Allotted_; called up and fully paid shares

2022 : 2021 .

No. , £4 “No. . £

‘A' Ordinary shares of £0.20 each - 5,000 ' 1,000 .9,000,000 1,800,000
Ordinary shares of £0.20 each : C- - 7,351,540 1,470,308

5,000 1,000 16,351,540 3,270,308

On 15 December 2022, the issued share capital of the company was reduced by cancelling 8,995,000
of the 9,000,000 issued ‘A’ Ordinary shares and all of the 7,351,540 issued ordinary shares. The share

- premium account of the company was also reduced in full, from £6,816,589 to £Nil.

" Rights, preferences and restrictions
In relation to the prior year, 'A' Ordinary and ordlnary have the following nghts preferences and
restrictions:
Both the ‘A’ ordinary shares and the ordlnary shares carry equal votmg rights of one vote per share
where a matter is decided other than on a show of hands. Both classes of share rank ‘pari passu’
(including any distribution by way of dividend and on -a return of capital), save that a transfer of ‘A’
ordinary shares will not be permitted by the directors other than to a member of the holder's immediate-
family or to family settlements. The holders of ‘A’ ordinary shares may convert such shares into ordinary
shares at the rate of one ordinary share for each ‘A’ ordinary share, subject to the further provisions of

_the Articles of Association and the Companies Acts. .

21 Profit and loss account

The changes to each component of equity resulting from items of other comprehenswe expense for
- the current year were as follows: .

Retained .
earnings Total
£ : £
Actuarial gain on retirement benefit obligation , . . 127,012 127,012
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligation . (31,753) (31,753)

95,259 95,259

The'changes to each component of equity resulting from items of other comprehensive expense for the
prior period were as follows

Retained
earnings Total
£ ' £
Actuarial loss on retirement benefit obligation 624,944 624,944
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligatioﬁ _ (156,236) ' (156,236)
Deferred tax arising on change in tax lrate 175,1 19 ' 175,119
643,827 643,827
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. 22 Dividends
Interim dividends paid =~ = ' , - . 2022 : 2021
T » , _ o £ £
£0.07 (2021 - £0.12) per each ‘A’ Ordinary share 588,935 1,080,000
£0.07 (2021 - £0.12) per each Ordinary share ' 481,065 - 882,185
' 1,070,000 __ 1,962,185
Final dividends paid . - - , : 2022 2021 _
’ ' : £ - £
£0.07 (2021 - £0.04) per each ‘A’ Ordmary share ' 606,060 © 315,000
£0. 07- (2021 - -£0. 04) per each Ordlnary share ‘ "~ 495,053 257,304

1,101,113 572,304

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, an interim dividend (£221.48 per ‘A’ Ordinary share) totalmg
£1,107,450 was approved for payment on 17 May 2023.

23 Financial commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities

In March 2012, the company put in place a guarantee with the UK Pension Scheme to cover an amount
equal to the lowest non-negative amount which, when added to the assets of the Scheme, would result
in the Scheme being at least 105 percent funded on the date on which any Ilablllty under the guarantee
arises, calculated on the basis set out in section 179 of the Pensions Act 2004, were a valuation to be
conducted at that date. In Sepfember 2015, the guarantee was increased to 110 percent.

Amounts not provnded for in the balance sheet

" The total amount of future minimum lease payments under- non- cancellable operatlng Ieases not
included in the balance sheet is £80,813 (2021 - £nil).

24 Parent and ultimate parent un‘dertaking

The company's immediate parent |s Infopro Digital (Holdco) lelted mcorporated in England and
Wales. , o .

The ultimate parent is Infopro Digital Group B.V., mcorporated in the Netherlands. The address of
Infopro Digital Group B.V. is: Schlphol Boulevard 441 Schiphol, 118BK, Netherlands.

The controlling party is TowerBrook, the general partner of the fund TowerBrook Investors Limited.

. The largest and smallest group in which these financial statements are consolldated is Infopro Digital
Group B.V., incorporated in the Netherlands. -

The consohdated fmanmal statements are avallable fromthe companys registered office Sparkford
Yeovil, Somerset, BA22 7JJ. :
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25 Business Transfers
Acqulsmon of HaynesPro (UK) Ltd

On 15 December 2022, in anticipation of an internal group optimisation project, Haynes Group Limited
* acquired the entire share capital of HaynesPro (UK) Ltd from its. wholly owned subsidiary' HaynesPro
Holdlng B.V. The purchase price was £6,540,612.

- Transfer of Subsidiaries

On 30th December 2022, as part of an internal group optimisation project, Haynes Group Limited
-acquired the entire trade, assets and liabilities of its three UK subsidiaries; OATS Limited, HaynesPro
(UK) Ltd and 'J.H. Haynes & Co. anlted The table below shows the fair values of the assets and
habllmes upon transfer .

OATS HaynesPro .  J.H.Haynes

Limited - (UK) Ltd & Co. Limited . Total
B . £ a £ £
Intangible Assets , 1,653,009 . 2,344,146 790,578 4,687,733
Tangible Assets 5,411 ’ 19,652 24,519 - 49582
Stock ' - - 890,768 890,768
Debtors ' 1,182,430 1,420,833 892,042 3,495,305
Cash .- - 740,200 4,760,478 -1,953,594 - 7,454,273
Creditors - . (1,769,999) (1,235,243) - (1,142,878) (4,148,120)
Inter-company accounts . 68,277 (682,202) 286,967 (326,958)
Value of net assets 1,779,329 6,627,664 ‘ 3,695,590 '12,,102,5'83 '
Consideration 1,779, 329 6,627,664 3,695,590 12,102,583

Consideration was settled by a dlstrlbutlon in specie from each subsidiary on the same date as the
business transfer.

Costs totaling £169 394'incurred in connectlon with the Busmess transfers were expensed in the perlod
and have been included as an exceptlonal |tem in these financial statements
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'REPORT FROM THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors’ report

The directors present their report and audited financial statements of Infopro Digital Group B.V. (“the Company”)
and the. Group (Infopro Digital Group B.V. and its consolidated subsidiaries) for the financial year 2022. The
Company acts as the holding company of an international Group of legal entities with presence especially in France,
UK and Germany. The Company was incorporated on March 23, 2016 and the Company’s RSIN is 853100378. More
information on the Group structure is available in the Consolidated Financial Statements_ :

Principal activity-
The principal activity of the Group is to deliver-business information services to professionals.

The offer is a multimedia offer (software embedded with data for experts, on-line platforms, information and
insights, etc.) a multi-sector offer (industry, automotive, construction & public sector, retail, Risk & insurance) and
a multi-country offer (France, Germany, UK, USA, Spain, Italy, Switzerland, Australia, etc...).

" The Gtoup is focussed on organic growth, external ‘growth and in house technical capability.

Principal- risk and uncertainties

Risk management

The Group has low risk appetite and is constantly momtormg risks. RlSk takmg isinherent in pursuing opportunities
for growth, whether these opportunities are found in new markets or new acquisitions, through developing new
- technologies, by changing organizational structures or hiring new people. As Infopro Digital seeks to achieve long
term sustainable growth, effective risk management is essential to achieving the Groups’ objectives. This could lead
to investments or changes which could negatively affect results and lead to people departures. However all -
significant projects are regularly reviewed by board to ensure they are carried out appropriately and -should -
continue. We continuously make improvements in order to move towards a mature risk culture.

Regulatlon : .
The Group is not subject to any administrative authorization which could significantly alter its busmess However,
legal and compliance risks existing in different areas (social law, contract law, tax law, etc.) concern the Group in the
same way as any other service company. This could lead to-a dispute and the company would have to pay damages.
However, the company warks with high quality lawyers and all subjects are always carefully rev1ewed No sngmﬁcant
dxsputes occurred in 2022,

" Customer projects

Infopro Digital deals with IT projects as software publisher. As a result, the Group is not immune toa customer s
claim that the Group's products have not achieved the expected objectives within the prescribed time-limits or have
caused them prejudice. The Group may then be liable to pay damages. This could negatlvely affect Group results arid
reputation.

The review of complex projects.and significant contracts by the General Management and the Legal Department
makes it possible to ensure that no exceptional commitment is made with a customer and that the execunon of the
prolects is in accordance thh the forecasts. :

. Informatlon on htlgatlon
Disputes and litigation are discussed in the consolidated ﬂnanc1al statements To the knowledge of the Company,
over a period covering the last twelve months, there are no other governmental, judicial or arbitration proceedings
(including any proceedings of which the Company is aware, which is pending or is threatened) that may have or has
recently had a material effect on the financial position or profitability of the Company and / or the Group. The Group
relies on its legal teams and internal policies to ensure litigation risk is minimal.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. o o Deloitte Accountants. &Y.
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Customer collectability

The Group is exposed to the risk of financial failure of a customer. The financial risks of the Company are identified
at the stage of prospecting and the establishment of the commercial proposal if this is particularly significant. Where
appropriate, customers are subject to a creditworthiness investigation carried out by the collection department and
the results of which are communicated to the Group's Chief Financial Officer. The selection of a wrong customer
could lead to negative results and cash issues. However none of the top ten customers alone accounts for more than-
1% of the Group's sales. Regular meetings on the anteriority of receivables are carried out between the Finance
Department and the operatlonal departments. The Group takes into account specific risks inherent in the situation
of the various countries.

No major customers’' bankruptcy occurred in 2022.

Risks relating to potential acquisitions :

The acquisition of companies that are of interest to the Group has as its main objective the estabhshment in new'
markets or the reinforcement in strategic activities. Acquisition transactions always present a risk of selecting the
right target, integrating teams, achieving the expected synergies, and implementing the guarantees taken. The
selection of a wrong company or an unsuccessful integration process could result in an impairment or negative result
for the business. The experience of Top Management in external growth, the expertise of financial sponsors and the
implementation of integration plans ensure a smooth acquisition and integration process.

Competltlon risks

The Group operates in competitive markets Risks mherent in the economic situation may lead to delaymg or even
cancelling the start of certain projects. Human resources management can also be sensitive, especially in times of
rising wages and tariffs. The Group’s ability to attract and retain employees with the necessary skills or talentsis
critical for success. If the Company is unable to retain or attract talents, it could affect its competitiveness, ability to
transform and therefore its results. The Group relies on its human resources strategy- to attract and retain talents
" and operates a close monitoring of turnover and departures

Intellectual property

An approach for the protection and enhancement of the intangible heritage exists in the group and the Legal
Department accompanies the various actors in-house in order to best protect all the Group's creations, while also
ensuring respect for the intellectual property rights of its competitors and Customers. Software packages for which
the group is a publisher are protected by copyright, their source codes are regularly deposited. Domain names are
also regularly booked including new extensions available. The use of our names in an unprotected country or the
theft of our database could lead to decrease in sales and profitability.

Insurance and risk coverage :

The Group has set up an insurance program with leading insurance companies to cover the main risks that could
affect it. In the case of insurance, a distinction must be made between damage insurance and liability insurance. The
Group's main insurance policies concern professional and operating civil liability, coverage of the portable computer
fleet, coverage of the entire fleet of cars and all the premises occupied by the Group.

e PROFESSIONAL CIVIL LIABILITY POLICY: Infopro Digital has subscribed a group professional mdemmty and
group insurance policy, the purpose of which is to guarantee the financial consequences of the civil liability that
the Company may incur due to damage caused to third parties as a result of its professional activities.

¢ DAMAGE POLICY: The Group has subscribed to a guarantee for its entire IT assets, including fixed and portable
equipment, as well as for the cost of reconstituting the computer archive and the additional costs, as well as for
all damages that could happen on-site.

e POLICY RESPONSIBILITY OF KEY EXECUTIVES (CEO/CFO etc.): The Group also subscribed toa ‘policy covering
the civil liability of executives.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. . Delontte AccountantsBV. -
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Operational risk :
Operational risk is the risk of losses commg from failed internal processes people or systems or from external

operational events. Examples of operational risk incidents are: fraud, claims, losses, errors, violation 'of laws and
system failure. During the financial period no material operatlonal risks materialised, and the Group is in a process
of constant monitoring and improvement of its internal control framework in order to minimize the risk,

Fraud risk

The Group assesses on a regular basis risk factors relating to fraud and corruption. Identified fraud risks include the
following areas: '

Execution of transactions;
Cyberattacks;
Reporting risks; and

- Third parties and conflicts of interest.

The Group considers the’ measures taken to control the risks mentioned above as sufficient and adequate to control
any fraud risks. :

Market risk
Main market risks are as follows:

- Customer demands can change quickly and the Group may not keep pace with demand or customer
behaviors,

- Competitors may offer preferable products and services, :

- Pricerisk: the existence of competitors may trigger some pressure on prices for our products

- Market disruptors may enter and suddenly change markets in which we operate.

Revenues and margins could be negatively impacted if products and services lose must-have status with brands
weakened.

We consider the synergistic and complementary offering across products as well as the diversification in marketing
segments to be able to balance the risk. We consider our products are usually offered at relatively low pnce points
compared to both added value generated and competition.

Market risk is considered by Business Unit and at a Group level. Commercial strategies and product deve]opment
are reviewed within business planning and the annual strategy and budget setting process and discussed during
regular board meetings. :
Our brands and intellectual property rights are actively managed and protected.

Each Business Unit actively researches and analyses customer -behavior and preference with for instance post event
reviews carried out with exhibitors and delegates in our I&! and Tradeshow Business Units. "

Outsourcmg risk
Risk of outsourcing activities brings with it the risk that the counterparty does not fulﬁl its obligations, despite

agreements. It could lead to delay in delivering a software or setting up a Tradeshow and to negative results. Infopro
Digital periodically assesses the compliance of the agreements and takes action as it deems necessary.

Financial Risks and Treasury Management

Interest rate risks on cash flows :

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates is linked to the Group's financial debt, at variable
rate (E3M + spread). The group is continuously monitoring the market interest rates to determine if hedging
instruments or other measures need to be taken. Rate sensitivity studies are carried out and presented to the Board.
The Group exposure remains limited since only a portion of our financial debt is subject to variable rates, and the
Group constantly ensures that it has sufficient liquidity to compensate for an increase in rate.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. . “Deloitte Accountants&V.
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Liquidity risks :

Bank loan contracts contain so- called default clauses, for which the financial criteria are assessed. If default clauses
“were to happen, Group could run bankruptcy. However the Company undertakes a specific review of its liquidity

riskand considers thatitis in a position to meetits future maturities. There is no matter of concern for going concern

issucs. The Group benefits from a strong cash position, together with.a Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility of EUR

95,000 thousand, undrawn as at 31 December 2022, and which can be used for any purpose.

Risks of exchange
In terms of trade flows, there is no exchange rate hedging, most of the trade being in the euro area. In most cases,

the proceeds from the sale are generated in the same currency as related operating costs, thus limiting exposure to
the exchange rate. '

' Financial reporting risk '
Financial reporting at Infopro Digital is structured within a tight framework of budgetmg, reporting and forecasting.
No distinction is made between reports for internal and oxternal use. Reporting at group level consists of an annual
financial report; including financial statements audited by the external auditor, as well as a quarterly conselidated
accounts; containing summarized financial information, and monthly reporting compared with budget, last forecast
and previous years: The reports are based on tlic internal financial reporting, in accordance with lFRS as adopted by
- the European Union.
Mistakes in the financial reporting could lead to bad interpretation of the Group results and taking tho bad decisions.
However, monthly reports are discussed with the relevant business unit managers in monthly meetings. The
consolidated annual group report is discussed with the Audit Committee on a yearly basis.

Staffare trained in how to apply accounting standards, ghideline*‘ and procedures. The quality of the financial control
systems is cvaluated regularly in the context of the activitics of the external auditor. Findings concerning the quality
of the financial control systems identificd during the audit of the financial statements are reported by the external
auditor,

Results

The sales reached EUR 549,772 thousand. There are other revenues of EUR 6,479 thousand such as total operating
revenues resulting in EUR 556,251 thousand. After deducting operatmg expenses of EUR 468,457 thousand, the
operating result reflected a gain of EUR 87,794 thousand.

The total amount for salaries and wages for Infopro Dlgltal Group BV was EUR 212,851 thousand. The average
number of employees was 4,063. .

Takmg into account the financial result of EUR (85,239) thousand, the current result before taxes reﬂected a proﬁt‘.
of EUR 2,555 thousand.

'Aftcr taking into account an income tax expense of EUR 10,990 thousand and non-controlling interest of EUR 364
thousand, the net result for the fiscal year reflected a loss of (8,798) EUR thousand., .

The solvency at balance sheet date is 10.1% (2021: 10.5%). The Group benefits from a strohg liquidity with EUR
102.355 thousand in cash at balance sheet date and an unused credit facility of EUR 95,000 thousand. As the Group
has a positive cash flow there is no requircment for additional financing for the existing business

infopro Digital Group B.V. ' ‘ Deloitte Accountants&7V.
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At the end of the ﬁ,cal year, total asscts of the company amountcd to EUR 1,799,804 thousand. The results for the

rcpomng period from operations are summarised below:
31.12.2022 31.12.2021

. (in thousands of euros)

Sales - ‘ : . A ' 549 772 - 476 239
Operating result ' . o " _ 87794 73517
Net income/(loss) attributable to equity holders ) o (8798) . (3214)
; 152 049 131799

Net Cash flow from operating activities

‘ Geographical areas of business

Information & Connection

Location 01.01.2022 . Technology

(in thousands of euros) contrib. 31.12.2022 Solutions* Tradeshows ’"f"'""":;‘:,;h‘f Total I&C
Geographical location
The Netherlands 2% 8399 6673 902 824 1726
F;‘ance 52% 283 640 107 943 58105 117 593 175 697
Germany 12% 67296 58723 1774 6799 - 8573
United Kingdom 10% 54019 36348 684 16 987 17 671
Belgium 3% 14247 9149 1182 3917 5099
-United States of America 6% 35425 14331 6694 14 400 21093
Rest of Europe 129 65 868 45998 10043 9827 19 870
Rest of the world 4% 20878 5605 5808 - 9 465 15273
Total 100% 549772 284 769 85191 179 812 265002
B gment contrib ’ © 100% 52% 15% '33% 489
“formely Software, Data & Leads ’
Information & Connection
Location 01.01.2021 Technology -
(in thousands of euros) contrib. 31.12.2021 . . Solutions* ' Tradeshows l"f"""""::.‘;;:; Total I&C
Geographical location
fhe Netherlands 2% 7419 6073 384 . 962 1346
France 35% 263 799 101727 44 491 117 581 162 072
Germany 13% 60 871 53055 815 7001 7816
Unitéd Kingdom 8% 35965 20876 456 14633 15089
Belgium 3% 13590 9629 474 3487 3961
United States of America 6% 27 315 12 845 " 1760 12709 - 14 470
Rest of Europe 11% 51440 36750 4918 9771 14 689
Rest of the world 3% . ‘15842 4573 . 2266 9003 11268
Total 100% 476239 . 245528 55562 175 149. 230711
Business Segment contribution . 100% 52% 12% ©37% 48%

“formely Software, Data & Leads

Research and development

'The group pursues a continuing programme of research and development to maintain its posmon amongst the
leaders in the professional information in Europe.
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Acquisitions
In 2022, the Group completed 2 acquisitions:

¢ Bindexis

On February 17, 2022, Docu Media Schwelz GmbH, a Swiss subsxdlary ofthe Company, acquxred 100% of Blndems
a Swiss construction sales leads provider based in Basel. . .

~ Acquisition has been paid with the cash of the Company (EUR'9,973 thousand).

e Sogexis

On May 10, 2022, SAS Infopro Digital, a French subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100%-of the shares. of the .
Sogexis Company, which has developed an all-in-one SaaS management software dedicated to car parts distributors,
garages and online sellers. :

‘Acqu1smon has been paid with the cash of the Company (EUR 6,172 thousand)

Financing

No new financing occurred in 2022.

Outlook

The Group will pursue in 2023 its strategy focused on providing their customers either with solutlons for developing
their turnover, or with facilitating and improving the information 1ssued by professnonal communmes and helping
them become more aglle and efﬁment. .

It will be based on:

Orgamc growth: the group has implemented an internal growth plan in its busmess units
External growth: the group will pursue its acquisition strategy which can be either value enhancing
" acquisitions of complementary products and new customers, or best practice deployment and roll out of
new concepts - .
¢ Inhouse technical capabxllty The group will pursue program of research and development to maintain its
position amongst the leaders in Busmess to Business services in Europe

To support this strategy, the group expect to continue hiring new talents and expanding in its territories ; the
growth of the revenue is thus dependent on our ability to attract, recruit and retain people,

In terms of linancing, although the indebtedness is mostly composed of Bonds that will mature end of 2025, the .
. Group is continuously monitoring market conditions for (re)financing.
Post balance sheet events

On March 28, 2023, the Group, through its subsidiary ETAI entered into a lease agreement in future state of
completion of a building dedicated to be the new French headquarters in Paris area. In this context, the Group has -
granted the lessor a EUR 7,000 thousand First demand guarantee, in case he would finally decide to withdraw and
not take possession of the premises when they will be completed. The move is planned for 2024.

B Dividends

No dividends were paid during the reporting period and none are proposed at the year-end.
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Directors
* The directors who have served during the full period and up to the date ofsigning the report were as follows: . -

* Mr. M.N.M. Warmerdam
~ Mr. C. Czajka :
Mr. K. Saddi
Mr. ].M. Arellano Navarro
Mr. ].J.A. Elmaleh
Mr. G.S.C. Venturi
Mr. B.J.L. Vmcmguerra
~ Mr.]. Rollier

Management and supervision act

The Board of Directors has taken notice of the adopted legislation effective as of 1 ]anﬁary 2013 as a consequence of
* which a ‘large’ company, when nominating or appointing members of the Board of Directors, should take into
account as much as possible a balanced composition of the Boards in terms of gender, to the effect that at least 30
percent of the positions are held by women and at lcast 30 percent by men: The current composition of the Board
does not match this threshold at this time, since all Board members arc men. Gender diversity is a criteria taken in
consideration in the process of Board member recruitments to target a more balanced ratio.

Employees

The Group is an equal opportunities employer and recognizes its obhgatlons towards dlsabled persons and
applications from them for employment are given full and fair considcration: Training and carccr progression are
available for all members of staff. Whenever possible every endcavor is made to assist existing cmployces who have
become disabled to continue their employment. ' :

. Communications with employees take place through trade union and representative employee committee channels

(when they exist) and through periodic employce bricfing meetings: The employce bricfing mectings also provide
. an opportunity to share the performance of the business including an update on the latest market conditions.

In the case of each of the persons wha are directors at the time when the rep'orr is approved:

a) as far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company s mdependent.
auditor are unaware; and

b) he has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a dlrector in order to make hlmself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s independent auditor is aware of that
mformatlon

Amsterdam, the 7 of April 2023

. The Directors bflnfopro lli)igital Group B.V.

M.N.M. Warmerdam - C. Czajka "~ K. Saddi ' G.S.C. Venturi

). Rol]ie_r ‘ ].M. Arellano Navarro JJ.A. Elmaleh ' B.J.L. Vincinguerra
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

01.01.2022

Net income/(loss) attributable to equity holders

Infopro Digital Group B.V. .
Annual Financial Report 2022

"11/88

(in thousands of euros) Note  EPRRPs gig;;g;i
Sales 3.1 549772 476 239
Other revenues . 6 479 6 203
Raw material and consumables used - (6 121) (5464)
External charges 6.1 (154 467) (131 367)
Levies and taxes other than income tax (5 169) (7 507)
 Staffcosts _ 5.2 (212 851) (187 396)
Amortization expenses of intangible assets 6.2 (63877) (55784)
Depx'éciatjon expenses of property, plant and equipment (15352) (14 126)
Costs relating to acquisitions _ (544) (1 285)
Provision expenses and impairment losses 6.3 2 323j (14)
" Other operating income and expenses 6.4 (7 752) (5983)
OPERATING RESULT 87 794 73 517
Financial income . . 2578 8 861
Financial expenses (87 817) (68 231)
FINANCIAL RESULT 7.2 (85239) (59 369)
Income tax expenses (10990) (16 968)
NET INCOME/(LOSS) (8435) (2 821)
Non-controlling inte rests . 364 393
(8798)  (3214)



)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

. : § 01.01.2022 01.01.2021
(in thousands of euros) 31122022 31122021
NET INCOME/(LOSS) (A) " (8 435) (z821) -

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss ° 9 625 6729

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes - . 12 881 8 736
Tax on actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes " (3256) (2 007)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss _ - {6533) 9320
Translation adjustment i o (6 533) 9320
' TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) (B) 3 092 16 049
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) (A) + (B) (5 342) 13 228
. Of which : .
- Attributable to equity owners ~(5731) 12830
389 398

- Non-controlling interests

Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

'( in thousands of euros} - : Note
Goodwill o , 92 = 825174 831404 -
Trademarks and other intangible assets 94 595110 574 302
Property, plant and equipment ' o 10 . 29214 34 649
Other non-current finaricial assets 15 © 3341 3408
_Deferred tax assets ' : 18.2 " 22509 | 51015
Non-current assets - 1475349 1494778
Inventories S T U 4473 5203
Trade receivables . 3.2 173 604 163 256
Other receivables 16.1 . 35157 34 734
Income tax receivables : : ' - 8852 11 045
Other current financial assets o N 15 43
Cash and cash equivalents 8 102 355 84 529
Current assests 324 455 298 810
TOTAL ASSETS ‘ e 1799.804 1793 588
Share capital ; 121 . 62292 - 62411
Share premium - 122 182912 182912
Foreign exchange translation reserve 12.3 (4 480) 2052
Dividend reserve 123 12 673 10 175
Retained earnings o 12.3 (75 526) (69 510)
. Other reserves - 12.3 "5554 (4 072)
Net income/(loss) attributable to equity holders (8 798) (3 214)
Shareholders' equity ' 174 625 180 754
Non-controlling interests 13" ' 7 444 7 055
Equity 182 070 187 810
Employee benefits ) 53 : 42 167 57 072
Non-current provisions » 14 . 5554 4 589
Non-current Loan notes To71 ’ 259844 237904
Non-current Senior Secured Notes ) 7.1 804738 801 644
Other non-current financial liabilities . 7.1 17 874 28 641
Deferred tax liabilities To182 137047 132823
_ Non-current liabilities - ’ . ' . 1267225 1262675
Current provisions - s - 578 1183
Current Senior Secured Notes 7.1 4322 . 3784
Other current financial liabilities - 71 15 247 15286
Trade payables ) '_ 51273 51863
Other current liabilities ‘ 16.2 ' 113858 110 516
Deferred income ' 165232 160 472
* Current liabilities : . 350 510 343 104
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1799804 1793588

Infopro Digital Group B.V. ‘ - Deloitte Accountagt
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The consolidated statement of cash flows has been drawn up using the indirect method.

01.01.2022 01.01.2021

(in thousands of euros) o o . Note 31122022  31.12.2021
Netincome/(loss) . . K : (8 435) (2821)
. Depreciations and provisions . ' 78972 69030
Changes in deferred taxes . ' (901) 6468
Gains / Losses from sales of fixed assets : - (846) - . 51
Other income & e:&penses w/o cash impact : . 10602 - (7173)
Income tax expenses » A . : ' 11901 10529
Change in working capital - ‘ (5031) .. (5769)
Income tax paid h , - (6 897) (3143)
Financial cost ' ‘ ‘ , ' 72683 64626
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) ' S . 152 049 131799
Investments in intangible assets & property, plant and equipment ‘ . (51272) (46 613)
- Sales or decrease in fixed assets . : 1904 : 119
Increase in loans and deposits . ‘ S : ) (167) (72)
- Acquisition of consolidated investments net of cash - : 2.2 (15 241) (35672)
Net cash flow used in investing activities (B) ’ ' (64776) (82237)
Dividends paid ' —_— , : (1) -
Proceeds from borrowings . 7.1 - 206003
Borrowing issuance costs . (1811) = (4808)
Repayments of borrowings . C ' 7.1 3 954) - (177 834)
Repayments of lease liabilities _ , : 7.1 (12 205) (11702)
Other cash used by financing activities " (2553) ‘(2302)
Interest paid - a : ’ g (47 276) (41 667)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ' e (1068) ° ' (1447)
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities (C) . (68 868) (33 756)
Effect of exchange rate changes (D) '. ’ : (578) 1452
Netchange incash (A + B+ C+D) . 17826 17258
Cash Beginning of Period ' : o ' : ' 84529 67 271
Cash End of Period , : 102 355 84529
Movement in cash and cash equivalents ' 17 826 -17 258

Other income & expenses without cash impact mainly relate to unrealized exchange gains and losses.

Changes in working capifal relate to payments and receipts relate to inventories, trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables. o '

Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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Foreign

Net *

N Share Share Dividend Other income/(loss) RLERDILILIIES ?:n!.ii Total .
ote capital premium - translation  reserve  eamings  reserves attributableto JRERLUNVENE o N otal equity
(in thousands of euros) . reserve equity holders interests
January 1,2022 62411 182912 2052 10175 (69510) (4072) (3214) 180 755 7055 187 810
Allocation of former period net profit/(loss) - - - - (3214) - 3214 - - -
Share based payment (IFRS 2) 6.4 (119) - - - (304) R - (423) - (423)
Net income/(loss) - - - - - - (8798) (8798) 364 (8435)
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) - 123 - - (6533) - - 9625 - 3092 25 3118
Total comprehensive income/(loss) - - (6 533) L R 9625 (8798) i’ (5 706) 389 (5317)
Reservation fixed return dividend _123 - - - 2498 (2498) - - . - - -
Other movements of the period - - - (1) - - (63 I - m
December 31, 2022 62292 182912 (4481) 12673 (75526) 5554 (8798) 174 625 7444 182 070
Foreign Net
. Not. Share Share exchange Dividend Retained Other income/(loss) EELENETIL NS Total N
. ote capital premium translation reserve earnings reserves  attributable to equity otal equity
(in thousands of euros) reserve equity holders
January 1,2021 62201 182912 (7 268) 7883 (19902)  (10801) (49 032) 165993 172 650
Effect of change in accounting policy - - - - 1752 - “1752 - 1752
Allocation of former period net profit/(loss) - - - - (49032) 49032 - - -
Share based payment (IFRS 2} 6.4 210 - - - (37) - - 173 - 173
Net income/(loss) - - - - - - (3219) (3219) 393 (2821)
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) 123 - - 9320 - - 6729 - 16 049 S 16 054
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 9320 - - 6729 (3214) 12835 398 13233
Reservation fixed return dividend 123 - - - 2292 (2292) - - - - -
Other movements of the period : - - - 1 - - 1 1 2
December 31,2021 62411 182912 2052 10175 (69510)  (4072) (3214) 180 755 7055 187 810
infopro Digital Group B.V.
Annual Financial Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Infopro Digital Group B.V. (“the Compaxiy") is a holding company that was founded on March 23, 2016 as a limited
liability company for unlimited period under the laws ‘of the Netherlands. The registered address is, Schiphol
" Boulevard 441, 1118BK Schiphol, the Netherlands and the Company’s RSIN is 856195972. The ultimate controlling
parties of the company are funds advised by affiliates of Towerbrook Capital Partners, a US transatlantic advxsory
and investment firm,

The Company and its consolidated subsidiarics (hereinafter referred to as “the Group”) provide multimedia (expert
software, online platforms, publishing, exhibitions, events, training, etc.), multi-sector (industry, automotive,
construction & public sector, retail, Risk & insurance) solutions and a multi-country offer (including among others
France, Germany, UK, USA, Belgium, Switzerland, Italy, Spain, Austria, Australia). :

These consolidated financial statements have been p‘rcparcd in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and the company financial statements are prepared in
accordance with section 2: 362(8) of the Dutch ClVll Code. The financial statements are prepared on a going concern
basis. '

The reporting year of the Company runs from January 1, 2022 until and including DecemberA31, 2022. The
comparative figures for 2021 run from January 1, 2021 until and including December 31, 2021.

‘The consolidated financial statements reflect the Group's financial situation. They are presented in thousands of
euros, rounded to the nearest thousand.

NOTE 1: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS

1.1 STANDARDS APPLIED

The Gonsolidated Financial Statement5 comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (EU-IFRS) and with.
-Dutch law and regulations.

" They have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical cost convention, unless stated otherwise. All
significant consolidated companies have a 31 December accountmg ycar -end.

The Con..olldatcd Financial Statements 2022 were approved fOI‘l suc by the Board of Directors on April 7, 2023,
New IFRS standards mandatorily applicable from January 1, 2022

In preparing its consolidated financial statements for fho year ended December 31, 2022, the Grdup applied the
same standards; interpretations and accounting policies as those used in the preparation of its consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, plus the new standards applicable from January 1, 2022.

~ The new IFRS standards, amendments and interpretations effective within the Eliropean Union and mandatorily
applicable from January 1, 2022 are:

v" Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, plant and equlpment
The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced before that asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the location and
- condition nccessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Consequently, an entity
recognizes such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss.
{
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v Amendments to IAS37 Pr0v1510ns Contmgent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37) specify that the ‘cost of fulﬁllmg acontract
" comprises the ‘costs that relate dircctly to the contract’ - can cither be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract or
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulﬁ]lmg contracts.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods and are not
xpcctcd to ..1gmﬁcantly affect the current or future periods. : :

' New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet eﬂectii/e

~ The Group does not apply IFRS standards and interpretations that have not been yet approved by the European
Union at the closing date. New standards are effective for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2023 and an
earlier application is permitted. The Group has not early applied those.amended standards in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. The Group does not antlmpate any sngmﬁcant impact from the implementation of

those new standards: ,

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of liabilities as current or not-current

IFRS 17 and amendments to IFRS 17 - Insurance contracts

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure ofaccountlng policies

Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of accounting estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or contribution of Assets between an Investor and 1ts Associates
or ]omt Venture.

SN SASN

1.2 SIGNIFICANT ]UDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

"When preparing its accounts, the Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the financial statements. The
Group revises its estimates and assessments on a regular basis to take into account past experience and other factors
deemed relevant in view of the cconomic circumstances. Depending on the changes to these assumptions or if

conditions vary, the actual-amounts or the amounts contained in 1t., futurc financial statements could differ ﬁ om the
current estimates. :

The main estimates made by the Group for the preparation of the ﬁnancial statements relate to:

o The estimate of the recoverable amount and durations of intangible assets.
The recoverable amount of goodwill, intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and mtanglble assets are
measured at least on an annual basis. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate to calculate present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
o The evaluation of deferred taxes. '

" Deferred tax assets relate primarily to tax loss carry forward and to deductible temporary differences
between reported amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. The assets relating to the tax loss carry
forward are recognized if it is probable that the Group will generate future taxable profits against which
these tax losses can be set off. Evaluation of the Group’s capacity to utilize tax loss carry forward relies on
significant judgement. The Group analyses past events and the positive and negative elements of certain
economic factors that may affect its business in the foreseeable future to determine the probability of its
future utilization of these tax losses carry forward.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. ‘ Deloitte Accountants &Y.
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e Assumptions for the calculation of obligations relating to employee benefit
" .The liability in respect of post-employment defined benefit plans is determined using actuarial valuations.
The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about, among others, discount rates, expected rates
of return on assets, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the long -term nature of these plans
such estimates are sub]ect to uncertainty.” :

o The estimate of the provisions for risks and charges regardmg commercial claims and dlsputes with
former employees

" In estimating the likelihood of outcome of claims filed agamst the Group and its investees and the estnmated
provision, the Group companies rely on the opinion of internal and/or external counsel. These estimates
are based on the counsel’s best professionaljudgement considering the stage of proceedings and historical

" precedents in respect of the different issues. Since  the outcome of the claims will be determined via
settlement or court’s decision, the results could differ from these estimates.

o The estimate of the recoverable amount of allowance for trade receivables are recorded based on
experience of recoverablhty of the customers and/or basedona specxﬁc analysis of the recoverablhty of the
.customers. ‘

e The estimate of lease terms, as regards optional periods, and determination of discount rates.

Where no standard or interpretation applies to specific transactions, events or conditions, Group management
-exercises its judgement to define and apply accounting policies that will provide relevant information that gives a
fair presentation and is comparable between periods, such that the consolidated ﬁnanc1al statements:

e represent falthfully the financial position and financial performance of the Group,
 reflect the economic substance of the underlying transactions;
e are neutral, prudent, and complete in all material respects.

No significant judgements made by the Management are included in the financial statements.

The financial information of the Company is pres‘enfed in the consolidated financial statements.

1.3 PRINCIPLE OF PRESENTATION

Statement of profit or loss

In accordance with IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements, the Group presents its c_dnsolidated statement of
profit or loss by nature.

.Statement of financial position

Pursuant to the provisions of IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements, the Group presents its consolidated
statement of financial position by distinguishing between current and non-current assets and current and non-
current liabilities.

An asset is current when it is:

. E)\pcctcd to be realised or intended to bc fold or con‘“umcd in the normal operating cycle.
e Held primarily for the purpose of trading,
» Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period.

_Current assets also include Cash or cash equivalent unless restrlcted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting period. - '

A liability is current when:

« It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle,
» It is held primarily for the purpose of trading,
e Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the repomng period.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. ‘ Deloitte Accountagts B7V.
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NOTE 2: SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

2.1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES RELATED TO THE SCOPE OF
CONSOLIDATION.

Cohsolidation principles

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. The
subsidiarics arc consolidated from the date of acquisition, which corresponds to the date on which the Group
obtained control, until the date on which the exercise of this control ceases. Control exists while Infopro Digital holds
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an economic activity so as to obtain benefits from it.

The impacts of transactions and balances between the Group companies are eliminated.

Valuation methods and accounting policies applied by Group companies are identical to those used by the Company.
Non-controlling interest represent the share of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group. They are
presented separately in t}ic statement of profit or loss and in the equity of the consohdated statement of financial
position scparately from cquity attributable to the company.

Financial year end

The companics mcluded in the scope of consolidation are consolidated on the basis of the accounts prepared in the
same reference period as those of the company

Statement of cash flows

The.statement of cash flows has been drawn up using the indirect mefh_od. The cash and cash equivalents in the
statement of cash flows mainly consist of cash at bank and in hand. Cash flows denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at estimated average exchange rates. Cash exchange differences are included separately in the
statement of cash flows. Interest and dividends received are included in cash flow from investing activities. Interest
paid and dividends distributed are included in cash flow from financing activities. Income tax expenses are included
under cash flow from operating activitics. The purchase price of the acquired companies (net of cash and cash
cquivalent available in this company) is included under the cash flow from investing activities to the extent that
payments were made in cash. - :

2.2 CURRENCY TRANSLATION METHODS

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are drawn up in euros. The currency of operation of each of the
Group’s cntities is the currency of the cconomic environment in which the entity operates. All the assets and
liabilitics of the consolidated entitics whose currency of operation is not the euro are translated at the closing rate
in euros, the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements. Income and expenses are converted at
the average exchange rate at the financial year end. Exchange differences resulting from this treatment and those
resulting from the conversion of the share capital of subsidiaries at the beginning of the financial year on the basis
" of the closing rate arc included under the heading Reserves for translation of consolidated equity. The exchange
differences identified during the currency translation of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries are recognized in -
~shareholders’ equity in the foreign exchange translation reserve. During the disposal of a foreign entity, these
exchange differences arc included in the statement of profit or loss as an item of profit or loss from the disposal.
When the exchange difference is not related to a foreign investment in the subsndlary, gains or losses on these
transactions are rccogm"cd in the statement of profit or loss.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. Deloitte Accountants &Y.
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Code Curvency Closing Average Closing Average
rate rate rate rate

31/12/2022 © 31/12/2021
CNY  Chinese Yuan Renminbi ~0.1359 0.1412 " 0.1390 0.1310
CHF  Swiss Franc 10155 0.9948 0.9680 0.9247
- TND  Tunisian Dinar - . 02994 0.3079 03072  0.3047
- HKD Hong Kong Dollar 0.1202 0.1212 0.1132 0.1087
EUR Euro - . 1.0000 1.0000 ©1.0000. 1.0000
GBP  British Pound 1.1275 1.1729 11901 - 1.1628
RUB . Russian Rouble 0.0127 - 0.0133 00117  0.0115
USD.  USDollar -0.9376 0.9489 0.8829 - 0.8449
AUD  Australian Dollar 0.6372 - 0.6590 © 0.6404 0.6350

- RON Romanian Leu ‘ 02020 0.2028 ©0.2021 - 0.2032

Translation of foreign currency transactions .

Transactions in foreign currencies are posted at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate. All differences
are posted in the statement of profit or loss, with the exception of items that, in essence, form part of the net
investment in forelgn subsidiaries recorded in shareholders’ equity.

2.3 CHANGE IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

_ Business combinations during the financial year -

~ & Bindexis

On February 17, 2022, Docu Media Schweiz GmbH, a Swiss subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100% of Bmdexls,
a Swiss construction sales leads provider based in Basel.
Acquisition has been pald with the cash of the Company (EUR 9,973 thousand)

Infopro Digital Group B.V. : ' Deloitte Accountants &Y.
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- Opening statement of financial position of Bindexis prior to the PPA assignment was as follows:

. (in thousands of euros) '
" Non-current assets " 898
‘Deferred tax assets 12
Trade receivables 531
Other receivables 16
Cash 349
" Total Assets 1806
Shareholders' equity 68
Employee benefits 86
Non-current liabilities 196
.Current liabilities 568
Deferred income. 888
Total Equity and Liabilities

1806

The Group performed Purchase Pnce Allocation ("PPA") procedures and thus determined the fair values of net assets

during the year 2022.

" The amounts recognized at the acquisition date for the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed were:

e - a isitio

(in thousands ofeuros)

17.02.2022

Assets _ i
Brands . 1331
Customer relationships 896
Other non-current assets 898
Cash and cash equivalents 349

- Net working capital . 35
Deferred tax assets 12
Total assets 3520
Liabilities '
Employee benefits 86
Financial debts and related financial liabilities 196
Other current liabilities 55
Deferred income 888
Deferred tax liability 418
Total liabilities ‘ 1644
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1876
Non-controlling interest measured at fair value -
Goodwill arising on acquisition 7901
Purchase consideration transferred 9777 -

The consideration transferred was EUR. 9,777 thousand leadmg to the recognition of a goodwill of EUR 7,901

thousand. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes

Infopro Digitél Group B.V.
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Purchas: iderati _

(in thousands of euros) g . o
Share purchase price 4 ‘ ‘ - (9777)
Transaction costs of the acqu)smon (mcluded incash flows from operating activities) (196)
Net cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) ' . 349
Net cash flow on acquisition ' . " (9623)

Transaction costs (EUR 196 thousand) were expensed and are included in the costs relatmg to acqu1smons in the .
_consolidated statement of profit or loss. '

From the date of acquisition, Bindexis contributed EUR 2,250 thousand of sales, EUR 53 thousand of net profit and
EUR 114 thousand of comprehensive income.

As the acquisition operated close to the begmnmg of the ﬁnancnal year, the sales and the operatmg result over the
12 months of 2022 were similar.,

e Sogexis

On May 10, 2022, SAS Infopro Digital, a French subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100% of the shares of the
Sogexis Company, which has developed an all-in-one’'SaaS management software dedicated to car parts distributors, '
garages and online sellers.

Acquisition has been paid with ‘the cash of the Company (EUR 6,172 thousand).

.Opening statement of financial position of Sogexis. prior to the PPA assignment was as follows:

(in thousands of euros) , A ' 10.05.2022

Non-current assets - , ' ' 867

Trade receivables - - - : . : 427
Other receivables : ) ‘ : 67
Income tax receivable o - ' . - 403 .
Cash ~ S : 1385
Total Assets : . : . 3148 .
Shareholders’ equity oo ‘ 1699
Employee benefits o ; ‘ : . 26

- Non-current liabilities ' ’ " 406
Current liabilities - L 1017
Total Equity and Liabilities , .\ 3148

The Group performed Purchase Prlce Allocation ("PPA”) procedures and thus determined the fair values of net assets .
- during the year 2022.
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The amounts recognized at the acquisition date for the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed were:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

(in thousands of euros) , S - .
Assets . o ) ‘ ‘

Brand L o ’ 1146
Customer relationships o : : - ' 705
Other non-current assets - ‘ o : . : L. 2147

~ Cash and cash equivalents . A - - 1385
Net working capital o ' T (450)
Income tax receivable A - . : : V 403
Total assets - C S S : ' ' 5335
Liabilities ' ' ) '

" Employee benefits - ' 26
Financial debts and f‘eiated financial liabilities o C 406
Other current liabilities - .73

Deferred tax liability : o < 809
Total liabilities ' o 1314

" Total identifiable net assets at faitj value _ E o ‘ . _ - 4021
Non-controlling interest measured at fair value  ° ) . A Co-
Goodswill arising on a_cquisition ) i ' o A ‘ 1979 -
Purchase consideration transferred - ' . T : 6000 .

The consideration transferred was EUR 6,000 thousand leading to the recognition of a goodwill of EUR 1,979 .
" thousand. The goodwnll is not deductible for tax purposes.

E ! ) -! - I.o

‘ (in thousands of euros) T ‘ i '
Share purchase price . . o . . (6 000)

" Transaction costs of the acquisition (mcluded in cash flows from operating activities) : {172)
Net cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) . ' 1385
Net cash flow on acquisition _ ' : ' (4788)

From the date of acquisition, Sogexis contributed EUR 1,403 thousand of sales, EUR 400 thousand of net proﬂt and
EUR 408 thousand of comprehensive income.

Over the 12 months of 2022, Sogexis’ sales and operatlng result would have been EUR 1,934 thousand and EUR 231
thousand respectively. :
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Purchase Price allocation of 2021 acquisitions

Purchaée price allocation was performed in 2022 for the following acquisitions made in 2021:

e GutwinSki Management GmbH'

The Group performed in 2022 the Purchase Price Allocatlon ("PPA”) procedures for Gutwinski Management GmbH

and determined the fair values of net assets. Performing the PPA has mainly resulted in a reclassification between
Goodwill and other intangibles. .

(in thousands ofeuros) A i ) . 31.12.2022

-Preliminary goodwill ' R , . 8557.

- Allocation to brand" ) ' o o (1078). -
Deferred tax liabilities _ o : : : - 248
Goodwill arising on acquisition ' - : 7727

e Purchase Price Allocation Barbour Abi

The Group performed in 2022 the Purchase Price Allocation ("PPA") procedures for Barbour Abi and determined

the fair values of net assets. Performing the PPA has mainly resulted inareclassification between Goodwxl] and other
mtanglbles

{inthousandsofe‘uros) ’ o S 31.12.2022 |

Preliminary goodwill .. - \ 65117
Additional price 4 ' . - - 1197
Opening balance adjustments : o 22340
Allocation to brand - : , ) : . (16 242)
Allocation to customer relationships . _ ) ’ S (11 816) .
Deferred tax liabilities - o L | 7014
Translation adjustment . ‘ .- e (3556)

. Goodwill arising on acquisition - ' 4 : 64 055

¢ Eventmaker

The Group performed in 2022 the Purchase Price Allocation ("-PPA") procedures for Eventmaker and determined

the fair values of net assets. Performing the PPA has mainly resulted in a reclassification between Goodwill and other
intangibles. - °

(in thousands of euros) - . : 31.12.2022

Preliminary goodwill - .~ : _ : e . 16237
Opening balance adjustments’ : o ' ' (105)
Allocation to brand ' : . ’ . (1 687)
Allocation to customer relationships ‘ ' : a (2962)
Allocation to other mtanglble assets . : . : A (4 389)
Deferred tax liabilities _ ' : 2334
Goodwill ansmgﬁon acquisition - : _ . 9427
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Merger

The French subsidiary Distree has merg'ed into the French subsidiary ETAI as of January 1, 2022,

"NOTE 3: REVENUES CUSTOMERS

3.1 REVENUE

- Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
‘customer at an amount (net of value-added tax and discounts) that reflects the con51derat10n to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

More specifically, revenue is recognized by type of business according to the following principles:

- Subscriptions to digital services (databases, monitoring tools, automotive multiniedia).

Revenues related to subscriptions are recognized over the period in which the goods and/or content are dispatched
and/or made available online, when the goods and/or content involved are similar in value over time. Subscription
income received or receivable in advance of the delivery of goods and/or content aré included in deferred income.

Deﬁnéd consumption digital services

The revenue generated by the sales of the credits used to show advertisements across the Group’s different media
is initially recorded as deferred income and subsequently recognized according to the rate at which the credits are
used.

Media distribution

'Revenue from the subscriptions on media distribution are recognized in the statement of profit or loss on-a straight-
line basis over the duration of the subscription. The prepaid amount on subscriptions paid are recorded as deferred
income.

Revenue from loose sales is recognized when the sales occur.
Advertising

Revenues related to advertising are recognized at insertion date (print media) or when campaigns are posted online
(online media). Advertlsmg income received or receivable in advance of the insertion or postmg date are included
in deferred income. -

Events

Revenue (sponsorship contracts, entrance fees, registration and rental of spaces) from the organization of events
(trade fairs, courses, conferences, etc.) are recognized when the event takes place. Event income received or -
receivable in advance of the event are included in deferred income.

- Sale of goods (publications and various)

Revenues from the sale of goods is recognized upon shipment and transfer of the significant risks and rewards of
ownership to the customer, provided that the ultimate collectability and final acceptance by the customer is
reasonably assured. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized net of estimated returns for which the group has
recognized a provision based on previous experience and other relevant factors. If return on a product category -
exceed a certain threshold, it is assumed that the transfer of the ownershlp of the product has only occurred upon
receipt of payment to the customer.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. Deloitte Accountants B7V.
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There are arrangerﬁents that include various combinations qf performance dbligations such as software, services,
training, implementation, and hardware. Where performance obligations are satisfied over different periods of time,
revenues are allocated to the respective performance obligations based on relative stand-alone selling prices at the
inception of the arrangement, and revenues are recognized as cach performance obligation is satisfied.

The breakdown of sales per business unit and per geographic arca was as follows:

Information & Connection

dated April

, 2023

. ‘Location 01.01.2022 Technology
(in thousands of euros) contrib. 31.12.2022 Solutions* Tradeshows lnfomulz’t’:(;;'i © Total 1&C
Geographical location i ) .
The Netherlands 2% 8399 6673 902 824 1726
France 52% 283640 107 943 58105 117593 175697
‘Germany - 12% 67 296 58723 1774 6799 8573
United Kingdom 0% 54019 36348 684 16 987 17671
Belgium 3% 14 247 9149 1182 3917 5009
United States of America 6% 35425 14331 6694 14 400 21093
Rest of Europe 129% - 65 868 45998 10043 9827 19870
Rest of the world % 20878 5605 5808 9 465 15273
Total 100% . 549772 284 769 85191 179812 265002
Business Segment contribution 100% 52% 15% 33% 48%
“formely Software, Data & Leads
lnformatio'n & Connection
Location 01.01.2021 Technology
(in thousands of euros) conerib. 31.12.2021 Solutions* . Tradeshows Infe om";:io'_; h&t Total I&C
Geographical location
The Netherlands 2% © 7419 6073 384 962 1346
France 55% 263799 101727 44491 117 581 - 162 072
Germany 13% 60871 53055 815 7001 7816
United Kingdom 8% 35965 20876 456 14633 15089
Belgium 3% L 13590 9629 474 3487 3961
_ United States of America 6% 27315 ° 12845 1760 12709 14 470
Rest of Europe 11% 51440 36750 4918 9771 14 689
Rest of the world 3% N 15842 4573 2266 9003" 11268
Total 100% 476239 245528 55562 175 149 230711
Business Segment contribution ‘ 100% . 52% 12% 37% 48%
‘[o;'mely Software, Data & Leads
Infopro Digital Group B.V. Deloitte Accounta <.
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3.2 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND RELATED AC'COUNTS

Trade receivables and related accounts

Trade receivables are current financial assets, posted mmally at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost less
expected credit loss. The fair value of trade receivables corresponds to the nominal value, in consideration of that
fact that payment deadlines are generally less than 4 months. - :

3

Impairment of trade receivables

Info;;ro Digital determines on each reporting date the Impairment of trade receivables and applies the IFRS 9
* simplified approach to measuring the cxpected credit losses, which uscs a lifetime cxpected loss allowance for all
“trade receivables. -

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables are grouped based on similar credlt risk characteristics
(mass-market, small offices and home offices). S

. -The expected loss rate is calculated based on delinquency status and actual historical credit loss expericnce.

Impairment losses identified for a group of reccivables rcpreéent the step preceding impairment identification for
individual receivables. When information is available (customers in bankruptcy or subject to equivalent judicial
proceedings), these receivables are then excluded from the collective impairment database and individually
impaired. ' :

Exposure to credit risk is limited due to the large number of customers, a significant proportion of public sector
customers, customers of the automotive division mainly under debit payment agreements and a very limited history
of default. :

The gross value of trade receivables was EUR 186,571 thousand (2021: EUR 175,255 thousand).

(in thousands of euros) 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Trade receivables (incl. notes receivables and invoices to be issued)- 186 571 175 255
.Impairment of receivables . ’ (12 967) (11 998)

Total - 173 604 163 256

The aging analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:

A )

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 "
(in thousands of euros) = Gross value Impairment Net value Gross value - Impairment Net value
Not past due ’ 108285 (146) 108139 100 852 (236) 100615
Past due 1-60 days : 34057 94) 33963 31509 (161) 31348
Past due 61-120 days : 11912 (767) 11145 - . 9773 © o (142) 9630
Past due to more than 120 days 32317 (11 960) 20 357 33121 (11 458) 21663
Trade receivables - 186571 ° {12 967) 173 604 - 175254 (11 998} 163 256

"Netreceivables over 60.days are 18% (2021: 19%) of total net receivables.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. _ Deloitte Accountagts BV.
Annual Financial Report 2022 . ~ "For identificatio es only. .
Related to au 27/88 .



COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The movements in the loss allowance during the year were as follows:

01.01.2022 01.01.2021
. . 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Balance at January 1 . _ I (11998) - (11326)

(in thousands of euros)

Changeinscope - R o - - (178) (889)
Charged to income o : ' (2 555) (1810)
_Allowance used ‘ : ) ‘ : ' 1683 2080
Translation adjustment R . : o 111 (91)
Other ' ‘ ' . ‘ 31 .37

Balance at December 31 ) ) - . (12 967) (11 998)

3.3 DEFERRED INCOME

This heading mainly covers unearned .,ubscriptiohs corresponding to thc share of prepaid subscriptioiis for wlhiich
deliveries and benefits will extend into the future and shows charged in advance (instalments) and which will take
place in the years to come. < :

Revenue recogmzed in 2022 that was included in the contract liability balance at the begmmng of the period
_ amounted to EUR 149,340 thousand (2021: EUR 116,004 thousand) :

NOTE 4: SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has identified three reportable segments (business units) based on financial information used by the .
Executive Committee in allocating resources and making strategic decisions. We consider the Chief Operating
Decision Maker to be the Executive Committee, consisting of the- Chief Executive Officer and Directors from
TowerBrook. :

The presentation of the segments is consistent w1th the reportmg used mternally by the Executlve Commlttee to
track the Group’s operational and financial performance. '

The Group’_s three business units are as follows:

e The Tech‘n'ology Solutions business unit (formerly Software, Data & Leads - SD&L) provides information and
" decision-making tools delivered through software, databases and digital platforms. Content and data are
.produced, bought or aggregated from various sources by Infopro Digital’s experts, and are then processed,
51mpllﬂed indexed and packaged through software or other electronic platforms designed to provxde the
best end user experience. :
e The Tradeshows (“TS") business umt organizes industry specific exhibitions for professxonals
¢ ' The Information & Insights ("1&I") business unit provides mdustry specific contentand information through -
websites; magazmes events and training services.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
- Financial Key Performance Indicators (KPI's)

The Executive Committee has defined certair financial KPI’s that are tracked and reported by each operating

segment every month. The Executive Committee believes that these indicators offer them the best view of the

operational and financial efficiency of each segment.
The financial KP1”s tracked by the Executive Committee are:
« Direct Margin: by segment

* Revenues: by segment and in terms of activity -
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Non- GAAP Measures

-

Direct Margm and Operating Margin are non-GAAP measures. These measures are useful to readers of the Financial
Statements as they provide a measure of operating results excludmg certain items that Infopro Digital’'s management
belicve are either out.,ldc of its recumng operatmg activitics, or 1tcm., that are non-cash.

The non GAAP measures are used by the Croup internally to manage and assess the results of its operations, make
decisions with respect to investments and allocation of resources: Such performance measures are also used by
investors and other members of the financial community to value other companics operating in the same industry
as the Group and thus arc a basis for comparability between the Croup and its peers;

The Group defines Direct Margin.as sales and other revenues less (i) costs of goods and services sold and (ii} -
operating costs dircctly related to our goods and services, which comprise costs for cditorial, sales, marléeting, IT’
and logistic activities. Direct margin excludes general and administrative costs which relate to corporate functions
and comprise salaries and travel cxpenses of management and support functions, office expenses, profit sharing,
insurance and relateéd taxes. : R ) ’

The Group defines Operating Margin as net income (loss) for the relevant period before income tax expenses,
financial result; depreciation and amortization expenses of property, plant and cquipment and intangible assets, -
costs related to acquisitions; provision expenses and impairment losses and other operating income and expenses
"(which consist of items or events outside of our ordinary course of business, including gains and losses on disposals
and costs relating to restructuring -expenses or provisions, employee and tax disputes, and impairment
losses/reversals). :

Direct Margin and Opﬁr:-mng margin are not necessarily comparable to similarly named mdlratorq used hy m'her
compames

The segment information for the financial years 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

01.01.2022

87794

. : 01.01.2021
(in thousands of euros) 31122022 31.12.2021
Technology Solutions* 284 769 245528

Tradeshows ‘ 85191 55562
Information & Insight 179 812 . 175149
TOTAL REVENUE 549 772 476 239
Technology Solutions* 132 515 117 522
Tradeshows 42 014 24159
Information & Insight - 66541 66 864 -
TOTAL DIRECT MARGIN 241 070 208 545
General and administrative costs (63 428) (51 618)
OPERATING MARGIN 177 642 150 709
Amortization expenses of intangible assets (63877) (55784)
Depreciation expenses of property, plant and equipment (15 352) (14 126)
Costs relating to acquisitions (544) (1 285)
Provision expenses and inlpéimlent losses (2323) (14)
Other operating income and expenses (7752) (5 083)
OPERATING RESULT 73517 .

formely Software, Data & Leads

Information about major customers-

No single customer contributed 1 % or more to the Group’s revenue.
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i

NOTE 5: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND EXPENSES

5.1 WORKFORCE

The tables below show the breakdown of the number of employces as at 31 December as well the average number
of staff employed during the financial ycar expressed in full-time equivalents.

All employees, except 66 (2021: 66) are employed outside the Netherlands.

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Number of people employed - As at December, 31 Women. Men Women Men

(in full ime equivalent)
Business Segment

) Technology Solutions (A) 911 1338 . 873 1275
. Tradeshows 107 ) 31 100 38
Information & Insight : 742 526 . . 746 524
Sub-total information & Connection (B) ' : 849 557 846 - 562
Sub-total (A) +(B) ) ) 1760 1895 1719 1837
Corporate/shared functions 239 176 - 228 . 191
Total B ) : 1999 - 2071 1947 - 2028

2022 2021

' Number of people employed : . As of December Average ' As of December . Average
(in full ime equivalent) - 31 during the year 31 during the year
Business Segment ‘ . ) .
Technology Solutions (4) : - 2249 : 2246 2148 1946
Tradeshows 138 ‘132 137 137
Information & Insight 1268 1277 1270 1272
Sub-total Information & Connection () . o e, 1406 1409 1407 1409
Sub-total (A) + (B) : 3655 3655 3555 3355
Corporate/shared functions . 415 408 420 409
Topal T T T s s S e et e e S Sors s 76h
Geographical location »
The Netherlands ) . 59 66 ' 69 66
France ’ : 1978 1976 1952 1927
United Kingdom ' 429 432 444 320
Germany X 391 385 379 377
Belgium ' 55 - 61 63 . 64
Portugal 135 ©o13s 125 125
Switzerland . . : co 101 101 : 85 - 85
Austria . : 72 65 66 37
Romania . 233 230 : 220 197
Tunisia o . , : 384 378 350 350
Rest of Europe 96 98 - 89 . 82
Rest of the world. : 137 136 o133 13¢
Total ‘ - 4070 4063 ‘3975 3764
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5.2 STAFF COSTS

Equity interest

Profit-sharing is classified in staff costs in operating rosult.
Research costs and research tax credit

" Part of the staff is involved in Research & Development activities.
Research costs are récognized in expenditure. o

Research tax credits are recognized in operating restilt and are .mainly presented as a reduction of personnel
expenses. ’

01.01.2022 01.01.2021

(in thousands of euros) 4 31.12.2022  31.12.2021
" Wages & salaries ' . (191 991) (173 052)
Social charges v : . (58 761) (50 283)
Staff grants ) ’ ) - 143
Employee profit sharmg : ‘ (3502) (3072)
Capitalized production " 41403 - 38869
Total ‘ o (212 851) . (187 396)

Group personnel expenses for the financial year 2022 were EUR 212,851 thousand (2021: EUR 187,396 thousand).
These expenses included a total profit-sharing amount (excluding additional employer’s contribution of 20%) of
'EUR 3,502 thousand (2021: EUR 3,072 thousand). ' C

No Covid-19 government grants such as subsndlsed wages and forgiveness of payroll -related liabilities was received
in 2022 (2021: EUR 143 thousand).

5.3 PENSION COMMITMENTS

The Group has a number of pension schemes. These relate to both defined contribution schemes and defined benefit
schemes. A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
_ contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. -
Obligations for contributions to defined cohtripution pension plans are recognized as staff costs in the statement of
profitor loss. A provision is recorded for only in case there is a deficiency (obligation is larger than assets). ‘

For defined benefit plans concerning post-employment benefits, the costs of benefits are estimated using the
_ projected unit credit method. This method accrues the employee’s pension benefit each year as it arises accordmg
~ to the formula for entitlement to benefits under the plan, applying a linear progression whenever vesting is not '
uniform over subsequent service-periods. ‘

Future payments corresponding to benefits granted to _'employe‘es are estimated on the basis of assumed pay
increases, retirement age and mortality, after which their present value is calculated using the interest rate on long-
term bonds issued by firms with the highest credit ratings.

When the assumptions on which calculations are based are rev1$ed actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full_A
in the statement of. comprehenswe income in the period in which they occur.

Companies from for example Belgium or the Netherlandsoperate a corporate msurance policy, whlch are considered .
as defined contribution plans.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. ' : A ‘ : Deloitte Accounta
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The breakdown by country of employee benefits in the statement of financial poSitidn is as follows:

, _ ) Germany/

(in thousands of euros) France Switzerland UK TOTAL
Pensions oo 11772 - 12646 - 17 176 41595
jubile plans v - » 572 - - 572
Total December 31,2022 . . 11772 . 13218 - 17176 42 167
Pensions - 13709 20989 21680 56 378
Jubile plans : - 694 Ce ' 694
Total December 31, 2021 _ 13 709 21 683 21 680 . 57 072
France

The Group provides mandatory retlrement indemnities in France, which is considered as a deﬁned benefit plan. The .
benefits granted to employees are based on the final salary and depends on the collective bargaining agreement in
use. Legal and contractual indemnities are provisioned for each of the Group employees according to their
-theoretical seniority on the day of their retirement, in accordance with revised IAS 19. The average duration of the - -

plan is about 12.5 years (13.9 years in 2021).

The French pension commitments were as follows:

{in thousands of euros) ‘ 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 |

Defined benefit obligation at the begmmug of the period 13709 15 780

Change in accounting policy (IFRSIC Agenda Decxsaon)* " - (2 363)
Business Combmatlon ‘ 75 -
Service cost 1510 1474
Benefits paid (266) . (391
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 121 81

Effect of any reduction or liquidation : (412) ' (712)
Actuarial loss f(gain) arising from experience assumptions ) - 275 322

Actuarial loss /(gain) on financial assumptions l (3 241) - (483)
Defined benefit obligation at the end of the period 11772 13709

*Followirig the IFRS IC agenda decision in April 2021 approved by the IASB in May 2021, the group reconsidered its
' . accounting treatment of attributing benefit to periods of service. The group adopted the treatment set out in the IFRS
IC agenda decision in 2021. This change in accounting treatment was accounted for EUR (2,363) thousand

retrospectively as of January 1, 2021.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. ‘ " Deloitte Accounita
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" The amounts recognized in the other comprehensive income in respect of the defined benefit plans were as follows: -

Amounts recognized in the statement of other
comprehensive income 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
(in thousands of euros) '
Gains and losses arising during the year:
- experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities : '_ (275) (322) -
Actuarial gains /(losses) arising on the present value of scheme
liabilities dueto changes in: ) .
- discount rates T : 3241 . 483

- other actuarial assumptions : - -
Net cumulative gains/(losses) at the begmnmg of the year - (3098) " {3259)

Net cumulative gains/(losses) at the end of the year (132) . (3098)

Provisidn for retirement indemnity includes EUR 158 thousand (2021: EUR 156 thousand) related to key-managers.

These commitments are determined using the following assumptions:

Y2022 2021

Employer charges rate : ' o 509% - 50%
Retirement-age ‘ : . From62to 65 From 62 to 65
Discount rate p.a. (Iboxx Corporate Bonds AA 10+) - 3.20% . .0.80%
Rate of salary increasep.a. = - : ' 2.5% 2.0%
Mortality tables ’ . _ " Males TGHOS TGH 05

Females . TGF05 TGF 05

- Based on a sensitivity analyse we note that changes in assumptions within the normal bandwidth will not lead to a
material change of the provision.. :

Present value

Sensmvnty analysis and expected cashflows - 31. 12 2022

Service Cost f total
(in thousands of euros) of to

benefits

Discount rate 50 bps decrease e 12519 1281 ' 35284

Discount rate 50 bps increase e ' 11089 ' 1102 29 895
Salary increase rate 50 bps increase : - : 12,520 1281 . 35290
Life expectancy +1 year ' . O A 11758 1186 32398
Life expectancy -1 year : A 11787 .1189 . 32492
" Duration [yéafs) .- - -, ‘ [ 125

Expected cash flows _ o ' Less 1 Between 1 to Overs

(in thousands of euros) ' ess 1 year 5 years versyears
Expected benefit payments . © 453 1868 6491

Infopro Digital Group B.V. - A Deloitte Accountants &Y.
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Presentvalue

2 .

Scn;:uvxty;nalysxs and cxpcctcd cashﬂows 31.12.2021 Service Cost of total

. (in thousands of euros) . benefits
Discount rate 50 bps depreasé : ' _ . 14699 . 1620 46618
Discount rate 50 bps increase . 12808 1368 " 38698
Salary increase rate 50 bps increase : _ _ 14 682 " 1618 46 545
Life expectancy +1 year L . 13 660 1480 42220
Life expectancy -1 year _ . 13757 - 1494 - 42634
Duration (years) ‘ ‘ ‘ 13,9
Expected cash flows ' : Less 1 vear Between 1 to Over § vears
(in thousands of euros) y 5 years y
‘Expected benefit paymehts ' R A : 466 © 1528 . -5 805

' Germany and Switzerland

The Group holds financial assets in ‘long-temﬁ investment funds outside the Infopro Digital group (plan assets) and
qualificd insurance policics. The pension plan obligation reported in the consolidatcd statement of financial position
represents the net present value of the obligation at the end of the rcportmg pcriod lcss the fair value of plan assets,
if existing. .

Provisions for pension bencfits were solely made for defincd entitlements to active or formcr cmployees in'Germany
and Switzerland. Under a defined benefit pension plan, beneficiaries obtain an entitlement to a defined benefit when
retiréement occurs. DOCU Group primarily provides defined pension benefits to its employees. Under the plans,
employces carn benefits for each year of service: The benefits carned per ycar of service arc dependent on the salary
level and age of the respective employees. Generally, the defined benefit pension plans provided by the Group vary
according to the-cconomic, tax and legal circumstances of the country concerned. The dcfincd benefit pension plans
also provide benefits for invalidity and death. Mainly in Switzerland the defincd bencfit obllgatlons are fundcd with
assets in pensxon funds. .

" The pensxon, plans typically expose the Group to actuarial risks such as interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary

risk. The intcrest rate risk refers to the risk that a decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability;
however this will be pamally offset by an incrcasc in thc rcturn on the plan’s debt investments. The longevity risk
~.rofers to the risk that the present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best
estimate of the mortality of the plan participants both during and after their employment. An increasc in the life
expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability. The salary risk rcfers to the risk that the present
valuc of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such,
. an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

The calculation of the defined benefit obli'gatloh (DBO) is based on actuarial methods for which certain estimates
are necessary. In addition to the assumptions regardmg mortality and invalidity the following parameters are
relevant:

" Germany , , . " ' 2022 2021

Discount rate p.a. - T ' :  4,23% 1.2%
Rate of salary increase p.a. : : : 1.7% 1.5%
Rate of pension increase p.a.- ' 220% - . 1.75%
Mortality table - ' v "RT2018G - RT2018G

Infopro Digital Group B.V. : Deloitte Accountapts &Y.
Annual Financial Report 2022 For identificatio es only.
' : : Related to augh . 34/88 .



COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Switzerland " ‘ ‘ . : 2022 2021

Discount rate p.a. L o - 2.0% -
Rate of salary increase p.a. A 1.5%
Rate of pension increasep.a. ~ _ ] ) ’ 0.0%

Mortality table ' : ~ BVG2020

0.40%
1.0%
0.0%

~ BVG2020

The changes in the present value of the defined beneﬁt obligation and the plan assets and the reconciliation of the

funded status are as follows:

2021

42 343

794 .

267
408 .
(1438)
(101)

(1527)

" (587)
(1059)
L (2878)

888

39987

19575

- 29

423
408
(1074)
(101)
(1089)
826

18998

39987
(18 998)
20989

(in thousands of euros) : 2022
. Present value of the defined benefit obhgatlon at the begmmng of the .
financial year 39987 .
Business Combinations .. ‘ 722
Current service cost - ’ ' R : . : 760
Past service cost . o 156
Interest cost : Co S ' o317
Employee contributions - : o A 424
Benefits paid o o (1076)
Insurance premiums for risk benefits . ' (117)
- experience gains/(losses) on scheme.liabilities ’ ' . (1 430)
- discountrates _ o (9541)
- other actuarial assumptions . v ) , -
Actuarial losses / gains () - ’ L - (10 971)
Translation adjustment . 967
Present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the 31170
financial year
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the financial year . ‘ 18998
Business Combinations . : . . 636
Interest income ' ' o 81
Employe..f contributions S . — ) 620
Employee contributions ’ . _ : ' 424
Benefits paid : , . o (690)
Insurance premiums for r!sk benefits ' . . o R N 3Y))
Actuarial losses (-) / gains S R , (2 349)
Translation adjustment ‘ ‘ ) ) 921
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the financial vear’ i : 18 524
Reconciliation of funded status at the end of the financial year
Defined benefit obligation R ' ‘ ' 31°170.
- Less fair value of plan assets ) ' » . (18524)
Pension obligation : o ' 12 646

infopro Digital Group B.V. . Deloitte Accounta
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The amounts recognized in the other comprehensive income in respect of the defined benefit plans are as follows:

Amounts recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income

2022 2021
(in thousands of euros)
Gains and losses arising during the year: . :
- experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities - v _ 1406 1627
- return on plan assets (excludmg amounts included in net interests costs) (2362) 1177)
Actuarial gains /(losses) arising on the present value of scheme liabilities due '
to changes in: :
~ - discount rates , ) 9514 . 635
- other actuarial assumptions * » - 1146
Net comulative gains/ (losses) at the beginning of the year (2 369) (4 600)
Net cumulative Eaius/(losscs] at the end of the year : ' ' ) 6190 ) (2 369)

Service costs and employer contribution transferred to the German statutory pension system are included in the
personnel expenses of the consolidated statement of profit or loss whereas the net interest costs are included in the
interest expenses.’ '

The table below shows the present value of the defined benefit obligation broken down into funded (mainly in
Switzerland) and unfunded plans: '

(in thotisands of euros) ‘ : 2022 2021

- Present value of the defined benefit obligation for funded plans 18 682 20 464
Less fair value of plan assets . (18524) (18 998)
Net amount fecognized for funded plans . : ' 159 - . 1465
Net amount recognized for unfunded blans o . 12 487 : 19523

TOTAL _ - 12 646 20989

" The fair values of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category are as follows:

(in thousands of euros) : C 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents ’ 74 330
Equity intruments 6166 - 6556
Debt instruments T : ) 8 352 ’ 8011
Real estate ‘ o 3741 4095
Insurance contracts ‘ o : 6 .- 6
Others A . ’ : 185 A
TOTAL : - : 18 524 18998

Significant actuarial assumbtions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate, expected
salary increase and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible
changes of the respective assumptlons occurring at the end of the reportmg period, while holdmg all other

assumptions constant. . ‘

Infopro Digita! Group B.V. A o Deloitte Accounta
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S}ensmuty analysis on'DBO . . 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
- {in thousands of euros) .

Discount rate 50 bps decrease v 33037 43 269
Discount rate 50 bps increase ‘ ‘ 120489 37233
Salary increase rate 50 bps decrease ' 31100 39666
Salary increase rate 50 bps increase ' } . 31246 . 40321
Life expectancy - 1 year 4 : - 30361 49299
Life expectancy + 1 year . e 31970 : 39 684

The serisitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some
assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting thc’abovc sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined bencfit obligation has
been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that
applied in calculation the defined bcncﬁt obhgrmon liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The payments to the pensioners that are expected to be made under the pension plahs in the éoming years, both
direct payments by the Group and indirect payments by the pension funds, are as follows:

' Expected cash flows ) ) Less 1 vear Between 1 to 5 Over S v
(in thousands of euros) ess 1 year years ver o years
Expected benefit payments 31.12.2022 o . 1560 7027 7571
Expected benefit payments 31.12.2021 ’ . 1343 3856 3974

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 18.2 years (2021: 18.5 years).

The risks from defined benefit plans arise partly from the defined benefit obligations and partly from the investment
in plan assets. The risks result from the passihility that higher direct pension payments will have to he made ta the
bencficiarics and/or that additional contributions will have to be made to plan asscts in order to meet current and
- future pension obligations. - : : ’

~Since a large proportion of the defined benefit obligations comprise lifelong pensions or surviving dependents’
pensions, longer claim periods or carlier claims may result in higher bencfit obligations; higher benefit expense
and/or higher pension payments than previously anticipated. - :

Ifthe actual return on plan asscts were below the return anticipated on the basis of the discount rate, the net defined
benefit liability would increase, assuming there were no changes in other parameters. This could happen as a result
of a drop in share prices, increases in market rates of intcrest, default of individual debtors or the purcha.,c of low-
risk but low-interest bonds, for example.

A decline in capital market intcrest rate_., c..pccmlly for high-quality cofporate bonds, would incrcase the defined
benefit obligation. This effect would be at least partially offset by the ensuing increase in the market values of the
debt instruments held.

Infopro Digital Group B.V. Deloitte Accounta «3
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United Kingdom . .
In the UK, the Group operates a contribut%)ry defined benefit séherﬁe (the UK Scheme).

The Scheme provides pensions in retirement and death benefits to rﬁembers Pension benefits are linked to a
member’s final salary and their length of service. The Scheme closed to new members on June 30, 2015 and closed
to the future accrual of new benefits by active members on November 30, 2018. "

The Scheme is a reglstered scheme under UK leglslatlon and is subject to the scheme funding requirements.
The Scheme was established from March 30,1973 under trust and is governed by the Scheme’s trust deed and rules
dated November 23, 2005

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation (DBO).is based on actuarial. methods for which certain estimates
are necessary. In addition to the assumptions regardmg mortahty and invalidity the followmg parameters. are .
relevant

. 2022 2021

Discount ratepa. - Co- ) ’ B 4,9% A 1.9%
Rate of salary increasep.a. . _ ) - o . . . 2.80% 2.65%
Rate of pension increase p.a. ' ' : 2:20% -3.10% - 2.159% -3.05%

Mortality table ‘ : SR S . s3pA : S3PA

The changes in the present value of the deﬁned beneﬁt obllgatlon and the plan assets and the reconciliation of the
funded status are as follows: :

- (in thousands of éuros) 1 o 2022 2021 .

Present.value of the defined benefit obllgatlon at the begmmng of the

61832
ﬁnanclal year _ ; 63 004
Interest cost L ) . 1142 o 910
Benefits paid . ‘ . o . : (1502) . (1 663)
*Actuarial losses / gains (-) ) : . . . (20792) © o (4699).
*- Translation adjustment . ' . (2 434) 4279
Present value of the defined beneﬁt obh.gatlon at the end of the 38246 . 61832
ﬁnanaal year S
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the ﬁnan&al year . ' . 40152 : 34 095
Interest income - : e ’ v : 762 , 508
‘Employer contributions : . 2553 2976
Benefits paid g ' . ' ' ~ (1502) (1663)
Actuarial losses (-) / gains S . o ’ (19 467) ) 1766
. Translation adjustment ' » (1429)° - 2469
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the finandcial year . : 21-070 40152
" Reconciliation of funded status at the end of the financial year
Defined benefit obligation . . . ] 38 246 ' 61832 .
~ Less fair value of plan assets . o . . (21 070) . (40 152)
Pension obligation . " . 17176 '21 680

.Infopro Digital Group B.V. . . Deloitte Accounta
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The amounts recognized in the other comprehehsive income in respect of the defined benefit plans are as follews:'

Amounts recognized in the statcment of other comprehensive income 4
! 2022 2021
{in thousands of euros) - . :

Gains and losses arising during the year: .
- experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities ' (1738). s . - (898)
- return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interests costs) B (19 467) 1766
Actuarial gains /(losses) arising on the present value of scheme llabllmes due '
to changes in:

- financial assumptions ‘ : - : 22470 | . 2827

- demographic assumptions ' o ' o - 60 2770
Net cumulative gains/ (losses) at the beginning of the period : 1049 (5416)
Net cumulative gains/(losses) at the end of the period ) ] 2374 . 1049

. The results are highly sensitive both to the actuarial assumptions used-and to' market conditions. A sensitivity
analysis of the pr1nc1pal assumptions used to measure the Scheme’s llabnhtles at the measurement date is set out
below !

'Approziimate impact on scheme’s liabilities

Assumption Change in assumption
_ : K in % : in value ‘
Discount rate S0 bps decreasepa . 7.0% Increase of EUR 1,271 thousand .
. o . 50 bps increase pa (6.3%) Decrease of EUR 1,205 thousand
Inflation rate S0 bps‘decfease pa i (4.7%)V : Decrease of EUR 672 thousand
’ 50 bps increasepa - 4.8% . Increase of EUR 669 thousand
Life expectancy Decrease by 1 year (3.4%) - Decrease of EUR 1,152 thousand
: " Increase by lyear . 340 - . Increase of EUR 1,280 thousand

The above sensitivity analyéis .provides an approximate view of the potential effect on the assumptions (before .
deferred tax) assuming all other assumptions remain unchanged. The methodology adopted for the sensitivity
analysis is consistent with that used to prepare the reported schemes liabilities. :

Infopro Digital Group B.V. A : Deloitte Accounta
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NOTE 6: OPERATING RESULT = S

6.1 EXTERNAL CHARGES

01.01.2022 01.01.202%

(in thousands of euros) | - ) 31122022 31.12.2021
Production subcontracting expenses : (51207) (42 794)
Non stocked purchases . ' (1733) - (1257)
Other purchases & external expenses T (35174) (31 246)
General Subcontracting : ’ R o (8553) (8530)
Maintenance, insurance & other services* ‘ , (11 233) (9801)
Fees and external services- . : : ,(18 691) T (16023)
Travel, Assignments & Entertainment - (9'576) (7 121)

. Postal services and telecommunications ‘ : : (3059) (2873)

" Bank Charges L . _ (870) - (765) -
Other expenses incl. bad debts (11477) (8931)
Royalty expenses o : o @2 8‘94) ' (2026)

~ Total : : - S (154467) ~ (131367)

*Including short-term lease expenses for EUR (215) thousand (2021: EUR (358) thousand) and low value lease
expenses for EUR (219) thousand (2021 EUR (220) thousand). .

6.2 AMORTIZATION EXPENSES OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

01.01.2022 01.01.2021

(in thousands of euros) ~ ' 31122022  31.12.2021

" Amortizatioh expenses of allocated assets (IFRS 3R) ' (19 674) . (20 789)
Amortization expenses of other intangible assets o (44 204) (34994)
Total ' : : (63 877) (55 784)

Amortization expenses of allocated assets mainly relate to.customer relationships recognized during Furchase Frice
Allocation process.
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6.3 PROVISION EXPENSES. AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

01.01.2022 01.01.2021

(in thousands of euros) 5 31122022  31.12.2021
(Increase)/decrease in provisions for contingencies and charges ) h (824) - (408)
. Impairment losses ontrade receivables (net of reversals) - .(1371) 270
Other provision expenses . ) _ (128) . . 124
Total : : 4 - ' : (2323) (14)

6.4 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

01.01.2021
31.12.2021

01.01.2022
31.12.2022

(in thousands of euros)

Restructuring and non-reccuring items (net of provisions) o ' (6 994) - (5725)
" Gains and losses on disposals ) - . 846 51
Share-based compensation- ’ - 397 (208)
Total = ) ' (7 752) (5983)

Other operating income and expenses relate to non-recurring items or events outside of the ordinary course of
business. Other income and expenses can include gains and losses on the disposal of operations, of property, plant
and equipment, and intangible assets, as well as costs rclating to restructuring expenses or provisions occuiring for
" example after anAacquisitiori, employee and tax disputes, and impairment losses/reversals.

Share-based compensation

Equity-saettled share-based payments to employees are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 (Share-Based Payment)
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The determination of fair values is based on a Monte
Carlo model. The parameters used for this valuation are in line with those used for the goodwill impairment test.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At

" each end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in the statement of profit or loss over
the remaining vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. ‘

Share based compensations are part of our equity strategy and should as such be treated as other expenses.
Free share plan '

On October 15, 2018, 78,000,000 Class H Shares have been freely allocated to employees and directors of Infopro
Digital Group. The allocation of the Class H Shares to the Beneficiaries shall only become final upon the expiry of a
2:years Presence Period as from the Grant Date. In 2019, additional 23,000,000 class H shares have been freely
allocated (respectively 20,000,000 on June 4, 2019 and 3,000,000 on December 2019) In addition, on April 2021,21,
40,000,000 class H shares have been freely allocated. .

Infopro Digital Group B.V. . ' Deloitte Accounta
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As of December 31, 2022

Free shares plan - Class H shares - Grant Date

Outstanding number of Class H shares at 31 December’

Turnover factor [on acquisition period]
Expected numbef of Class H shares to be exercised .
Fair value of a Class H share [@ grant date]

Value of the free share plan
(in thousands of euros)

40000 000
9,4%
a " 36252828
b . ~ 0,0108
a*b 391

COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21/04/2021 15/12/2019 04/06/2019 15/10/2018 Total

3000000 20000000 61400000 124400 000
. 94% 9,4% 9,4% 9,4%
2718962 18126414 55648091 112746296
0,0126 0,0126 0,0126
34 " 220 - 703 1356

(in thousands.of euros)

New grant £3
April 2021

New grant £2
December 2019

Total
31.12.2022

Initial grant
October 2018

New grant £1
June 2019

. % Rights acquired at the closing date 45% 59% 67%

Cumulated IFRS 2 value .

(wo impact of social charges) 175 20 - . 144 471 811
As of December 31, 2021

Free shares plan - Class H shares - Grant Date 21/04/2021 15/12/2019 04/06/2019 15/10/2018 Total
Outstanding number of Class H shares at 31 December 40 000 000 3000000 20 000 000 73300000 136 300 000
Turnover factor [on acquisition period] 3,5% 3,5% 3,5% 3.5% 3.5%
Expected number of Class H shares to be exercised ' a 38612 484 2895936 19306242 70757377 131572040
Fair value of a Class H share [@ grant date] b 0,0108 0,0126 0,0126 0,0126

Value of the free share plan a%b ) 416 37 . 244 893 1590

(in thousands of euros)

New grant £3
April 2021

{in thousands of euros)

New grant #2
December 2019

Total
31.12.2021

Initial grant
October 2018

New grant #1

june 2019

"9 Rights acquired at the closing date 48% 73% 78% 81%
Cumulated IFRS 2 value '
{wo impact of social charges) 201 .. 27 189 725 1141

: EUR (173) thousand). .

The IFRS 2 amount totalled EUR 331 thousand (2021

_Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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NOTE 7: FINANCING AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

7.1 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are classiﬁed as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or as other financial
liabilities. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial liabilities
are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attnbutable transaction
costs. The Group s ﬁnanCIal liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and borrowings.

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their ¢lassification as follows:
. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or-loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and . financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities at fair value
through proﬁt or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising onre- -measurement recognized in profit -
or loss. . , ’

e Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities include lease liabilities and other bo'rrowings.

v’ Lease liabilities

The Group measures the lease llablllty at the present value of the lease payments unpald at the measurement date,
dlscounted .using the Group’s 1ncremental borrowmg rate (IBR) ‘

The different IBRs for contacts are determmed as.follows: country specific risk free rate + medlan ngh Yield credit
spread.(+ covered debt negative spread for buildings). :

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (mcludmg in
substance ﬁxed) variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised. -

Subsequent to mltlal measurement, the liability is reduced for payments ‘made and increased for interest. It is
" remeasured to reﬂect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease hablhty is remeasured, the correspondmg ad]ustment is reﬂected in the right-of-use asset, or proﬁt '
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero. -

The Group has appliedgthe practica] expedient of the amendment to IFRS 16 - Covid-19 Related Rent Concéssions
retrospectively to all rent concessions that meet the conditions and has not restated prior period figures.

v Other borrowings
.Other borrowings are measured at amortized costs uéing the effective interest rate method.

The effective .interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest.expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactl‘y discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial

liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition,

Infopro ngital Group B.V.
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A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
- When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-
recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrymg
amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss as financial expense or income.

Flnanc1al assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to
settleona net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. - '

" Borrowings are classified as current habllmes unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the

liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Issuarice costs and prein‘mms are not included in the initial cost but are taken into account when calculating the
amortized cost according to the effective interest rate method and are therefore actuarlally recogmzed in the
statement of profit or loss over the'term of the liability.

Debt

Non-current financial liabilities

(in thousands of euros)

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Loan notes 259 844 237904
Senior Secured Fixed Notes 495 122 493 639
Senior Secured Floating Notes 309.616 ~ 308005
Lease Liabilities 10708 . 17929 -
Other Financial liabilities 7 165 10713 .

Non-current financial liabilities

1082457 1068 190

" Current financial liabilities. -

- (in thousands of euros)

Loan notes .
Senior Secured Fixed Notes

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 o

2292 2292
Senior Secured Floating Notes 2030 1492
Lease Liabilities R . 11162 11154
Other Financial liabilities 4084 4132

Current financial liabilities

19 568 19070

Financial liabilities.

(in thousands of euros)

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Loan notes 259 844 237 904
Senior Secured Fixed Notes 497 414 495 931
Senior Secured Floating Notes 311646 300 497
Lease Liabilities 21 871 29083
Other Financial liabilities 11 250 14 844

Financial Liabilities -

infopro Digital Groub B.V.
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As of December 31, 2022
. Maturity (remaining contractual maturities)® )
(in thousands of euros) 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 >2027
Loan notes 146 356 146 356 : )
Senior Secured Fixed Notes 500 000 500 000
Senior Secured Floating Notes 315000 - 315000
Lease Liabilities 20947 11734 5415 1764 896 518 620
Other Financial liabilities 10 957 _ 4017 3970 2928 . 42
TOTAL ) 993 260 15751 9 385 819 692 147 294 518 620
*based on gross and undiscounted amounts ' ) ’
. . Interest settlement plan "~ .

(in thousands of euros) 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 > 2027
Interest on Loan notes (1) 200122 . 1200122
Interest on Senior Secured Fixed Notes (2) 82500 27 500 27 500 27 500
Interest on Senior Secured Floating Notes (3) 78215 25663 26312 26 240
Interest on Other Financial Llablhhes 694 417 229 48
TOTAL 361531 53581 54 040 53788 200122
(1) Cumulated compounded interest from issue date i
(2) Annual fixed interest of 5,5%. 2022's interest include accrued interest at the end of December 2021.
(3) Annual interest of 5,5% + EURIBOR (with EURIBOR = 0 when EURIBOR is negative).
Interest calculated at 8.216% over the remaining period from Marchl, 2023. 2022's interest include accrued i interest at the end of December 2021,

As of December 31, 2021

) i Maturity (remaining contractual maturities)®
(in thousands ofeuros) 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 >2026
Loan notes ’ . 146 356 ' 146 356
Senior Secured Fixed Notes 500 000 500 000
Senior Secured Floating Notes 315000 315000
Lease Liabilities 31382 11905 10021 6024 1003 744 1684
Other Financial liabilities 14727 4016 3875 3865 2928 42
TOTAL 1007 465 15921 13 896 9 889 818 931 147 142 1684
*based on gross and undiscounted amounts )
i Interest settlement plan ] -

(in thousands of euros) 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 > 2026
Interest on Loan notes (1) 200 122 200122
Interest on Senior Secured Fixed Notes (2) 110 000 27 500 27500 27 500 27 500
Interest on Senior Secured Floating Notes (3) 70311 17 566 17 566 17 614 17 566
Interest on Other Fmanclal Liabilities 1302 609 417, 229 48
TOTAL 381735 45 674 45 483 45 342 45113 200 122
(1) Cumulated compounded interest from issue date N
(2) Annual fixed interest of 5,5%. 2021's interest include accrued interest at the end of December 2020.

. (3) Annual interest of 5,5% + EURIBOR (with EURIBOR = 0 when EURIBOR is negative).
Assumpaan that EURIBOR remains negative over the period. 2021's interest include accrued mterestatthe end of December 2020.

~ Infopro Digital Group B.V. Deloitte Accountant
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Loan notes

On June 1, 2016 the Group issued Loan notes A, B and C with a denomination of EUR 1 to- the following immediate
shareholders:

i . Sharehold P iol Accrued K i £ Amortization Net Values
{in thousands of euros) ) ehotder rinciple interest  Lancinglee financing fee 31.12.22

Loannote A . . Taman 1 B.V. : 222 043 - 11879 - - 233922
Loan note B Taman 2 B.V. . 10729 574 - - 11303
Loan note C : Taman Investments B.V. 14 432 772. (1699 1109 14619
Total . 247 204 13225 (1 694) 1109 259 844

: L. Accrued . Amortization Net Values
{in thousands of euros) Shareholder Principle interest Financing fee . ﬁnaric.in
Loannote A , Taman 1 BV, 203 476 10886 - - 214 362
Loan note B Taman 2 B.V. 9832 526 . - - 10358
Loan note C ' Taman Investments B.V. 13225 708 (1694) 946 13185
Total 226 533 12119 . (1694) 946 237 904

These loan notes, which mature on June 1, 2026, bear an annual comipounded interest rate of 9%. Interest from June
1, 2021 up to and including May 31, 2022 have been capitalised for EUR 20,671 thousand. The notes will be
redeemed in cash for their Outstanding Aggregate Amounts on the maturity date. The interest expense for the
financial year was EUR 21,777 thousand (2021: EUR 19,956 thousand). These loan notes are all unsecured.

Senior Secured Notes (High Yield Bonds)

On November 26, 2020, the Group has.issued Fixed Rate Notes of EUR 500,000 thousand and Floating Rate Notes of
200,000 thousand to the several initial purchasers represented by |.P. Morgan BNP Paribas, BofA Securities,
Deutsche Bank and Société Générale.

.-On November 8, 2021, the Group has issued additional Floating Rate Notes for EUR 115,000 thousand, with the same
terms and conditions than the existing Notes issued in November 2020. :

" The annual interest rate on the Fixed Rate Notes is equal to 5.50%. Interest expeﬁses are pé\id semi-annually, each
year at June 1 and December 1. :

The annual interest rate on the Floating Rate Notes is equal to 5.50% + EURIBOR. When EURIBOR is negative, the
EURIBOR mark-up will be zero. Interest expenses are paid quarterly, each year at March 1, June 1, September 1 and
December 1. As EURIBOR turned positive in 2022, the annual interest rate on the Floating Rate Notes reached 6.12%
in September 2022 and 7.484% in December 2022.

The debt is measured according to the amortized cost method. In accordance with the EIR method, the Group
amortizes the issuance costs EUR 16,109 thousand allocated to the Senior Secured Notes over the expected life of
the instrument.

' ' Principle Accrued Financing ree Amortization
(in thousands of euros) - - interest financing fee 31.12.22

Senior Secured Fixed Notes 500 000 2292 (7871) 12993 497 414

Senior Secured Floating Notes 315000 2030 (8238) . 2854 311 646
“Total 815000 4322 (16 109) 5847 809 060

Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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. _ Principl Accrued_ F \ciag f Amortization Net Values |
{in thousands of euros) ) rmeipte interest | o 8. fhancin g fee 31.12.21

Senior Secured Fixed Notes 500 000 2 292 (7871) S 1510 495931
Senior Secured Floating Notes ' 315 000 71402 (8 238) 1244 3009 497
Total : K 815 000 3784 (16 109) 2753. 805428

The interest expense for the financial year totalled EUR 49,191 thousand (2021 EUR 42,263 thousand) inélu’ding
the EIR amortization. The amount of interest paid in the financial year amounted to EUR 45,559 thousand (2021:

EUR 39,698 thousand).

Otherfinancial liabilities
* Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility (SSRCF)

The Group benefits from a syndicated Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility financing with, among others, }.P
Morgan Securities plc, BNP Paribas, Société Générale, Deutsche Bank and Bank of America for Europe since
November 25, 2020 for an amount of EUR 95,000 thousand. :

The annual interest rate is equal to the EURIBOR or, for loans denominated in pounds Stetli'ng, LIBOR, increased by
an initial margin of 3.25%. When EURIBOR or LIBOR is negative, the EURIBOR or LIBOR mark-up will be zero.

A commitment fee, recognized in the financial expenses is payable ‘on the aggregate undrawn and uncancelled
amount of the SSRCF from the date of the SSRCF Agreement to the end of the availability period for the SSRCF at a
rate of 35% of the margin applicable to the SSRCF The commitment fee is payable quarterly, on the last day of the
quarter.

The issuance costs related to the amendmént agreement amounted to EUR 841 thousand and the amortization of
EUR 186 thousand (2021: EUR 186 thousand) is recogmzed in the financial expenses.in ‘amortization of debt

issuance costs’. _
At the end of 2022, the Revolving Cradit facility remains undrawn.
The interést expense totalled EUR 0 thousand in 2022 (2021: EUR 255 thousand).

The commitment fee totalled EUR 1,105 thousand in 2022 (2021: EUR 1,007 thousand). The amount of commitment
fee paid was EUR 1,006 thousand in 2022 (2021: EUR 925 thousand). ' :

¢ Unsecured funding

Infopro Digital had unsecured-additional financing, mostly the Prét Atout direct loan from BpiFrance subscribed on
July 24, 2020 for an amount of EUR 15,000 thousand. This loan had a maturity of 5 years, fixed interest of 5.01% per
annum and was repayable over 16 quarters starting from the second year of the loan

The interest expense totalled EUR 602 thousand in 2022 (2021 EUR 744 thousand)

The repayment totalled EUR 4,383 thousand mcludmg EUR 633 thousand 1nterest in 2022 (2021: EUR 1,688
thousand including EUR 750 thousand interest). .

Infopro Digital Group B.V. o ‘ - Deloitte Accountants&7V.
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‘o Earn out

Contmgent considerations or earn-outs are recogmzed in liabilities related to busmess combinations. Contmgent
payments or earn-outs are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. This initial measurement is subsequently
adjusted through goodwill only when additional information is obtained after the acquisition date about facts and
circumstances that exists at that date. Such adjustment is made only during the 12 months measurement period that
follows, the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustment which does not meet these cnterla is recorded asa
receivable or payable through statement of proﬁt or loss

Earn out EyentMake
An earn-out has been granted to EventMaker sellers, based on 2 KPI's to be reached by the end .of 2023. Several

thresholds have been defined, leading to different level of earn-out compensations from EUR 1.500 thousand to EUR
4,500 thousand. As at December 31, 2022 no liability has been recognized based on our initial assessment.

7.2 FINANCIAL RESULT

RN

{in thousands of euros)

01.01.2022
31.12.2022

31.12.2021

01.01.2021

Infopro Digital Group B.V."
Annual Financial Report 2022
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Gains, losses and income on disposals of marketable securities’ {a) 1. -
Income from cash and cash equivalents 1 C-
Interest expenses () (71 647) (63 255) -
Interest expenses on lease habllmes {®) (1035) (1371)
" Amortization of debt issuance costs (b) (353) (194)
Cost of gross financial debt - : (73 036) (64 820)
Cost of net financial debt (73 035) (64 820)
(n thousands of curos) 31122027 31122071
Foreign exchange gain (a) 2508 ' 8303
Foreign exchange losses (b) (12800) (935) .
Interest expenses on employee benefits (b) (728) (741)
Other financial income () 69 559
Other financial expenses .(®) (1253) {1 735)
TOTAL other income and financial expenses . (12 204) 5450
Financial result (85239) {59 369)
Financial income (a) 2578 . 8861
Financial expenses (b) (87 817) . (68231 )
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7.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND OB]ECTIVES

The Group s main financial liabilities consist of borrowings, leasmg debts and trade payables The main ob)ectlve of
these financial liabilities is to fund the operational activities of the Group. The Group holds financial assets such as .
trade recelvables, cash and short-term deposits that are generated dlrectly by its activities. :

Interest rate risk on cash flows

The Group has recourse to financial derivatives to reduce its exposure to interest rate risks. These instruments are
intended to cover the economic risks to which the Group is exposed. '

The 'group is continuously monitoring the market interest rates to determine if new CAP agreements or other -
measures need to be taken. The Group had no CAP agreement as of December 31, 2022.

Credit risk v ' S -

.The credit risk relating to financial assets méinly concerns trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s
exposure is linked to the possible default ofthe third parties concerned, with a maximum exposure equal to the book
values of these instruments. ‘

Trade receivables balances are monitored constantly. Changes to the impairment of these receivables during the
financial year are also included in this note. :

™

Exchange rate risk

In terms of trade flows, there is no currency hedging since most of the trade is carried out in the Eurozone. In other
cases, income resulting from sales is generally in the same currency as the associated operating costs, thus limiting
the exposure to exchange rate risk. Intra-Group flows in foreign currencies are mainly concerned by intercompany
- loans between companies with EUR currency and companies with GBP cilrrency, CHF currency, RON currency and
RUB currency. As current intercompany loans are not considered as an investment in the subsxdlary, gains or losses
on these transactions are recognized i in the netincome.

(in thousands of euros) - 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Other non-current financial assets , e ’ 22500 22500
Non-current financial liabilities _ 225574 222570

Net position . " (203 074) (200 070)

. An increase of 10% in the value ofthe euro against these currencies at December 31 would have had the following
pre-tax 1mpact

. 31.12.2022 - , 31.12.2021
. Income Equit Income Equi
(in thousands of euros) _ﬁain](loss), Eainil/.(lZs) gain/(loss) g,ain‘j(li};s)
Exposure to GBP (18793) - ' (19 395) .-
Exposure to CHF (1 460) _ (556) -
Exposure to RON : . (31) . (33) -
Exposure to RUB - (23) o
. TOTAL Sensitivity =~ (20 284) ‘ -(20 007)

Infopro Digital Group B.V. Deloitte Accountants.&V.
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For the purpose of these analyses, it is assumed that all other varlables part;cularly interest rates remamed

unchanged.
Assuming that all other varlables remained unchanged, a 10% fall in the value of the euro agamst these currencies

at December 31 would have had the opposite impact to the one shown above.

Equity risk

Marketable securities neld by the Group are exclusively made up of money market funds. The risk related to the
growth of the financial markets is in fact very limited, as Market securities paosition at the end of December 2022
amounted to EUR 25 thousand (2021: EUR 8 thousand).

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain the balance between the continuity of fundmg and their ﬂexnbxllty through the
use of bank loans and bonds.

The future cash flows related to undiscounted interest payments and prineipal repayments, are disclosed in note
7.1. ' ' '

Capital Management
The Group carefully manages capital structure in ordef to maintain areasonable debt ratio.

The Group could increase its capital for an acqulsltlon for example if its debt ratio is too high, as it has been done for
Insight and Docu acqu151t10n :

The Group could also increase its capltal on an ongoing concern basxs. for instance if cash is needed followmg an
unexpected event. :

The Group does not have any financial covenants based on capital or equity ratio.

Default clauses

The- Revolvmg Credit Facility contains events of default Wthh are, with certain adjustments, the same as those
applicable to the Notes. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility contams several events of default, including
payment default and breach of financial covenants.

" Asat December 31, 2022, the Group has not breached any covenant under its facility agfeements.

7.4 O_FF-BALANCE‘ SHEET COMMITMENTS LINKED TO FINANCING

Collateral, guarantees and mortgages granted

The Group has granted a certain number of securities and made commitments in favour of lender of the Senior
Secured Notes and lenders of the revolving credit line, as a guarantee of its obligations as 1ssuer or borrower. They
especially include:

1. A pledge on the Parent Guarantor (IPD 2 BV);

2. A pledge pertaining to the bank accounts held by the Group’s main sub51d1ar1es The carrying value of the
pledged bank accounts amounted EUR 34,557 thousand (2021: 34,579 thousand);

A pledge pertaining to trademarks held by the Group’s main subsidiaries;

A pledge pertaining to intra-group receivables ;

S. A pledge pertaining to the securities of the Group’s main subsidiaries, whether current or Wthh wou]d be
held at a later date; = :

6. The respect of covenants ratios.

B W
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Other commitments given by the Group:

e with regard to disputes are présented in Note 14 "Other provisions and contingent liabilities”;
. e with regard to acquisitions are presented in Note 2 “Scope of consolidation”.

Other commitments given in the framework of financing activities
¢ Covenants

The amendment agreement to the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement requires the Group to comply with a
minimum EBITDA covenant (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement) of EUR 75,000 thousand for a
12 months period from December 31, 2021 and for each subsequent period. No testing is required if the aggregate
amount of all outstandmg utilizations is lower than 40% of the total commitments under the Revolving Credit
Facility Agreement.

e Additional contractual optlonal redemptlon

The Floating Rate Notes are redeemable at the Company’s option from December 1, 2021 onwards, firstat 101%
plus interest and from December 1, 2022 at 100% plus interest. The Fixed Rate Notes are redeemable from"
December 1, 2022 onwards, until December 1, 2023 at 102.75% plus interest, until December 1,2024 at101.375%
plus interest and therea&er at 100% plus interest. :

In case of an equity offering, the Fixed Rate Notes may be redeemed by the Company prior to December 1, 2022 with
" the net cash proceeds received by the Company ata redemptlon price equal to 105.5% plus accrued and unpaid
- interest provided that:

1) the redemption takes place no later than 180 days after the closing.of the related Equity Offering, and
2} notless than 50% of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes being redeemed (including the principal
amount of any additional Fixed Rate Notes) remains outstanding immediately thereafter. :

In.case of a change of control, each holder will have the right to require the issuer to repurchase all or part of such
holder’s notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, except under certain circumstances, including under a certain level of net leverage as deﬁned in the
Indenture.

‘e - Earn-outs

Earn-outs related to acquisitions are detailed in note 7.1.

Commitments received
e Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility

- As of December 31, 2022, the Group has access to a syndicated Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility reserve of EUR
95,000 thousand. At that date, the Super Senior Revolving Credit Facnllty was undrawn.

_Infopro Digital Group B.V. ' Deloitte Accountants. &Y. .
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7.5 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, which include both cash and -
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

. . . : Non-cash
(in thousands of euros) - 01.01.2022 : Bl'nsmfass Net cas“'ﬂo“fs movements Other changfs 31.12.2022
‘ Combination - : (i) (ii) (iii)
Loan notes . - 237904 - - - 21940 259 844
Senior Secured Notes 805 428 - (45 559) 3094 46 097 809060
Other Financial liabilities : 43 927 740 (18 868) 4677 2 644 33120
"TOTAL 1087 260 740 (64 427) 7771 70 682 1102 025
Non-cash movements (ii) : debt issuance costs depreciation, increase.in lease liabilities c
Other changes (iii): accrued or capitalized interest '
. Non-cash
(in thousands of euros) 01.01.2021 Bn:lsmf-:ss Net c“h‘ﬂo“ts movements Other ch,ang:s 31.12.2021
o . i Combmatloq @) (i) (iii)
Loan notes 217779 - R - 20125 237 904
Senior Secured Notes . 689953 - 75301 465 - 39708 805 428
Other Financial liabilities 53375 1522 (16128) 1863 3295 " 430927
TOTAL : . .. 961 107 1522 59174 2327 63129 1087 260

Non-cash movements (ii) : debt issuance costs depreciation, increase in lease liabilities
Other changes (iii): accrued or capitalized interest

(i) Cash flows from bank borrowings, related party borrowings, lease liabilities and other borrowings make up the
net amount from proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings in the statement of cash flows.

Senior Secured Notes .
2022: Interest paid (EUR 45,559 thousand) o
2021: HYB EUR 115, 000 thousand, interest paid (EUR 39, 699 thousand)

" Other Financial Liabilities
2022: Repayment and interest paid on BPI Loan “Prét Atout” (EUR 4,383 thousand), Commitment fee pald on SSRCF
(EUR 1,006 thousand), Lease repayments and interest on lease (EUR 13,273 thousand)

2021: Repayment and interest paid on BPI Loan “Prét Atout” (EUR 1,688 thousand), Interest and commitment fee
paid on SSRCF (EUR 1,179 thousand), Lease repayments and interest on lease (EUR 13,149 thousand)

(ii) Non-cash movements: debt issuance costs and depreciation and increase in lease liabilities

(iii) Other changes include interest accruals.
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NOTE 8: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

‘The amount listed in the assets of the consolidated statement of financial position under the item “Cash and cash
equivalents” includes the cash flow.(positive bank balances) and the cash équivalents [shOrt-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are sub)ect to an insignificant risk of
change in value) : ’

. Negative bank balances.are booked under the llabllmes side of the statément of ﬁnanc1al position in “Other current
financial llabllltles

- Net cash shown in the consolidated statement of cash ﬂows includes cash and cash equwalents net of bank
overdrafts.

The statement of cash flows has been drawn up using the indirect method.

v

Market securities, cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

(in thousands ofeurr_os) ' . : ; 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 @
Cash at bank ' - : ’ . ’ - 102 240 84 404
Cashinhand . ‘ : o , ' 90 Co117
Market securities o ) v . 25 . 8

Total . - ' - 102 355 - 84529

-

(in thousands of euros) - : ‘ - 31.12.2022  31.12.2021

Cash and cash equivalents . o C _ ' 102 355 84 529
Bank overdratfs : ‘ e o : - C-

Total withheld for the cash flow statement A ) . 102 355 : ‘, 84 529
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NOTE 9: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

9.1 BREAKDOWN OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The breakdown of the intangible assets is detailed in the following table:

(in thousands of euros) s . ' 31.12.2022 Som:::i:::; ‘l"radeshows l“foml?:;;h&; ) Multi-sgctor

Goodwill . ] . -

Gross - ' - . 825 1_74 448 260 139 795 237 119 -

Amortization ’ - - - - -

Net . ) 825174 . 448 260 139795 . 237 119 -

Trademarks and relationships (busi binations) ' .

Gross : T 624 840 341362 - 92 463 191015 co-

Amortization . (116 264) (50012) (25 076) (41175) ..

Net . .. 508576 291 350 67 386 . 149 840 -
" Other intangible assets : . ' : ’

Gross : . ' . 365732 - - : - 365 732

Amortization . (279197) } - . - - (279197)

- Net : © 86534 - . - ) - 86 534
Balance December 31, 2022 . 1420284 739 610 207 181 . 386 959 86.534
(in thousends ofeur?s’) ) 31.12.2021 Sojﬂ'\;r:;eieD::: '[radéshaws Informz;::i;ti Multi-sector
Goodwill , ] : : - .

" Gross - . , S 831 403 450 035 139795 241573 -
Amortization - - - ’ - -
Net ) - 831403 450 035 139 795 241573 -
Trad ks and cust relationships (busi binations) . . )

Gross h 600 024 313 666 91 662 194 696 Co -
Amortization _ ) o (102 066) (43 186) (21 335) (37 545) .
Net L 497 958 270 480 70327 157 150 -
Other intangible assets . . .

Gross © 361545 - . - s - 361545

. Amortization (285 201) - - . - (285 201)
Net 76 344 - - - 76344
Balance December 31, 2021 . - ’ 1405 705 720 515 210 122 398 723 76 344
Infopro Digital Group B.V. . 4 Deloitte Accountant
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Intangible assets " Trademarks & Other intangible
Goodwill customer

(in thousands of euros) at31.12.22 relationships assets
Balance January 1, 2022 1405706 831 404 497 958 76 344
Acquisitions: gross value 37616 31121 6495
Acqmsmons cumulative amortization (214) - - (214)
Acqursmons net value 37 401 31121 6280
Decrease/disposals (2878) Co- (2878) -
Increase 58883 9880 808 48195
Translation adjustment (17 828) (10 843) (6762) (223)
Reclassification - (5267) 5132 135
Amortization (net of reversal) (60 999) - . (16 802) (44 197)
Balance December 31, 2022 1420285 825174 508 576 .86 534
Intangible assets . Trademarks & Other intangible

. Goodwill customer .
"' (in thousands of euros) at31.12.21 relationships assets
~ Balance January 1,2021 1292575 728 994 502 414 61167
Acquisitions: gross value 21'200 - 8564 12636
Acquisitions: cumulative amomzanon (8 696) - (1751) (6 945)
Acqulsmons net value 12 504 - 6 814 5691
Decrease/disposals (38) - - (38)
Increase - . 135669 92 368 - 43 301.
Translation adjustment 19588 10 042 8963 583
Reclassification 1198 - - © 1198
Amortization (net of reversal) (55 789) - (20 233) (35557)
Balance December 31, 2021 -1 405 706 831404 497 958 76 344

The EUR 16 802 thousand Trademarks & Customer relationships amortization mclude EUR 18,893 thousand related
to the Customer Relationships from business combination accounting.

9.2 GOODWILL

Business combinations are recorded according to the method of acquisition. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the sum of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the entity acquired. The decision as to how to measure the fraction not acquired from the
target - either at its fair value or in the amount of its proportion of the revalued net equity - is made individually for-
each business combination. The acquisition costs incurred are recogmzed in operating expenses for the period in
which the corresponding services are received.

When the Group acquires a business, it values the assets and liabilities of the entity acquired at their fair value. When
the business combination is achieved in stages, the investment held by the recipient prior to the takeover is
measured at its fair value at the date of acquisition and the difference compared with its prevnous book value is
recognized in income in application of IFRS 3R.

Price adjustments (“earn outs”) are recognized at their fair value at the date of acquisition. They will result in the
recognition of an asset or a liability, and any subsequent changes in fair value will be recognized in income.

Valuation differences identified during the acquisition are recognized under the relevant assets and liabilities items.
The residual amount, representative of the difference between the cost of acquisition of the shares and the share of
the Group in the valuation at their fair value of the assets and liabilities identified, is posted under the item goodwill
and assigned to each cash-generating unit likely to benefit from the business combination.
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Subsequently, these acquisition differences are valued at cost minus any impairment, in accordance with the method
described in the paragraph "Subsequent monitoring of the value of fixed assets”.

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment annually.

Goodwill is composed as follows:

. Adjustments Translation ' .
(in thousands of euros) ’ [ 3R WAIvV A Acquisition and R Impairment 31.12.2022
: Adjustment
. . allocation

Infopro Digital (France) . ” 462 208 ‘ - - - . - 462208
Docu Group " 100683 - - - o 100 683
Insight ' . 84 680 e Tl (4 459) - 80 226
Haynes Group ' ' - 63488 : ; (3 340) - 60149
Barbour ABI : 65138 2373 (3437) - 64073

" Other entities . . ) : 55 207 9880 (7640) . 388 o 57 834
Total 831403 9880 . (5267) (10 843) - 825174

Adjustments Translation .

(in thousands of euros) . (SR IWA7SW Acquisition and . . Impairment 31.12.2021

- Infopro Digital (France) . 462 208 ) - B - - 462 208
Docu Group ' 100 683 - . - - - 100 683
Insight : 79 144 - - . 5536 - 84 680
Haynes Group - . 59338 . - 4150 A - 63.488
Barbour ABI . - 64782 o 336 65138

 Other entities : C 27622 27585 R ‘ - 55 207

- Total 728 994 92 368 . 10 042 - ‘831403

Cash-generating unit (CGU)

A CGU is a small group of assets that includes the asset and the continued use of whxch generates cash inflows that
are largely mdependent from those from other assets or groups of assets

The Group has defined 3 CGUs corresponding tQ business segments: Technology Solutions (formerly Software, Data
and leads - "SDL"), Tradeshows ("TS”} and Information & Insight (“I&I").

9.3 SUBSEQUENT MONITORING OF THE VALUE OF FIXED ASSETS

The value of fixed assets is assessed each year, or more frequently if internal or external events or circumstances
indicate that a reduction in value is likely to have occurred. The achievement of profitability significantly below
budgets, which was used as the basns during previously carried out assessments, is consxdered an indication of
impairment. : :

Specifically, the value of goodwill in the statement of financial position is compared to the recoverable value. The
recaverable value is the higher of the fair value net of disposal costs and the value in use. In order to determine their
value in use, fixed assets to which it is not possible to directly link independent cash flows are grouped within the

. cash-generating unit (CGU) to which they belong. The CGUs correspond to homogeneous eritities that jointly =

generate identifiable cash flows.
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The value in use of the CGU is determined usmg the dlscounted cash flow method (DCF) according to the following
principles:

+ the cash flows are derived from operating budgets decided on by thc Management for the upcoming financial ycar
with forecasts on trends in revenue, operating margin and WCR levels for the following four years;

« the combination of the discount rate and the perpetuity growth rate is in line with the values usually used i in the
sector for groups with a comparable profile;

= the terminal valuc is calculated by addmg the discounted future cash flows, determined on thc basis of normativc
cash flows and a perpetual growth rate. This rate of growth is in line with the potential for development of the
markets in which the entity in question operates, as well as with its competitive position. -

The recoverable value of the CGU determined in this way is then compared to the value contributed by fixed assets
to the consolidated statement of financial position (including goodwill). An impairment is rccognizced, if applicablc,
if this value in the statement of financial position is greater than the recoverable value of the CGU and is firstly
allocated to goodwill. '

Valuation assumptions
The valuation method chosen for the determination of values in use is that of discounted future cash flows.
Business forecasts are based on thc operating budgets decided on by the Management for financial year 2023

Discount rates have been estimated using post-tax rates, which reflect current market rates for investments of
similar risk. :

-

Key assumptions (perpetuity growth rate and discount rate) are the followings:

Assumptions i
Techn(')logy Tradeshows lnform‘:mon &
. Solutions Insight
LTGR - . . 1,5%. . 15% 1,5%
Post-tax WACC 10,3% 10,6% - 88%
Equivalent to a pre-tax WACC of: 131% 13,7% 83%

~ The value test did not identify a recoverable value lower than the net book valuc and no impairment was thercfore -
recorded. ' '

Sensitivity analysis is the following:

Information &

Headroom (% of Carrying value) Tradeshows

lnsnght
Dzscount rate (post tax rate) +0 5% : 10,78% 11,08% 9 ,26%

1,00% 7% 54% , 19%
Long term growth rate 1,25% 9% o 57% 23%

1,50% 14% 63% . 30%
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9.4 TRADEMARKS AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In accordance with the criteria of IAS 38 - Intangible assets, only items for which the cost ca"nAbe reliably estimated
and as a result of which future economic benefits are likely to flow to the Groupare recognized in intangible assets.

Intangible assets are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment.

Trademarks recogmzed in Business combinations have an indefinite life- and are not amomzed but tested for
impairment annually.

Customer relationships recognized in Business combinations are amortized over six to eleven years depending on =
the type of asset concerned.

Other intangible fixed assets mainly include depreciable items such as software or websites which are developed
mainly internally and either sold to customers or used internally. Other intangible assetsare amortlzed economically
over three or five years dependmg on the type of asset concerned.

'NOTE 10: PROPERTY, PLANT -AND EQUIPMENT

10.1 BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are valued at their. historical cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation and
" impairment. The different components of property, plant and equipment are recognized separately when their
estimated useful life and therefore their depreciation period and significantly dlfferent vaen the nature of the fixed
assets held, no significant components have been ldennﬁed :

‘ Deprecnatxon is calculated linearly over the likely duratlon of use of the different categories of property, plant and
equlpment The expected useful life in lme with IAS 16 are mainly as follows: ‘

* Land: : ' not depreciated
+ Buildings (including right-of-use assets): g 1to 15.years .
* Equipmentand furniture: ' . 3to 9 years

»  Other fixed assets (including right-of-use assets): ‘ 3to 5 years
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el 31.12.2022
adjustment

01.01.2022 Business
Combination

The Group does not generate property, plant and equipment internally.
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(in thousands of euros) Reclass. Increase
Gross Property, plant and equipment . .
Land ) ) 3427 - - . - (3042) B 385
Buildings 50956 - . 941 = 5323 (6717) (82) 50 422
Equipment & Furniture 16 001 133 (113) 899 (4 842) 167y 11911
Advances and deposits 61 ' - (61) . 22 T . 22
Other Property, plan and equipment 34762 ) 173 174 20915 (2321) . ® 35695
Total . 105209 - 1247 9159 (16 923) (257) 98 435
Depreciation —_— <o
Land (2897) . - . - 2897 : - .
Buildings (26 034) (44) - (10 710) 6694 6 (30 088)
Equipment & Fumiture (14 119) (12) 73 (1083) 4795 . 162 (10 183)
Other Propei’ty. plan and equipment (27 509) (45) (73) (3559) 2233 T4 (28 949)
Total {70'560) (101) - - (15 352) 16 619 ~ 173 (69 221)’
Net Property, plant and equipment ’
Land 530 = = B (145) - 385
Buildings 24922 ' 897 - (5.386) (23) (75) 20334
Equipment & Furniture 1882 .o121 (40) (184) (47) (6)] 1727
Advances and deposits 61 - (61) 22 - .- 22
Other Property, plan and equipment 7253 128 101 (644) (88) - ) 6745
Total 34649 1146 {6 193) (303) (85) 29214
(in thousands of euros) 01.01.2021 Busf“es_s Reclass. Increase Decrease Tra'mslatxon
A Combination . - adjustment
Gross Property, plant and equipment
Land . 3432 - - - - 4) 3427
Buildings . 50475 878 13 540 (1554) 604 50956
Equipment & Furniture 16219 227 {1693) 764 (365) 849 16 001
Advances and deposits - : - - 61 - "- 61
Other Property, plan and equipment 33413 577 (56) 2302 (1529) 55 34762
Total 103 539 1683 (1735) 3 667 (3 448) 1504 105209
Depreciation
Land (3002) - - 105 - T (2897)
Buildings (17 854) - 3) (9 +47) 1554 (284) (26 034)
.Equipment & Furniture’ . (12959) (163) 485 (1 066) 344 : (759) (14 119)
Other Property, plan and equipment (25 075) (328) 56 (3641) - 1521 ©o(42) . (27 509)
Total ) (58 891) - (491) 537 (14 154) 3524 (1084) {70 560)
Net Property, plant and equipment : . n
Land . ‘ . 429 - - R - 105 ()] 530
Buildings 32622 : 878 - 10 (8907) - 320 24922
Equipment & Furniture 3260 ’ 64 {1208) (303) (22) 90 1882
Advances and deposits - - - . 61 - - 61
Other Property, plan and equipment . . 8338 249 - (1339) (8 . .13 7253
Total ! 44 648 1191 (1198) (10'488) 76 420 34 649




10.2 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The right-of-use assets recorded within property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Trausht{on
adjustment’ 311222 ’

NOTE 11: INVENTORIES

. Business
(in thousands of euros) m Combination !11aea§e Decrease
Gross Property, plant and equipment
Buildings 46 697 352 5093 (6 333) 44) 45765
Other Property, plant and equ!pment o 4305 - 1805 (1800) . (5) ‘4306
Total ) 51 002 352 6 897 (8 132) (48) 50 071
Depreciation L
Buildings (23 590) - (10 428) 6333 4 (27 681)
- Other Property, plant and equipment *~ (2 481) - (1480) © 1800 1 (2 160)
Total (26.071) - (11 907) 8132 5 . (29 842)
Net Property, plant and equipment . .
Buildings ' 23107 352 (5 335) . - (40) . 18 084
Other Property, plant and equlpment ’ 1824 - 325 - 3) 2 146
Total 24931 352 (5010) T (44) 20229
(in thousands of euros) Ci:::;::ns'son lncreace Decrease’ Z:;:::::;::.
Gross Property, plant and equlpmeut ) X . : .
Buildings . : 46243 878 540 (1440) . 476 46 697
Other Property, p[ant and equlpment - 4408 12, 1017 © (1143) . 11 4305
" Total 50 652 890 1557 (2 584) 487 51002
Depreciation
Buildings (15 800) - (9 003) 1440 (228) (23 590)
Other Property, plant and equipment - (2112) - (1508) - 1143 3) (2 481)
Total (17 912) - (10 511) 2584 - (232) (26 071)
Net Property, plant and equipment ) ' ) S
Buildings B 30 443 878 (8463) - 248 23107
Other Property, pla.nt and equipment : 2297 12 (491) LR 7 1824
Total ) 32740 890 (8 954) - 255 24931

Consumable inventories include interchangeable items and. valued accordmg to the weighted average unit cost

method in accordance with 1AS 2.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost price or net realisable value. Cost price corresponds to the purchaseprice.

When the nct realisable value is lower than the valuc'in thc statement of financial position, a write-off is recorded
for the difference in ‘provision expenses and impairment lossos” in the statement of profit or loss. -
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' ‘ ' 31.12.2022 [
(in thousands of euros) Gross value  Impairment Net value

Paper and other raw materials . . 1049 (80) - 969
Work in progress . o 1127 o (90) = © 36
Books and other finished products » ‘ _ 5476 (2007) 3468
Total : , . 6651 (2178) . . 4473

: ’ ' : ' ' ' : 31.12.2021
(in thousands of euros) ' o Gross value  Impairment Net value
Paper and other raw materials o ’ 994 (210) 784
W/c»rk in progress : 212 (84) 128
Books and other finished products ) 9710 (5 419) 4201 -
Total _ o 10916 (5713) 5203

The decrease in the inventories is due to the sclling of the “Beaux Livres’ pﬁblishing business in 2022 (for an amount
of EUR 3,906 thousand for gross value and EUR 3,249 thousand for impairment).

NOTE 12: SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES )

12.1 SHARE CAPITAL

The authorized share capital consists of:

01.01.2022 31.12.2022 31.12.2022

Increase
Number of 01.01.2022 Number of . Number of
shares Parvalue shares Par yalue shares Parvalue
Ordinary shares 3776337 904 0,01 : 3776 337 904 0,01
Class A preferencé shares 136 483 0,01 . 136 483 . 0,01
Class B preference shares 264747 415 0,01 i . T 264747 415 0,01
Ciass C preference shares 172205087 - 0,01 v 172 205 087 0,01
Class D preference shares 584 747 537 0,01 584 747 537 0.01
Class E preference shares’ . 1001260098 0,01 - ' ) 1001 260 098 ' 0.01
Class F preference shares 276 341 619 0,01 276 341 619 0,01
Class G preference shares 68999778 001 . 68999 778 0,01

Class H preference shares -+ 160161537 0,01 160 161 537 0.01
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Increase 31.12.2021 31.12.2021
Number of Number of

0i.01.2021

01.01.2021

Number of

shares Par value shares ¢ Farvalue shares Par value
Ordinary shares o 3776337904 0,01 - 3776 337904 0,01
Class A preference shares 136 483 0,01 o ) | 136483 0,01
Class B preference shares 264 747 415 0,01 ' . ' 264 747 415 0,01
Class C preference shares 172 205 087 0.01 ' ] 172 205 087 - 0,01
Class D preference shares - 584 747 537 001 - 584 747 537 0.01
Class E preference shares 1001260098 . 0,01 : 1001 260098 . 0.01
Class F preference shares 276341619 0,01 276 341 619 0,01
Class'G preference shares 68999 778 0,01 . - 68999778 -~ 001
Class H preference shares 160 161 537 0,01 ) 160 161 537 0,01

The Class H preferehce shares have a value of nil. The Class E and Class H preference shares have no voting rights in
the General Meeting. The Class C, Class D and Class E preference shares are entitled to 9% fixed return. .

“All shares are fully paid up and called share capital. The movement in issued share capital is as follows:

(in thousands of euros) . 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Balance at the opening of the financial year ' ' 62411 . 62 201
Issue of ordinary shares = . . ' ' - -
Issue of preference shares : ‘ - . - -
Transfer of Class H preference shares L ' (119) 210
"Balance at the closin4g of the financial year .. 62292 62 411 '

12.2 SHARE PREMIUMS

The share premium totalled 182,912 thousand as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The share pre'mium of EUR 182,912 thousand is contributed by Taman 1 B.V. for an amount of EUR 173,435
thousand and by Taman Investments B.V. for an amount of EUR 9,477 thousand. ' )

12.3 RESERVES

The breakdown of the reserves is as follows:

Cumulative R . : C -
: transglation  Dividend reserve Z::xi:e: Other reserves ResuLt fo;the Total
- {in thousands of euros) ) .- adjustment & . perio

January 1,2022 2052 10175 {(69510) {4071) 3214) {64 568)
Allocation of former period result ) - ) l - ‘ (3214) A -‘,' 3214 -
Share based payment (tFRS2) ' . - - (304) - - (304)
Profit / (loss) for the period . - - = -(8798) 1 (8798)
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) (6 533) - : - 9625 - 3092
Reservation fixed return dividend - 2498 . (2498) . . N -
Other movements for the period : : - (03} B - : co- 1)
December 31, 2022 » - (4 481) 12673 (75 526) 5 554 (8798)  (70578)
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Cumulative - . Lo .
. translation  Dividend reserve Ret;u'ned- Other reserves Result .for the Total

(in thousands of euros) ) . adjustment camings period .

January 1,2021 N . {7 268) 7883 (19 902) {10 800) (49 032) {(79120)

Attributing Benefit to Periods of Service (IAS 1) Y1752 . 1752

Allocation of former period result (49 032) 49032 -

Share based payment (IFRS2) (37) ‘37)
" Profit/ (toss) for the period - - (3214) .. (3214)

Other comprehensive proﬁt/(lcss) ' " 9320 . - 6729 . 16 049

Reservation fixed return dividend . . - 2292 (2292) - ) -

Other movements for the period : : . : 1 1

December 31,2021 . 2052 10175 (69 510) (4071) (3214) {64 568)

Currency translat:on reserve .

The currency translation reserve of EUR (4,481) thousand (2021: EUR 2 052 thousand) is used to record forelgn
currency exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group s presentatlon currency (i.e. EURO). .

Dividend reserve

No dividend has been distributed during the period.

Because the Class C, Class D and Clas_é E preference shares are entitled to 9% fixed return, a cumulative preference
dividend of EUR 2,498 thousand (2021: EUR 2,292 thousand) was reserved and allocated to the dividend reserve.

}n the Articles of Association is stated that the Mana’gement Board can piermanently prevent dividend payment.

.
>

Other reserves : ‘ o 2

The other reserves of EUR 5, 553 thousand (2021: EUR (4 072) thousand) can be broken down as follows:

‘'

( in thousands of euros)

~ Balance at the beginning of the period
Actuarial gains/(losses)
Deferred taxes on OCI items

B 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

(4072)  (10801)

12881 8736
(3256) - (2007)

“Balance at the closing of the period

5553 (4072)

NOTE 13: NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Change in_non-cdntrqlling interests can be analyzed as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

.
I

.

n

Non-controlling interests at the beginning of the period 7 055 6 657
Non-controlling interests’ share in net profit A 364 ‘ 393 .
Non-controlling interests’ share in OCI items 25 C 5

: 7 444 7055

Non-controlling interests at the closing of the period
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" Non-controlling interests can be analyzed as follows:

Shareholders’ i
Percentage interest held by non- areholders equity

controlling interests attributable to non-

: . controlling interests

in % ‘ in thousands of euros
ACHATPUBLIC.COM ' 48,99. 48,99 7 444 7 055
TOTAL Non-controlling interests ' ‘ 7 444 7 055

'NOTE 14: PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Provisions are recorded when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
for which it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required in order to settle the obligation and the amount

can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are analysed on a éase-by—case basis. The prdvisions shown in the statement of financial position
correspond to the assessment of the risk by Management and may differ from the amounts claimed by the applicant
. (in case of disputes). -

As regards provisidns for restructuring, the estimated cost of restructuring measures is recognized as soon as these
have been the subject of a detailed plan and announcement or commencement of the works.

- Contingent liabilities are not recognized and are described in the notes to the financial statemehts when they are
significant, except in the case of business combinations where they are identifiable elements. '

" L . ‘ ’ . Co ) " Translation
(in thousands of euros) 01.01.2022 Reclass. Increase Decrease adjustment 31.12.2022

Non-current provisions

Restructuring - - Co- - - -

" Other (disputes and other) 4589 ' 2226 (1 250) (1) 5554

" Total non-corrent 4589 : - 2226 . (1250) (11) 5554
Current provisions ) ' .

" Restructuring 12 - - : - SR ¢ 11
Other (disputes and other) 1171 ) 359 (939) 25) 567
Total current 1183 : - 359 - (939) (25) 578

- Provisions V : .

Restructuring A 12 - T - e)) o1
Other (disputes and other) 5760 - 2585 (2'189) (36) . 6121
Total : 5772 - 2585 (2 189) (36) 6132
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in th sofe [ 01012021 Recl 1 pecrease  Traustation ISR
(in ousandsofeums)l 01, ' eclass. ncrease ecrease adjustment 12,

Non-current provisions

Restructuring

Other (disputes and other) . 3914 (453) S1en : (759) ' .75 4589
Total non-currént 3914 (453) - 1811 . (759) 75 . 4589
Current provisions ' : : ' L

_ Restructuring : , 480 - - (489) 20 T2
Other (disputes and other] ‘ 382 453 - 306 - 31 : 1171
Total current 862 453 306 (489) 51 1183
Provisions ) ] _— S )
Restructuring - 480 - . - . (489) 20 12

* Other (disputes and other) 4296 - 2117 - (759), 106 5760
Total : ) 4776 - 2117 . (1247) 126 5772

Other provisions

Other provisions are mainly related ‘to human resources litigations, commercnal disputes and ofﬁces dilapidation
and break fee. .

Contingent [iabilitieé_

The Group has éontingént liabil>ities relating to legal, arbitration 01; régulaltor_yb proceedings arising in the normal

course of its business. Known or ongoing claims and litigation involving the Company and its subsidiaries were

reviewed at the end of the financial year. All provisions deemed necessary have been made to cover the related risks.
' - R . . .

NOTE 15: NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

' o o 4 : , o 31.12.2022
(in thousands of euros) ] ' . * Gross value Depreciation Net Value

Other financial assets 75 . - ' 75
Loans 26 - 26
Deposits & surety bonds o 2814 (25) - 2789
RCF issue costs . ' 841 (390) " 451
Total ‘ : . . ‘3757 (415) 3341

‘ ' o _ ' : 31.12.2021

(in thousands of euros) ' . Gross value Depreciation Net Value

Other financial assets S ’ ' ) 73 - 73

_ Loans ' ‘ . 26 -- 26

" Deposits & surety bonds 2697 (25) 2672

RCF issue costs _ - . ' ’ 841 (204) . 637

" Total : ' . 3637 (229) 3408

Non-current financial assets include advances and security deposits given to third parties as well as issuing costs for A
undrawn debts (see 7.4 Off-balance sheet commitments linked to financing). These costs are amortized over the

duration of the availability of the ﬁnancmg
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16.1 OTHER RECEIVABLES

(in thousands of euros) 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
VAT receivables 17 492 16 832
Staff receivables . 1357 1172
Prepaid expenses 6716 6208

" .Other non operating receivables 2950 3191
Advances on copyrights 44 44

" Advances on goods, services & other ' 6820 7551
Other miscellaneous receivables : - 13 14
Total other receivables 35392 35012
Impairment of other receivables . (235) (278)
Total other receivables (net) ) . 35157 34734

16.2 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

(in thousands of euros)-

‘Staff payables 42 462. 41 545
Taxpayables 46170 43522
Non allocated cash - 5966 4428
Other payables 19 260 - 21021
Total other current liabilities 113 858 110 516 -

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

. All current liabilities are due within 1 year.

‘Cash suspense account includes cash receipts not yet affected to trade receivables.

Staff payables include social charges, accrued vacation péid, bonuses and incentives to be baid in 2023.
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NOTE 17: FINANCIA'L. INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities

The main components of each financial instrument category and the apphcable measurement methods are as
follows: :

v - Assets carried at fair value through profit and loss mainly comprise non-consolidated investments.

v’ Receivables carried at amomzed cost chiefly concern loans, depos1ts trade receivables and a number of
other short-term receivables.

v Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized costs.

v Liabilities carried at amortized cost - calculated using the effective interest method essentlally correspond
to borrowings, trade payables and other operating payables.

v" Derivative instruments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized either directly in the
statement of profit or loss or in equity when hedge accounting is applied.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is primérily determined as follows:

v The fair value of (i) trade receivables and payables; and (ii) other short-term receivables and payables,
corresponds to their carrying amount in view of their very short maturities.
¥ The fair value of bonds is estimated at each balance sheet date.

_Reconciliation by class of instrument and accounting category:

Assets carried at  Assets carried at -

Carrying

Assets carried at  Liabilities carried

Fair value
’ . fair value through fair value through . amount
In thousands of euros profit or loss ocCl amortized cost  atamortized cost 31.12.2022 31.12.2022
Other financlal assets 51 co- © 3305 - - 3357 3357
Trade recelvables and related accounts - - 173 604 . - 173604 173 604
Other receivables - - - 35157 - 35157 . 35157
Cash and cash equivalents ) 102 355 . .- = Co- 102355 102355
Financial liabilities - - - (1102025) (1102025} (1079134)
Trade payables . - - - (51273) (51273) (51 273)
Other llabilities - ' - - ) (113:858) (113858) (113 858)
TOTAL 102 406 - 212 066 (1267 156) (952 684) (929 794)
Assets carried at  Assets carried at . - s . Carryin, .
. R faisrs:alue through fair value thn}ugh Assets eamed at Lmbdme? caried, ar‘:zungt 3 Fal; value
In thousands of euros profit or loss [1]u] amortized cost  at amortized cost 31.12,2021 112.2021
Other financial assets 51 - 3 400 - 3451 3451
Trade receivables and related accounts .. . - 163 256 ' - 163 256 163 256
Other receivables - - - ' .34734 - . 34734 34734
Cash and cash equivalents . 84529 - . - - 84529 84 529

Financiat liabilities - ’ : . - : - . {1087260) (1087260) (1116961)

Trade payables , , - - (51863) (51863) (51 863)
Other liabilities - - - (110516) _ (110516) _ (110516)
TOTAL . 84580 S 201 390 (1249639) (963 669) (993 370)

infopro Digital Croup_ B.vV.
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COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. NOTE 18: TAXES .

Accounting treatment of CVAE (French value-added contribution for businesses)

CVAE, which accordiné to the Group's analysis meets the definition of an income tax as set outin [AS 12, is recognized
in income tax in the amount of EUR 1,299 thousand for the financial year 2022 (2021: EUR 1,118 thousand).

Tax consolidation

In the Netherlands, there are 2 tax consolidations with Infopro Digital BV as the head of the first consolidation (7
companies as at December 31, 2022) and HaynesPro Holding BV head of the second consolidation (2 compames as
at December 31, 2022).

" In France, the Group'’s tax consolidation scope as at Deéember 31, 2022 includes the income of 22 companies.
In the UK, the two Group s tax consohdatxon scopes as at December 31, 2022 mclude the income of 11 compames
In Germany, the two Group'’s tax consolidation scopes as at December 31, 2022 include the income of 6 compames

See table hstmg consolidated companies presented in note 24: “List of consohdated c¢ompanies”.

18.1 RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THEORETICAL TAX AND EFFECTIVE
' TAX | | |

Income tax (expense or income) comprises current tax expense (current tax income) and deferred tax. expense
(deferred tax income). The tax is recognized in income unless it relates to items that are recognized directly in equity,
in which case it is recognized in equity.

The Group’s income tax differs from the theoretical amount resulting from the application of the rate applicable to
the income of the consolidated companies. The reconc:]latlon between the theoretical tax- and the effectlve tax
recognized is broken down as follows

Tax paydble

Tax payable is the sum of the estimated amount of the tax due in respect of the taxable proﬁt of a period, and any
adjustment of the amount of tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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In thousands of euros Basis Tax
Income before taxes and non-controlling interest 2555 .
Standard tax rate of the parent company 25,80%
Theoretical tax (expense}/income (659)
Permanent differences . \ (10726)
- Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions . 1663
Effect of use of previously unrecognized tax losses ' .23
Effect of unused tax losses and not recognised as deferred ta.\ assets (1078)
Effect on deferred tax balances due to the ch.ange in income tax rate 754
Effect of prior years adjustments (264)
Net 1mpact of French CVAE (Value-added contribution for businesses) (1299)
"Effect of income that is exempt from taxation 598
Tax income {expense}/profit (10 990)
430,1%

Effective tax rate

18.2 DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred tax is determined and posted in accordance with the balance sheet approach of the variable carryover
method for all timing differences between the book value of the assets and liabilities and their taxation bases.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are valued at the tax rates which will be in force at the time when the asset is
realised and the liability settled, on the basis of tax regulations that have been adopted or almost adopted at the
closing date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and llabllmes, and if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authorlty on the same taxable

entity.

" A deferred tax asset is recognized when it is probable that the Group will have future taxable profits against which
the corresponding time difference may be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each closing date and are

reduced when it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

To assess the ability of the Group'to recover these assets, the following elements in partlcular are taken into account:

v" Future taxable income forecasts;

v The portion of non-recurring expenses that will not recur in the future included in past losses; .

v" Records of taxable income for previous years.

Deferred tax corresponding to items recognized directly in equity is itself recognized in equity.

Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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In thousands of euros

. CQMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

: 31.12.2022  31.12.2021

Profit sharing %08 818
Pension plans 8 743 12797
'Usable tax losses 8012 - 11027
Tax deductible goodwill ' _ - 20973
Acquisition costs 1489 1597
" Other temporary differences 3358 3803
Deferred tax assets 22509 51 015
_Customer relationships .30 296 31524
Trademarks 100914 96913
Other temporary differences 5837 4386
Deferred tax liabilities 137 047 132 823
Total Net deferred tax (114 538) (81 808)
In thousands of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Net deferred tax asset (liability) at January 1 (81 808) (91 314) .
Charge to profit or loss . . . 911 (6 439) -
Charge to other comprehensive income. (3256) (2007)
Charge directly to equity B (610)
Business combinations | (30519) - 19324
Translation adjustment 141 (828)
Other movements . N 66
Net deferred tax asset (liability) at December 31 (114 538) (81 808)

18.3 TAX LOSS CARRY FORWARD AND CAPITALIZED TAX LOSSES

The tax losses of the different tax entities mentioned in the below table, have resulted in the recognition of deferred
tax assets, evaluated according to a tax schedule for the entities concerned based on Management assumptions. .

Tax losses deemed usable and recognized in deferred tax assets can be broken down as follows:

In thousands of euros

31734

Usable tax loss
Unrecognized tax loss 43 604
TOTAL Tax losses 75 337

me‘"""’"“

Other

France UK DACH* Belgium Austalia 3
countries
- . 20216 8701 ’ 945 . - 1545 328
14 445 15602 © 4546 4308 47302 ) - -
14 445 - 35818 13 246 1545 328

5253 . 4702

*Germany, Switzerland, Austria

infopro Digital Group B.V.
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UsA

In thousands of euros, . EEABYSIYEY Netherlands France UK bacH* Belgium Austalia

Usable tax loss - 27874 11879 274 - 1690 81t
Unrecognized tax loss 12266 15602 5434 4253 . 4702 - - -
TOTAL Tax losses 12 266 43476 17 313 6977 4702 1690 811

*Germany, Switzerland, Austria

NOTE 19: TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

- No transactions with related partles

The total amount of remuneration to the members of the Group s administrative bodxes and management is deta)led

in note 21.

NOTE 20: AUDIT FEES

" The audit fees for the financial year 2022 totalled EUR 1,711 thousand (2021: EUR 1, 782 thousand) whlch can be

. specified as follows:

‘Other

Non

. Audit Assurance Assurance Tax services
(in thousands ofeuros) 31.12.2022 :
Deloitte. . 772 755 . - 5 13
JPA 87 -87 . - = -
EY . - - - .
Grant Thorton 50 37 7 0 6
PWC ‘ 681 619 1 61
Others 121 © 98 6 4" 13
TOTAL 1711 1596 12 11 93
) 01.01.2021 Audit Other . Non Tax
(in thousands of euros) 31.12.2021 Assurance Assurance services
Deloitte 684 679 - - 5
PA 96 96 - - -
EY 12 12- - - -
Grant Thorton 47 33 5 - g8
PWC 708 593. " 24 2 90
Others 236 - 73 42 3 119
TOTAL 1782 1485 70 - 5 222

Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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The following fees for the ﬁnanc1al year have been charged by Delontte Accountants B.V. to the company, 1ts

subsidiaries and other consolidated entities.

_ ‘ Deloitte Accountants - Other Deloitte membbf Other audit firms
(in thousands of euros) - B.V. firms and affiliates . . 31.12.2022
Audit 290 ' 465 841 1596
Other Assurance - - Co12 ) 12
Non Assurance - 5 6 , o1
Tax services - 13 - 80 ’ 93
Total 290 482 939 1711

. » Deloitte Accountants Other Deloitte member Other audit firms .
(in thousands ofeuros) "BV..  firms and dffiliates 31.12.2021

Audit 1259 420 806 . 1485
Other Assurance - - 70 : 70
Non Assurance - - 5. 5
Tax services - : 5 217 o 222
Total 259 425 ‘1098 1782

NOTE 21: REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
AND MANAGEMENT BODIES

The total amount of remuneration paid during 2022 and 2021 to the members of the Gfoup's administrative bodies
and management was as follows: - '

Otherlong-

Shortterm Post- Remuneration |§
, employee employment term Termination Share based -01.01.22
In thousands of euros benefits benefits benefits benefits payment 31.12.22
Statutory Board of Directors 490 45 e - - 535
Executive Committee 798 - - - 798
Total 1288 45 - - . - 1333
Short term Post- Otherlong- Remuneration
employee employment term Termination Sharebased 01.01.21
" In thousands of euros benéfits benefits benefits benefits payment 31.12.21
Statutory Board of Directors 412 41 . - - 186 638
Executive Committee 737 - ' - - : 737
Total 1149 41 - - . 186 1375

The gross remuneration incorporates a variable portion calculated according to the criteria established by the |
Remuneration Committee; relating to the year’s performance

The Group considers that only members of the Board of Dlrectors and members ofthe Executive Committee have
the authority and responsibility to plan, manage and control activities, directly or indirectly (IAS 24.9).
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- NOTE 22: P,RO.POSED APPROPRIATION OF RESULT

The General Meeting proposes to allocate the result for the period to fhe retained earnings.

" NOTE 23: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 28, 2023, the Group, through its subsidiary ETAI entered into a lease agreement in future state. of
completion of a building dedicated to be the.new French headquarters in Paris area. In this context, the Group has
granted the lessor a EUR 7,000 thousand First demand guarantee, in case he would finally decide to withdraw and
not take possession of the premises when they will be completed. The move is planned for 2024.

Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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NOTE 24: LIST OF CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES,

Infopro Digitai Group B.V.

Annual Financial Report 2022

Foll

' Registered office
Postal Code Registered Consolidation % P
Name of the company Address City number wmedthod ofcontrol of interest Country
. The Netherlands
. _ _ ammeennmeeeeParent Company --—-semmeeeeees
INFOPRO DIGITAL GROUP Schiphol Boulevard 441 1118 BK Schiphol 856195972 . The Netherlands
. . L t
D1 Schipho! Boulevard 441 . 1118 BK Schiphol 856 195911 Full 100.00%  100.00% The Netherlands
1PD1A Schiphol Boulevard 441 1118 BK Schiphol 859435921 Full 100.00% 100,00% The Netherlam;ls
1PD2 Schiphol Boulevard 441 1118 BKSc:hiphol 856 195 960 Full 100,00%  100.00% The Netherlands
iPD 3 Schiphol Boulevard 441 1118 BK Schipho! 856195893 Full 100,00%  100.00% The Netherlands
INFOPRO DIGITAL INTERNATIONAL Schiphol éoukvad 441 1118 BX Schiphol 856 196 058 Full 100,00% 100.00% The Netherlands
. AANBESTEDINGSKALENDER Bergpoortsuraat 71 7411CL Deventer 852311436 Fult 100,00%  100.00% The Netherlands
HAYNESPRO HOLDING ' Flankement 6 3831 SM Leusden 11031928 Full 100,00%  100.00% The Netherlands
HAYNESPRO Flankement 6 3831 5M Leusden 31047 540 Full 100.00%  100,00% The Netherlands _
France
. 10 place du Général de Gaulle
INFOPRO DIGITAL HOLDING Parc Antony Il 92160 Antony 818813412 Full 100.00%  100.00% France
. 10 place du Général de Gaulle : .
INFOPRO DIGITAL . Parc Antony Il 92160 Antony 498067 297 Full 100,00%  100.00% France
10 place du Général de Gaulle
ACHATPUBLIC.COM Pare Antony iI 92160 Antony 447854 621 Full 51,015 51,01% France
10 place du Général de Gaulle .
ETAI Parc Antony l 92160 Antony 806 #20 360 Full 100.00%  100.00% France -
10 place du Général de Gaulle .
GROUPE INDUSTRIE SERVICES INFO (Gisl) . Parc Antony 11 92160 Antony 442233417 Full 100.00% 100.00% France
! 10 place du Général de Gaulle ° : .
GM BETA . Pare Antony Il 92160 Antony 538829 326 Full 100.00%  100,00% France
® s . b
10 place du Générel de Gaulle
GROUPE MONITEUR Pare Antony Il 92160 Antony . 403080823 Full - 100.00%  100.00% France
1DICE 33 rue de Verdun 01106 Oyonnax 378529 655 éull 100,00% 100,009 France
10 place du Général de Gaulle -
INFO SERVICES HOLDING Parc Antony 11 92160 Anzony 489699207 Full  _  100,00%  100.00% France
INOVAXO + 11 rue du Petit Chételier 44300 Nantes 513519 066 Full 100.00% - 100.00% France
10 place du Général de Goulle N i
IPD Parc Antony il 92160 Antony 490727 633 Full 100.00%  100,00% France
10 place du Géréral de Gaulle
JOURNEES DU COURTAGE Parc Antony 1l 92160 Antony 441756 889 Futl 100,00%  100.00% France
’ 10 piace du Générel de Gaulle .
MARCHES PUBLICS FRANCE Parc Antany Il 92160 Antony 439214925 Full 100,00%  100,00% France
10 place du Général de Gaulle ' . .
PROSYS Parc Antony 11 92160 Antony 344 894 985 Full 100,00%  '100,00% France
10 place du Général de Gaulle .
RED ON LINE_ Parc Antony I 92160 Antony 425043 064 Fult 100.00%  100,00% France
10-place du Général de Gaulle . .
SECTEUR PUBLIC FORMATIONS . Pare Antony 11 92160 Antony 538834367 Full  100,00% 100.00% France
10 place du Générol de Gaulle . :
TERRITORIAL Parc Antony 1l 92160 Antony 404 926 958 Full 100.00%  100.00% France
Parc d'Activités de la Bouvre . -
VECTEUR PLUS 1 rue Galilée 44347 Bouguenais 402125033 Full 100.00%  100.00% France
656 EDITIONS 1 place Tobie Ratel 69001 Lyon 440290070 Full 100,00%  100.00% France
10 place du Généralde Gaulle Co
HOLDINEO Parc Antony 1l 92160 Antony 52 361 067 300 049 Full 100,00%  100.00% France
10 place du Général de Goulle
COMPANEQ Pare Antony 1l 92160 Antony 43224 789800 047 Full 100,00%  100,00% France
WEBIKEQ 1940 Route de Loqui 13090 Aix-en-Provence 50897 316 100 039" Full 100.00%  100.00% France
EVENTMAKER 38 Rue Laffirte 75009 Peris 51274 767 600 066 Fall 100.00% _ 100.00% "France
78 rue Issop Ravate
scexs Résidence Grand Chemin 97400 SaintDenis 513130435 _10000%  100.00% France
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Registered office
Postal Code Registered Consolidation % %
Name of the company Address City oumber medthod of control ofinterest Country
Europe outside the Netherlands and France
INFOPRO DIGITAL HOLDING UK 133 Houndsditch London, EC3A 78X 10679889 Full 100,00%  100.00% United Kingdom
INFOPRO DIGITAL BIDCO 133 Houndsditch London, EC3A 7BX 05938776 Full 100.00%  100.00% United Kingdom
INFOPRO DIGITAL 133 Houndsditch London, EC3A 7BX 04038503 Ful? 100,00%  100.00% United Kingdom
INFOPRO DIGITAL RISK (1P) 133 Houndsditch London, EC3A 7BX 09232733 " Full 100.00%  100.00% United Kingdom
INFOPRO DIGITAL SERVICES _ 133 Houndsditch London, EC3A 7BX " 04699701 Fuil 100,00%  100,00%  United Kingdom .
COMPANEO 133 Houndsdich London, EC3A 7BX 05604379 Full 100,00%  100.00% United Kingdom
INFOPRO DIGITAL (HOLDCO) UK 133 Houndsditch London, EC3A 78X 12438721 Fult 100.00%  100.00% United Kingdom
HAYNES GROUP Haynes Publishing ) Sparkford, BA22 7]} 00659701 . Full 1100.00%  100.00% United Kingdom
J.H. HAYNES & CO. Haynes Publishing Sparkford, BA22 7}] 01449587 Full 100,00%  100.00% United Kingdom
HAYNESPRO (UK) Haynes Publishing Sparkford, BA22 7Jj 04Q9JZI7 Full 100.00%  100.00% United Kingdom
OATS ) Hoynes Publishing Spariford, BA22.7)] 01768535 Full 100.00%  100,00%  United Kingdom
BARBOUR ABf 133 Houndsditch ) London. EC3A 7BX 13427 982 Full - 100.00%  100.00% United Kingdom
AMA RESEARCH 133 Houndsditch London, EC3A 7BX 04501364 Ful} 100.00%  100,00% United Kingdom
INFOPRO DIGITAL (IRELAND) 5 Pery Square, Co. Limerick . Limerick, VO4EVIF 405973 Full 100,00%  100.00% Ireland
33010 .
AUTRONICA via Nezionale n. 42/A Tavagnacco (UD} 1778000305 Full 100.00%  100.00% haly
- EBP PROCUREMENT Burg. Edenne Demunterl 3 1090 jette 0892.388.91¢ Fuil 100,00%  100.00% Belgium
COMPANEO Burg. Etenne Demunterl 3 1090 Jette 0871.0+1.687 Fult 100.00%  100.00% Belgium
C/. Samonts, 17-A (Pol Ind. - . 08970 .
ETAIIBERICA " Fonisantn) Santjoan Despf (Barcelona) B61056626 Full 100.00%  100.00% Spain
o . ! el Poligono Industrial  17-A (08970) de Sant Joan .
SC6 Fontsanta, calle Samontd Despi (Barcelona) B66210717 Full ‘100.00%  100.00% Spain
iSI CONDAL Ramble de Catolunya, n%-1, 28 12 08007 Barcelona B-60376739 Full 100.00%  100.00% Spain
DICE MC 13, Boulevard Princesse Charlotte 98000 Monaco 3, 98503467 Fult 100.00% . 100.00% « Monaco
COMPANEO Edificio Infante, Avenide D. Joao Il n*1.16.05- Lishoa 513331638 Fult 100,00%  100.00% Portugal
65795 Hateersheim am
INFOPRO DIGITAL Philipp-Reis-Strafe 4 Main 110709 Full 100,00%  100.00% Germany
. 65795 Hattersheim am
INFOPRO DIGITAL HOLDING Philipp-Reis-Srafe ¢ Main 239750 Full 100,00%  100.00% Germany
. 65795 Hattersheim am
DOCU GROUP DEUTSCHE HOLDING Philipp-Reis-Sorafle 4 Main 194130 Full 100,00%  100.00% Germany
. 65795 Hactersheim em
1BAU” Philipp-Reis-Serafie 4 Main 94753 Full 100,00%  100.00% Germany
65795 Hattersheim am
FEBIS SERVICE Philipp-Reis-Strape 4 Main 83041 Full 100,00% . 100.00% Germany
HEINZE Bremer Weg 184 29223 Celle 201314 Full 100.00%  100.00% Germany
BDB-BAU-DATENBANK Bremer Weg 184 29223 Celle 100405 Fult 100.00%  100.00% Germany
HAYNESPRO Stammheimersorafe 10 70806 Hornwestheim 20176777 Fult 100.00%  100.00% Germany
DOCU MEDIA SCHWEIZ Bahnhofstrafe 24 8303 -Rischlikon CH-230.3.918.819-8 ’ Full 100,00%  100.00% Switzerland
BINDEXIS Reinacherstrafe 131 4053 Base! CHE-497.296.680 Full 100,00%  100,00% Switzerland
DOCUMEDIA.AT Fiirbergsrafe 18 A-5020 Stazburg 1462510 Full 100.00%  100.00% Austria
INFO-TEAM R. KARTHAUS Firbergsrafe 18 A-5020 Slazburg 313445z Eult 100,00%  100.00% Austria
" GUTWINSKI MANAGEMENT Lohnsteinsrafe 36 A-2380 Perchtoldsdorf 128303 g Full 100,00%  100,00% Austria
HAYNESPRO DATA str. Ritoride Nr.5, Sector § 050204 Bucuresti 140/7563/2008 Full 100,00%  100.00% Romania

*Former BAUMARKTFORSCHUNG DEUTSCHLAND

* Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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Registered office
Postal Code Registered Consolidation % %
Name of the company Ad#ess City number medthod of control ofinterest Country
Outside Europe
INFOPRO DIGITAL USA c/o Guibert USA, 149 E. 36th Street New York, NY 10016 65-1162371 Full’ 100,00%  100,00% UsA
INFOPRO DIGITAL 80 Pine St New York NY 10005 16-1662442 Full 100.00% - 100.00% usa
HAYNES NORTH AMERICA 2801 Townsgate Road. Suite 340 Westlake Village, CA 91361 0932543 . Full 100.00%  100.00% uUsa
© OATS 2801 Townsgate Road, Suite 340 Westlake Village, CA 91361 201914810677 Full 100,00%  100,00% USA
32, rue des Entrepreneurs, Tunis B
COM ON LINE zone industrielle Charguia Il Ariana 2035 Tunis Carthage 242 477 2006 Full 100.00% 100.00% Tunisia
32, rue des Entrepreneurs, Tunis B ' .
ETAI TUNISIE - zone industriefle Charguia Il Ariana 2035 Tunis Carthage 245962006 Full 100.00%  100.00% Tunisia
Room 332, Build 03, No 1900, .
LUXEPACK CHINA . Longyang Road, Pudong new diswict Shanghaf 310000 400 463 341 Full 100.00%  100.00% China
Marshal Zhukov Avenue 2 ,
INFOPRO DIGITAL EASTERN EUROPE Area [ - room 18 Moscow 123308 513774 601 546 Full 100,00%  100,00% Russia
Unit 2801-05, Shuf On Centre,
iNFOPRO DIGITAL (HONG KONG) 6-8 Harbour Road Wan Chai 106+488 Full 100,00%  100,00% Hong-Kong
_HAYNES AUSTRALIA Suite 2, 6 The Crescent Kingsgrove NSW 2208 618618 9?2 Fult 100.00%  100,00% Australia R
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COMPA’NY'FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

" (Before Profit appropriation)

AN

(in'thousands of euros) ' e . Note 31.12.22 31.12.21

Participations ' ' 2 265811 261371

Non currentassets . 265811 261371
Other receivables : -3 , 645 - 508
Cash and cash equivalents o ' 4. ' 39 68
Currentassets . ' : - . 684 576
TOTAL ASSETS - ’ 266 495 261947
Share capital -‘ : . 51 62292 62411
Share premium . ' 5.2 182912 182912
Currency translation reserve o S 53 ‘ (4 481) 2052
Dividend reserve o 53, 12673 . 1017%
Retained earnings ' : 53° (75526) . (69510) -
Legal reserve R 53 66 195 55547
" Other reserves ' } ' 5.3 (60642) (59 618)
Result for the period . - ' : o (8798) (3214)
Shareholders' equity . 174625 180755
Non-controlling interest ' - -
Equity . - : 174625 180 755
Non-current liabilities ' A 6 78 509 71944
" Non-currentliabilities o A , ’ 78509 71944
Trade payables ‘ . : E 7 : 521 . 170
~ Other current liabilities : 7 - 12840 . 9078
_Current liabilities ' - 13 361 9248
- TOTALEQUITY & LIABILITIES n ' 266 495 261947

Infopro Digital Group B.V. Deloitte Accountants&V..
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

COMPANY FINANCIAIL..S‘TATEMENTS

(in thousands of euros)

01.01.22- 01.01.21- §
311222 311221

Net profit/(loss) from holding activities
Net profit/(loss) from subsidiaries -
NET INCOME

© (10 146) (8 042)
1348 . 4828

" Infopro Digital Group B.V.
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COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: ACCOUNTING INFORM_ATI'ON AND POLICIES

1.1 GENERAL INFORMATION

" Infopro Digital Group B.V. (hereafter: the Company) is a holding company that was founded on March 23, 2016 asa
limited liability company under the laws of the Netherlands. The registered addressis, Schiphol Boulevard 441,1118
BK Schiphol, the Netherlands and the Company’s RSIN .is 856195972. The ultimate controlling parties of the
Company are funds advised by affiliates of Towerbrook Capital Partners, a transatlantic advisory and investment
firm. :

1.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

" The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code. In accordance with sub 8 of article 362, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the Company’s financial statements are
prepared based on the accounting principles of recognition, measurement and determination of profit, as applied in
the consolidated financial statements. These principles also include the cla sification and prescentation of financial
instruments, being equity instruments or financial liabilities. A '

As the financial data of the Company are included in the consolidated financial statements, the statement of profitor
loss in the Company financial statements is presented in its condensed form (in accordance with article 402, Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code). The financial year of the Company only account runs from January 1, 2022 up to and
" including December 31, 2022. The comparmg figures of 2021 run from January 1, 2021 up .to and including
December 31, 2021.

- In case no other policies are mentioned; refer to the accounting policics a3 described in the accountmg policies in
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Financial Report. For an approprlate interpretation, the
Company financial statements of the Company should be read in conjunction with the consohdated financial
statements.

All amounts are presented in thousands of euros, unless stated otherwise. The statement of financial position and
the statement of profit or loss references have bccn included. Thcsé refer to the notes.

The Company prepared its consolidated ﬂnanc1a1 statements in accordance w1th the International Financial
Repomng Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the European Umon

1.3 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Financial fixed assets

Investments in consohdated subsidiaries

Investments in consolidated subsidiaries are presented at net asset value. Net asset value is based on the
measurement of assets, provisions and liabilities and determmatlon of profit based on the principles applied in the
consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with DAS 100.107a, the Company makes use of the option to eliminate intragroup expected credit
losses against the book value of loans and receivables from the Company to part1c1patmg interest, instead of
climination agamst the net asset value of the participating interest.

Infopro Digital Gro‘up.B.V. Deloitte Accounta-t <.
Annual Financial Report 2022~ | , ~ For identificatio es only.
’ ' Related to au 79/88°



COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at banks and in hand represent cash in hand, bank balances and deposits with terms of less than twelve
months. Overdrafts at banks are recognized as part of debts to lending institutions under current liabilities. Cash at .
banks and'in hand is carried at nommal value.

Shareholders’ Equ:ty

Ordinary shares are classified as equ'ity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the purchase, sale and / or issue -
of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Undistributed results are retained profits. Profits can only be distributed after taking into account the maximum
 legal-and statutory requirements for the transfer to the legal reserves.

Current & non-current liabilities

On initial recognition; (non-) current liabilities are recognized at fair value. After initial recognition {non-) current
- liabilities are recognized at the amortized cost price, being the amount recelved takmg into account premiums or
discounts, less transactlon costs. This usually is the nominal value.

NOTE 2: PARTICIPATIONS
The financial fixed assets can be spﬁt as follows:

(in thousands of euros) : A ’ : : 31.12.22 31.12.21

Investment in subsidiaries - . ’ . o 265 811 261371
Total . . : 265811 261371

Movements in financial fixed assets are.as follaws: _ ;

(in thousands of euros) ] S

Opening balance . g . o , 261371 238741

Movements during the penod : . ' ' '

Share in profit / (loss) of investments ' » . 1348 . - 4828

Currency translation adjustments ’ o . (6533) - 9.320.
. Other movements ‘ . . 9625 . 8481

Net book value as at December 31 ' -~ 265811 261371

The company’s direct investments comprise the following:.

31.12.22 31.12.21

Investment in consolidated subsidiaries , . .
IPD 1 B.V. E 100% 100%
IPD 1A B.V. ’ ' . 100% 100%
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IPD1B.V."
The Company acquired 100% of the shares of IPD 1 B.V. at Apnl 5,2016 for a consideration of EUR 1 and made share

premium contribution in the amount of EUR 310,600 thousand on June 1, 2016. At April 11, 2017, the Company
made share premium contribution in the amount of EUR 55,241 thousand AtFebruary 28, 2018, the Company made
share premium contribution in the amount of EUR 20,000 thousand. | .

At December 11, 2019, in order to reinforce the equity of Infopro Digital Holding SAS, the C.ompany madg a share
premium contribution in the amount of EUR 60,000 thousand.

The steps which were taken in this transactnon, were permltted under the bond and RCF covenants.

IPD 1A B.V. ‘ o
The Company founded IPD 1A B.V. as at December 5, 2018 for a consideration of EUR 100 and made share premium
contribution in the amount of EUR 16,810 thousand at the same day.

NOTE 3: OTHER RECEIVABLES

(in thousands ofeuros) ' 31.12.22 31.12.21

VAT , . o o - -39
Corpoi‘ate income tax ' ) - 106 106
Current account pérent companies - » s ‘ 347 283
Current account group companies L . ' 176 .44
Other receivables : - 16 36
Total - . ) ‘ . . 645 508

Receivables fall due in less than one year, unless otherwise dlsclosed below. The fair value of the receivables
. approxnmates the book value, due to their short-term character.

NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

(in thousands of euros) , , 31.12.22 311221

Rabobank ' . . 39 . 68
Total , : 39 68

The cash at the Rabgbank is at the Company’s free disposal.
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NOTE 5: SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY -

5.1 SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised share capital consists of:

Number of shares Par value Number of shares Par value

, 311222 311222 31.12.21 31.12.21
Ordinary shares 3776337904 - 0,01 3776 337 904 0,01
Class A preference shares 136 483 0,01 136 483 0,01
Class B preference shares C 264747 415 0,01 ' 264 747 415 0,01
Class C preference shares 172 205 087 0,01 172 205 087 0,01
Class D preference shares 584 747 537 0,01 584 747 537 0.01

* Class E preference shares 1001260 098 0,01 - 1001 260 098 0,01
"Class F preference shares - 276 341619 0,01 276 341 619 0,01.
Class G preference shares - '~ 68999778 0,01 . 68 999 778 0.01
Class H preference shares - 160 161 537 0,01 ' © 160161537 - 0,01

Class C, Class D and Class E preference shares are entitled to 9% fixed return.

The Class H preference shares have a value of nil..

The Class E-and Class H preference shares have no voting rights in the General Meeting.

All shares (except class H) are fully paid up and called share capital. The movement in issued share capltal is as
follows:

(in thousands of euros) ' : , 2022 2021

Opening balance h - 62411 © 62201
Issue of ordinary shares ' o - -

Issue of preference shares : R - -
Transfer of class H shares ) (119) 210
Balance 31 December C ) ’ 62 292 62411

On July and December 2021, the Company transferred 23,000, 000 class H shares, with nommal value of EUR 0.01,
from stock to managers.

On July 2021, the company transferred 2,000,000 class H shares, with nominal value of EUR 0.01 from managers to
stock.

On January, March and May 2022 the company transferred 11,900,000 class H shares with nominal value of EUR
0. 01 from managers to stock.
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5.2 SHARE PREMIUM

31.12.22 31.12.21

182912 182912
182912 182 912

fin thousands of euros)

Share premium
Balance 31 December

During the year there were no share premium contributions. Thé share premium of EUR 182,912 thousand (2021:
182,912 thousand) is contributed by Taman 1 B.V. for an amount-of EUR 173,434 thousand: (2021: 173,434

thousand) and by Taman Investments B.V. for an amount of EUR 9,478 thousand (2021: 9.478 thousand).

5.3 RESERVES

Currency translation reserve

; trc:;srg:;'n Dividend Retained  Legal Other  Result for the [N
(i_n thousands ofeuros) reserve . - reserve ] earnings reserye reserves perlod
December 31, 2021, 2052 10175 (69510) 55547 (59618) (3 214) (64 568)
Allocation of former period result - - (3214) - - 3214 . . -
Movement for the period (6533) - - - 9624 - 3091
Transfer class H shares - - - 27 - - - 027
Share based payment (IFRS 2} - - (331) - - - (331)
Reservation fixed return dividend - 2498 (2498) - - - -
Reservation regarding capitalized A ) i 10648 (10 648) i i
development costs _ )
Profit / (loss) for the period . - - - - - (8798) (8,798)
December 31, 2022 ‘(4481) 12673 (75526) 66195 (60 642) (8 798) (70579)

tf:::l::xcz'n Dividend Re.ta_.iﬁed Legal .Other  Result for the 31.12.21
(in thousands of euros) reserve ‘reserve. earnings reserve  reserves period o
December 31,2020 _ (7 268) 7883 (19902) 39018 (49819) {49 032) (79121)
Allocation of former period result - - (49032) - - 49032 -
Movement for the period 9320 - 1752 6730 ’ - 17802
Transfer class H shares - - (210) - - (210)
Share based payment (IFRS 2) - - 174 - - - 174
Reservation fixed return dividend - 2292 (2292) - - - -
Reservation regarding capitalized ) ) ) 16529 (16 529) ) .
_ development costs o ; .

Profit / (loss) for the period - - - - (3214) (3214)
December 31,2021 2052 10175 (69510) 55547 (59618) (3 214) (64568)

The currency translation reserve of EUR 4,481 thousand (2021: EUR 2,052 thousand) is used to record foreign
currency exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of forelgn operanons from
their functlonal currencies to the Group s presentation currency (i.e. EURO).
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Dividend reserve

No dividend has been dxstrlbuted during the period.

Because the Class C, Class D and Class E preference shares are entltled to 9% fixed return, a cumulative preference
- dividend of EUR 2,498 thousand (2021: EUR 2,292 thousand) was reserved and allocated to the dividend reserve.

Inthe Articles of Association is stated that the Management Board can permanently -pr'event dividend payment. :

Legal reserve

Alegal reserve of EUR 66,195 thousand (2021: EUR 55,547 thousand) has been formed out of the other reserves, for
the amount of capitalized development costs in underlying subsidiaries.

‘ Other reserves

The other reserves of EUR 60,642 thousand (2021: EUR (59,618) thousand) can be broken down as follows:

(in thousands of euros) o . . ' 31.12.22 31.12.21

. Balance at the start of the financial year : "~ (59618) (49819)
" Actuarial gains / (losses) g , 12881 8736
Deferred taxes on OCI items S ' (3257)  (2007)
Reservation regarding capitalized development costs , (10 648) (16 528)
Balance at the closing of the financial year- o B (60 642) (59 618)

Share-based compensation

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 (Share-based Payment)
~ at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The determination of fair values is based on a Monte -
‘Carlo model. The parameters used for this valuation are in line with those used for the goodwill impairment test.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity-instruments that will eventually vest. At
. each end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estlmates, if any, is recognized in proﬁt or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a correspondmg adjustment to the capital reserve.

Differences in shareholders’ equity between the Company FrnanCIaI Statements and the Consolldated Flnanaal
Statements

Movements in the difference between the company and consolidated shareholders equnty in the ﬁnancnal year are
as follows

(in thousand‘s of euros) ) 311222 3112218

Shareholders' equity according to consolidated financial statements 174625 180755

Differences between ‘[FRS and Local GAAPs- . ' . : - -

Shareholders’ equity according to Company financial statements = - ) 174 625 180 755

There is no difference between shareholders equrty in the consolidated financial statements and in the Company .
financial statements. »
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Appropriation of result for the financial year 2021

. The Annual Financial Report 2021 was éddpted in the General Mee'ting of Share‘holders held on July 8, 2022. The
General Meeting of Shareholders has determined the appropnatlon of result in accordance with the proposal being
made to that end. -

Proposed appropriation of result for the financial year 2022

‘The Board of Directors proposes with the approval of the Supervisory Board, that the result for the financial year
2022 amounting to EUR (8,798) thousand should be transferred to reserves without payment of leldend '

The financial statements do not reflect this proposal yet

'NOTE 6: NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

On December 11, 2019 the Company has received a loan of EUR 60,000 thousand from its subsidiary IPD 1A B.V,
related to the operation on Infopro Digital Holding. The loans bears a fixed mterest of 9.0%, and will be yearly -
capitalized on May 31. The loan has a maturity date of May 31, 2026.

] , ' Compound Accrued EEIAEII
{in thousands of euros) Group company Principle - interest . interest 31.12.22
LoannoteD IPD 1AB.V. /60000 - 14522 3987 78,509
Total ] . 60000- - 14522 3987 78 509

. Cémpound © Accrued AT
{in thousandsof euros}  Group company Principle - interest interest 31.12.21

* Loan note D IPD 1A B.V. ‘ 60 000 8290 3654 . 71944
Total ‘ 60 000 8290 3654 71944 .

‘The maturity of these loans in the company are as follows:

_ : : ~_ Within Between1 More than 31.12.22
(in thousands of euros) . . g

: . 1year - And5 years 5 years Total

Loans to subsidiaries . : - : 78509 . - 78 509

Total : - 78 509 - 78 509
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NOTE'7‘: TRADE PAYABLES & OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

(in thousands of euros) A , 31.12.22 31.12.21

Accounts payable o o ' ] 521 170
Wage tax , , . - . 17 18
VAT - | S o 81 -
Net salaries : : - 26 43
Current account group companies ' - ) 11589 7994
Other debt and accruals ' Lo " 1,127 >1 023
Total , o 13 361 9248

On the current account group companies over the year, no interest was charged (2021 also no interest).
' Llablhtles fall due in less tha,n one year, unless otherque disclosed below.

The fair value of the current liabilities approximates the book value, due to their short-term character.

NOTE 8: EMPLOYEES

'Durmg the period the company had 1 employee (2021 1). The funcnon of the employee is Managmg Director and
the employee is based in the UK.

NOTE 9: DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The total amount of remuneration paid during 2022 and 2021 to the members ofthe Group's administrative bodies
and management was as follows:

4 . E : ' Remuneration

Short term Postfemployment Other long-term " Termination Share based 01.01.22

ousands of euros employee benefits benefits benefits benefits payment 31.12.22
Statutory Board of Directors 490 . 45 - ' - - '535
Executive Committee ) . 798 . Co- 798
Total 1,288 45 - - - 1,333
" Short term Post- Other long- Remuneration

- employee employment . term Termination Share based 01.01.21

In thousands of euros ' benefits benefits benefits ' benefits payment 31.12.21
Statutory Board of Directors . 412 41 ' - ) - - 186 638
Executive Committee » 737 - - - 737
Total 1 149 41 - . - - 186 - 1375

NOTE 10: AUDIT FEES

Thé audit fees are included and further disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts note 20.
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NOTE 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES NOT INCLUDED IN
THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ‘
The company has signed letters of support with several subsidiaries to ensure the subsidiaries are able to -meet all

of their financial liabilities as they become due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of sngmng the
individual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022,

. The company forms a fiscal unity for the corporate income tax w1th IPD1B.V,IPD2B.YV, IPD 3BV, lnfopro Digital
_ International B.V,, and Aanbestedingskalender B.V. Under ‘the standard conditions, the members of the fiscal unity
are jointly and severally liable for any taxes payable by the fiscal unity. :

The company forms a fiscal unity for the value added taxA with Infopro Di'gftal International B.V. Under the standard
conditions, the members of the fiscal unity are jointly and severally liable for any taxes payable by the fiscal unity.

\

A
Tax losses -

The cumulative tax losses for the fiscal unity are as follows: |

(in thousands of euros) S

Year . . Taxable result - Set-off . Remaining amount
2016 ‘ 911 1 .
2017 o , . (1754) " 911 (843)
2018 . o . (2149) . - (2 149).
2019 ' . S a (589) - (589)
2020 ~ : (3220) - (3220)
2021 (expected) - : ' (3861) - . (3861)
2022 (expected) (3793) ' , (3 793)

Total 31 December 2022 - ' - (14 455)

NOTE 12: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

On March 28, 2023, the Group, through its subsidiary ETAI, entered into a'lease agreement in future state of
completion of a building dedicated to be the new French headquarters in Paris area. In this context, the Group has .
granted the lessor a EUR 7,000 thousand First demand guarantee, in case he would finally decide to withdraw and
not take possession of the premlses when they will be comp]eted The move is planned for 2024.

Amsterdam, the 7 ofA'pr.il 2023
The Directors of Infopro Digital Group B.V.

M.N.M. Warmerdam ' C. Czajka - K. Saddi G.S.C. Venturi

M. Rollier 1.M. Arellano'Navarro  J.J.A. Eimaleh BJ.L. Vincinguerra
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'OTHER INFORMATION

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S VR.EPOR'IT -

, Reference is made to the independent auditor’s report as included hereinafter.

'PROVISION IN THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION REGARDING THE‘
PROFIT APPROPRIATION. '

According to article 18 of the Articles of Association, the- Generél'Meeting has the authority to, allocate the profits
determined by adoption of the annual accounts and to make distributions. The authority to make distributions only
" applies for the extent that the equity exceeds the legal reserves. No resolutlon of the General Meeting to distribute
* shall have effect thhout the consent of the Management
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